
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

The Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) 
(Flexibility of Local Authority and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) 
(England and Wales) Regulations 2020) came into force on Saturday 4 
April 2020 to enable councils to hold remote committee meetings during 
the Covid 19 pandemic period. This is to ensure local authorities can 
conduct business during this current public health emergency. 
 
This meeting of Special Council will be held remotely under these 
regulations, via the Zoom application and will be webcast to ensure 
accessibility by the public and press. 

Please ask for: 
Alison Marston 

 
28 April 2020 

 
Dear Councillor 
 

You are requested to attend a special meeting of the WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH 
COUNCIL to be held on Wednesday 6 May 2020 at 6.30 pm. 
 

Yours faithfully 

 
Corporate Director 
Public Protection, Planning and Governance 
 

A G E N D A 
PART 1 

 

1.   MINUTES  
 

 To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the special meeting held on 25 
February 2020 (previously circulated). 
 

2.   APOLOGIES  
 

 To receive apologies for absence, if any. 
 

3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS BY MEMBERS  
 

 To note declarations of Members’ disclosable pecuniary interests, non-
disclosable pecuniary interests and non-pecuniary interests in respect of items 
on the Agenda. 
 

4.   MATTERS ARISING FROM THE CABINET  
 

 To consider recommendations from the meetings of the Cabinet on 10 March 
2020:- 
 

(a)    Food Safety Service Plan 2020/21 (Pages 3 - 4) 
 

(b)    Health and Safety Service Plan 2020/21 (Pages 5 - 8) 
 

Public Document Pack



5.   MATTER ARISING FROM COMMITTEE  
 

 To consider a recommendation from the meeting of the Environment Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee on 3 March 2020:- 
 

(a)    Health and Wellbeing Strategy (Pages 9 - 28) 
 

6.   REVIEW OF THE COUNCIL'S CONSTITUTION (Pages 29 - 158) 
 

 Report of the Monitoring Officer on the review of the Council’s Constitution. 
 

7.   CLIMATE CHANGE UPDATE (Pages 159 - 170) 
 

 Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance) 
updating Members on the work undertaken since the Extraordinary Council 
meeting on 19 June 2019 adopted the Motion to declare a climate emergency 
(Minute 13 refers). 
 

8.   WELWYN HATFIELD COUNCIL RESPONSE TO COVID-19 PANDEMIC (Pages 
171 - 184) 
 

 Report of the Chief Executive detailing the Council’s response to Covid-19. 
 

 
Circulation: The Mayor and Members of the Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 

Corporate Management Team 
Press and Public (except Part II Items) 

 
If you require any further information about this Agenda please contact Alison 
Marston, Governance Services on 01707 357444 or email – 
democracy@welhat.gov.uk  
 

mailto:democracy@welhat.gov.uk


Part I 
For Decision 

 
 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
SPECIAL COUNCIL – 6 MAY 2020 
 
Recommendation from the Cabinet on 10 March 2020:- 
 
FOOD SAFETY SERVICE PLAN 2020/21  
 
The Cabinet considered the Food Safety Service Plan for 2020/21.  
 
It was a requirement of the Food Standards Agency which had overall responsibility 
for the official control of food law enforcement in England that each local authority 
draw up and implement a food safety service plan which was approved by Members.  
It was expected that “non-inspection interventions” and educational initiatives be 
undertaken as well as routine hygiene inspections. 
 
There were no changes in the proposed delivery of the service and there were about 
300 inspections proposed for the coming year in order to reduce risk and keep the 
public safe.  
 
The Cabinet approved the Food Safety Service Plan for 2020/21 and 
RECOMMENDS it to the Council for adoption. 
 
 
 
Click link below for the Food Safety Service Plan 
https://democracy.welhat.gov.uk/documents/s13133/Food%20service%20plan%202
020%2021%20EOSC%20Jan%2020.pdf 

Page 3

Agenda Item 4a

https://democracy.welhat.gov.uk/documents/s13133/Food%20service%20plan%202020%2021%20EOSC%20Jan%2020.pdf
https://democracy.welhat.gov.uk/documents/s13133/Food%20service%20plan%202020%2021%20EOSC%20Jan%2020.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



Part I 
For Decision 

 
 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
SPECIAL COUNCIL – 6 MAY 2020 
 
Recommendation from the Cabinet on 10 March 2020:- 
 
HEALTH AND SAFETY SERVICE PLAN 2020/21  
 
The Cabinet considered the Health and Safety Service Plan for 2020/21.  
 
Local Authorities and the Health and Safety Executive had a shared responsibility for 
ensuring public and employee health and safety protection throughout the UK.  
Whilst the main responsibility remained with businesses and individuals the Council 
had a responsibility to deliver a service that regulated businesses and enforced 
against those that failed to protect the public. 
 
The Public Health and Protection team had successfully attained a grant from the 
HSE to deliver (in partnership with the Council) a programme for small to medium-
sized enterprises.   
 
There were no significant changes to the plan from the previous one.   
 
It was noted that absences from work that were over seven days were reported and 
yet those that were under seven days were not. Members were concerned that 
patterns of absences that were just under the seven days would be missed.  Officers 
confirmed that they were proactive with businesses if they noticed such patterns.  
 
It was also noted that at one point, due to staff sickness, there was not a full 
complement of staff. Members felt it seemed to contradict another part of the report 
that stated the team would seek the use of casual staff or contractors should the 
need arise. Officers clarified that during the period of staff sickness in question they 
did have casual staff who could make interventions and therefore reduce any risk 
and ensure the good delivery of the service. 
  
The Cabinet approved the Health and Safety Service Plan for 2020/21 and 
RECOMMENDS it to the Council for adoption. 
 
 
 
Click the link below for the Health & Safety Service Plan 
https://democracy.welhat.gov.uk/documents/s13139/health%20and%20safety%20se
rvice%20plan%202020-21.pdf 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4b

https://democracy.welhat.gov.uk/documents/s13139/health%20and%20safety%20service%20plan%202020-21.pdf
https://democracy.welhat.gov.uk/documents/s13139/health%20and%20safety%20service%20plan%202020-21.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



LAs are a key part of the health and safety system 
in GB. They have a statutory duty under Section 
18 of the Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 
to ‘make adequate provision’ for health and safety 
enforcement in their area, as set out in the ‘National 
LA Enforcement Code’ (the Code) 
(www.hse.gov.uk/lau/la-enforcement-code.htm).

LAs enforce workplace health and safety in two thirds 
of all business premises, around half of the total 
GB workforce. LAs predominantly cover the retail, 
consumer services, entertainment and warehousing/
supply chain sectors.

Currently failures in the management of health and 
safety in LA enforced business sectors result in 
around 10 deaths, 5000 major injuries and over 
100,000 new cases of ill health a year. Many of 
those harmed are members of the public/children, 
or vulnerable workers not provided with reasonable 
workplace protection.

HSE provides national direction via the the Code and 
its supporting documentation e.g. annually updated 
targeting advice (www.hse.gov.uk/lau/lacs/67-2.htm) 
supports LAs to develop locally responsive sustainable 
delivery plans, using the most current intelligence and 
regulatory practice.

Effective management of health and safety brings direct 
benefits to the local community, by:

- Reducing work related death, injuries and ill health.

- Reducing the need for local public health and support for 
those recovering from injury and ill health.

- Reducing the rate of business failure due to business 
outages caused by incidents and harm to staff, or the 
loss of reputation.

This SoC was developed as part of the on-going 
work of the strategic group overseeing the HSE/LA 
co- regulatory partnership (HELA) and the supporting 
Practitioner’s Forum. It also has the endorsement of 
the Local Government Association (www.local.gov.uk/), 
Welsh Local Government Association 
(www.wlga.gov.uk/) and Society of Chief Officers of 
Environmental Health in Scotland (www.socoehs.com/) 
and recognises that:

- LAs must target and prioritise regulatory resources to 
meet their legal duty to enforce health and safety;

- Continued delivery of effective co-regulation will 
require ongoing evolution in both the LA and HSE 
approaches to regulatory delivery, and

- The HSE and LA co-regulatory partnership plays a vital 
role in delivering the ‘Help GB Work Well’ strategy. 
(campaigns.hse.gov.uk/hgbww/)

Local Authority and HSE Regulatory Services

This joint statement of commitment (SoC), agreed by local authority (LA) representative bodies and the Health and 
Safety Executive (HSE) in March 2019, sets out our shared vision for an ongoing LA/HSE co-regulatory partnership. 
Ensuring LAs and HSE work together as effective, modern and professional regulators - delivering the positive 
benefits of efficient, world leading workplace health and safety, to achieve:

• Sustainable arrangements for the enforcement of work related health and safety.

• Established joint working arrangements resulting in effective engagement, consultation and communication.

• Consistency of high quality regulation across HSE and LA enforced businesses.

This shared SoC is aimed at Councillors, LA Chief Executives and their Heads of Regulatory Services. It outlines how 
LA senior managers and HSE will work together, to achieve sustainable future delivery of effective workplace health 
and safety enforcement in Great Britain (GB).

Statement of commitment between:

This SoC does not relate to an LA’s own responsibilities as a health and safety dutyholder. Information to support 
LAs as employers, service providers and procurers/commissioners of goods and services can be found on the 

HSE website (www.hse.gov.uk/services/localgovernment/index.htm).

Current position

Page 7

www.hse.gov.uk/lau/la-enforcement-code.htm
www.hse.gov.uk/lau/lacs/67-2.htm
www.local.gov.uk
www.wlga.gov.uk
www.socoehs.com
campaigns.hse.gov.uk/hgbww
www.hse.gov.uk/services/localgovernment/index.htm


LAs will provide an effective regulatory framework by:

• Providing the competency, capacity, resource and support to fulfil their delivery plans.

• Working with other LAs to peer review activities and promote better health and safety outcomes.

LAs will secure effective management and control of risk by:

• Developing and implementing local delivery plans which clearly link to national and local priorities.

• Using national and local intelligence to effectively target poor performing sectors.

• Annually reporting their health and safety enforcement activity to HSE.

LAs will lead and engage with others to improve workplace health and safety by:

• Leading and engaging with their local business community to promote health and safety priorities and adopting 
the “Better Business for All” approach where relevant and sustainable.

• Sharing relevant local intelligence with HSE to inform the national perspective.

• Championing their role as health and safety regulators.

What LAs & HSE will do together as co-regulatory partners to #HelpGBworkwell

LAs & HSE will provide an effective regulatory framework by: 

• Sharing information, to make sure we take decisions on the best available evidence.

• Delivering risk based, targeted frontline interventions.

• Maintaining liaison and effective two-way communication via joint representation at county liaison groups as well 
as the joint LA/HSE HELA and Practitioner forums.

LAs & HSE will secure effective management and control of risk by:  

• Delivering a consistent approach to the enforcement of work related health and safety across GB in line with the 
principles of the Regulator’s Code (www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulators-code).

LAs & HSE will lead and engage with others to improve workplace health and safety by:  

• Promoting the benefits of proportionate health and safety in their frontline engagement.

• Working together as co-regulatory partners to influence businesses as part of a national strategy.

• Using the latest in behavioural insight to develop new ways to change business behaviour.

Joint LA/HSE Commitments to Targeted Sustainable 
Health and Safety Enforcement

HSE will provide an effective regulatory framework by:

• Reviewing the effectiveness of GB’s occupational health and safety system.

• Providing LA regulators with access to topic specific materials and technical / forensic support.

• Monitoring and reporting on LA regulatory activity to the HSE’s Board and other stakeholders.

HSE will secure effective management and control of risk by:

• Setting national regulatory priorities and the overarching strategic direction.

• Sharing expertise, practice and supporting materials to promote consistent/proportionate regulation.

• Supporting LAs to develop effective intervention plans by providing targeting guidance 
based upon up-to-date information and intelligence via targeting guidance which accompanies the Code.

HSE will lead and engage with others to improve workplace health and safety by:

• Co-ordinating national engagement and promotion of proportionate health and safety and using feedback from 
LAs to inform the development of national priorities in the LA enforced sectors.

• Providing support for LA local and national regulatory liaison and industry sector working groups.

• Championing the LA role as health and safety regulator.

What LAs will do as independent co-regulators to #HelpGBworkwell

What HSE will do as the national policy lead and a co-regulator to #HelpGBworkwell

Page 8

www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulators-code


 

Part I 
For Decision 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
SPECIAL COUNCIL – 6 MAY 2020 
 
Recommendation from the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 
3 March 2020:- 
 
HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGY 
 
The Cabinet considered the final draft of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy, annual 
action plan and results of the consultation. 
 
The five priorities were  

 To reduce Social Isolation and Improve Community Cohesion. 

 To protect and enhance our Environment, including the built environment, and 
green space. 

 Increase levels of Physical Activity and Reduce levels of Obesity. 

 Improve the opportunities in the Borough to improve mental health and 
wellbeing and increase resilience within individuals. 

 Protect our communities from harm by delivering robust and effective health 
protection arrangements. 

 
The launch of the online Healthy Hub tied in with the overall strategy and the 
encouraging the public to take responsibility for their own health.   
 
The Cabinet RECOMMENDS the Health and Wellbeing Strategy and annual action 
plan the Council for adoption.  
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5a



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Health and Wellbeing Strategy for Welwyn Hatfield Borough 2020-2024 

Foreword 

Our inaugural Public Health Strategy was published as the Public Health and Wellbeing Strategic 

Framework in 2014.This was our first document that described the structure and framework to 

identify and deliver effective public health and wellbeing actions to reduce health inequalities and 

positively impact on the wider determinants of health.  

Since this first document we have moved forward considerably. For example: we have set up new 

partnerships, both internally and externally; introduced Health Walks; are delivering a Healthy Eating 

scheme with local businesses; established Healthfest; established Welwyn Hatfield Dementia Action 

Alliance; substantially increased our air quality monitoring programme; commissioned a series of 

men’s healthy weight schemes and have a Healthy Hub website. 

We are now in a position to carry on and utilise this momentum, to make use of our new working 

partnerships and knowledge. We intend to make the next strategy even more overarching and 

embedded into the key working of the Council, specifically by adopting `Health In all Policies`. We 

intend to make a difference to the lives of those in the borough by embracing the vision of the 

Marmot Review “Fair Society, Healthy Lives” Ref i by working with all partners to reduce Health 

Inequalities. 

Chapter One – The Borough Council, public health and how we can make a difference  

Purpose of the Strategy 

The purpose of the strategy is threefold; to explain the wider determinants of health, to state our 

commitment to improving the health and wellbeing of our residents and to identify actions to put 

that commitment into practice through our annual action plan. 

It was important to us that the strategy is a document that speaks to the community, therefore we 

endeavoured to provide opportunities for those living, working or providing services in the Borough 

to take part in shaping the document. To do this we held our first public health and wellbeing 

summit in 2019 and used the workshops and our “thoughts and ideas” collection throughout the day 

to gather local information and comments. 

 We carried out an online consultation with stakeholders, members, residents and other agencies. 

The consultation was actively promoted. The feedback has assisted in shaping the approach of the 

strategy and the action plan.  

Where the results have influenced or have been incorporated into the strategy they are highlighted.  

The Borough Council 

In two tier local government areas, public health work (including health protection, health 

improvement and work to support the wider determinants of health) is split between the county 

council and the districts/boroughs. 

Second tier Local Authorities, the District and Borough Councils, also deliver such services as waste 

collection, parks and leisure, environmental health, act as the planning authority, act as the licensing 

authority, and ensure healthy housing standards, community safety and democratic services. 

Local Councillors are elected by the residents to decide how the council should carry out its various 

duties and functions. WHBC has 48 elected councillors (also known as Members) representing the 16 

Appendix 1 

Page 11



2 
 

wards in the borough. Elected members are directly accountable to their constituents on a very local 

and individual level which results in a strong level of familiarity and detailed knowledge of the area 

and its residents.  

The duties and services of the Council are delivered and operated by professional officers who also 

make recommendations on major decisions, policies and budgets. Ultimately, these finally are 

determined by the political will of the elected members.  

The population of a Local Authority is generated purely by its geographical area and so our 

population is made up of a wide cross section of society whereas other public sector services have a 

population made up of a more specific sub group such as young people, elderly or those seeking 

access to health care though illness.  

The services delivered tend to have individual bearing on residents so there is a high likelihood of 

residents having direct personal contact with their council than with other statutory agencies. 

A district or borough council therefore serves a population comprised of all levels of health, wealth, 

education, age and vulnerability. The council provides a unique role in that residents identify with 

their Council whereas the NHS and the wider healthcare system can be more anonymous 

organisations.  

What makes us healthy? 

What causes heart disease? To some, the clear answer would be blocked arteries. But what causes 

those arteries to become blocked? Perhaps it’s the unhealthy food and drink people consume, their 

lack of exercise, or their stress levels. And what, in turn, makes them feel stressed, shapes their 

opportunities to be active and determines their choices about what they eat and drink? 

The Wider Determinants of Health 

The answers lie in the circumstances in which people are born, grow, live, work and age: known as 

the wider determinants of health. These can enable individuals and societies to flourish, or not. 

These are the causes of the causes. 

Rather than being something people just get at the doctor’s or at hospital, health is something that 

starts in families, schools, communities and workplaces. It can be found in parks and in the air 

people breathe. It`s difficult to live a fulfilling life if you’re worried about money, live in cold or damp 

conditions, or feel cut-off from those around you. 

While medicine and nursing are vital for helping and supporting people when they fall ill, work in 

public health contributes to reducing the causes of ill-health and improving people's health and 

wellbeing. 

When we talk about health, it is important to recognise we are talking about both physical and 

mental health. The two are undeniably related. ‘A healthy person is someone with the opportunity 

for meaningful work, secure housing, stable relationships, high self-esteem and healthy 

behaviours...' The Health Foundation. Ref ii 

 

 

Page 12



3 
 

The Dahlgren-Whitehead rainbow model below (Source: Dahlgren, G. and Whitehead, M. (1993)) 

remains one of the most well-known and influential models used to explain the wider determinants 

of health. 

 

 

How we can make a difference  

This model also helps illustrate how a Borough Council, not always perceived to be a healthcare 

provider, has the opportunity to influence some of these wider determinants of health through the 

day to day services which we provide. As the Marmot Review into health inequalities in England 

demonstrated in its report, Fair Society, Healthy Lives (Marmot et al 2010), the ‘broader 

determinants of health’ – people’s local environment, housing, transport, employment, and their 

social interactions – can be significantly influenced by how local authorities deliver their core roles 

and functions.` 

The result means that people will have very differing life expectancies and varying levels of living 

well, dependant on where they live, their job and their education levels. These are known as health 

inequalities.  

Summary 

Good health is something we do not get just by going to the doctors. Good health means that we are 

physically fit, free from illness, mentally fulfilled and emotionally resilient. Our health is influenced by 

wider determinants such as the environment, social economic circumstances, education and 

employment. The Borough Council has a direct impact on some of those factors through delivery of 

its services and functions and therefore has a role on the health of its population. This strategy forms 

our statement of commitment to this role. 

 

 

Chapter Two – The Corporate Context and where this strategy sits. 

The key corporate issues for this strategy are; modernisation, the Local Plan, regeneration and the 

inevitable issue of budgets and resources.  

Good health is something we do not get just by going to the doctors. Good health 

means that we are physically fit, free from illness, mentally fulfilled and emotionally 

resilient. Our health is influenced by wider determinants such as the environment, 

social economic circumstances, education and employment. The Borough Council has 

a direct impact on some of those factors through delivery of its services and functions 

and therefore has a role on the health of its population. This strategy forms our 

statement of commitment to this role. 

Page 13



4 
 

In addition this Strategy supports the WHBC Business Plan 2018-2021, specifically the objective “to 

improving Health and Wellbeing “and sets out our vision and principles to align with the Plan.   

 

Modernisation 

Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council is undergoing a period of change and modernisation. Part of this 

corporate ethos is driven by the #oneteam approach “Working better, together” i.e. working 

together to improve efficiency, achieving more by working collectively and supporting each other.  

With the modernisation programme we are starting to look at how we can deliver and communicate 

to residents by making use of digital technology. The council is looking forward by provision of 

technologies and hardware to allow staff to work more flexibly and effectively. Residents will have 

improved digital access to the council such as live streaming of committee meetings, reporting 

online and an improved website. We have an updated customer service strategy. 

This strategy is in line with the modernisation programme. We will be utilising these digital 

improvements in particular through our online Healthy Hub.  

                                                    

 #oneteam working is an essential part of making a positive impact on the wider determinants of 

health. We have to be keenly aware of our organisation and what we do as a whole in order to make 

changes and improvements that make a difference.  

The one team programme is a corporate priority led by the Chief Executive and is supported by the 

Council “behaviours and values” staff appraisal system. This provides an ideal opportunity to 

introduce and establish Make Every Contact Count for all frontline staff and practitioners.   

Making Every Contact Count (MECC) is an approach to behaviour change that utilises the millions of 

day to day interactions that organisations and individuals have with other people to support them in 

making positive changes to their physical and mental health and wellbeing. MECC enables the 

opportunistic delivery of consistent and concise healthy lifestyle information and enables individuals 

to engage in conversations about their health at scale across organisations and populations. It is an 

NHS programme and is supported by a wealth of resources, guidance and training tools. It is 

included in NICE guidance. refiii https://www.makingeverycontactcount.co.uk/media/27613/mecc-

resources-fact-sheet-v9-20180601.pdf 

For example, during a visit to investigate a noise complaint the officer could also encourage the 

resident to seek help for housing advice and debt advice. 

The one team approach will provide the right organisational culture to incorporate MECC as part of 

our daily work and is an opportunity to be explored.  

The Local Plan 

The Local Plan is the blueprint for growth in Welwyn Hatfield, mapping out where future homes, 

businesses and leisure facilities will go. 

The plan as currently drafted allocates land for around 12,000 new homes, although it is likely this 

number will increase to 16,000 until 2033, and we are taking steps to find additional sites. We're 

Page 14

https://www.makingeverycontactcount.co.uk/media/27613/mecc-resources-fact-sheet-v9-20180601.pdf
https://www.makingeverycontactcount.co.uk/media/27613/mecc-resources-fact-sheet-v9-20180601.pdf


5 
 

planning to use brownfield land wherever we can, but there is not enough to meet future demands 

for development. The Local Plan also sets aside the space to deliver 17,000 new jobs to help ensure 

our local economy continues to thrive. 

This strategy aims to ensure that health and wellbeing is given due regard for the Local Plan by 

encouraging use of the Herts County Council Public Health Planning Guidance ref 
ivhttps://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/public-health/hertfordshires-health-

and-wellbeing-planning-guidance-may-2017.pdf, ensuring environmental health officers are 

consulted to assess environmental impacts and encouraging the use of Health Impact Assessments 

during master planning.  

Resources 

As with all public sector services financial constraints are a concern. In addition, ring fencing for 

public health funding will end after 2021. Therefore, we need to keep public health at the top of the 

agenda both politically and with council officers. However, delivering services that improves public 

health is not just about having sufficient funds, it is also about how we deliver services. Good joint 

working with other agencies and organisations also ensures residents receive more effective 

outcomes. 

For this strategy to be effective it should be an overarching document that speaks to and links in 

with other relevant strategies. Improving ways to achieve this will be included in the action plan 

Summary 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

There are current issues on the Local Authority that impact on the delivery of 

this strategy. Some provide opportunities such as the modernisation 

programme which will enable smarter working, shared knowledge and the 

introduction of MECC. Regeneration will enable possibilities to enhance the 

built environment. #Oneteam is a top down commitment and will enable 

effective joint working and shared information. 

Some provide challenges, such as the increase in housing development and 

financial stress. 

We need to take these into account when delivering the action plan. 

This strategy states the council`s commitment to improving health and 

wellbeing of its population and so should be given due consideration when 

Council Policies and procedures are written. This will be achieved by the 

Health in All Policies objective in the action plan. While not completely 

making up for fewer available resources it will identify areas where we can 

make a difference by enhancing existing services and by working with other 

agencies. 

Page 15

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/public-health/hertfordshires-health-and-wellbeing-planning-guidance-may-2017.pdf
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/public-health/hertfordshires-health-and-wellbeing-planning-guidance-may-2017.pdf


6 
 

Chapter three- our partners and the bigger picture 

There is a complex bigger picture when looking at the organisations that enable or deliver health 

care across Hertfordshire. It is important to know where we stand in the bigger picture and what 

each organisation provides so we can make informed decisions when our work overlaps, know how 

to signpost accurately and provide advice to our community. 

The District Partnership with Herts County Council Public Health. 

When the changes in the healthcare system took place in 2013 Local Authorities once again became 

responsible for public health. As Hertfordshire is a two tier authority this duty lies with Herts County 

Council. The Director of Public Health, realising the role of second tier authorities in the wider 

determinants of health, took the decision to work directly with all 10 district and Borough Councils in 

a whole-systems approach to delivering on the Public Health Outcomes Framework (PHOF), in line 

with The Royal Society of Public Health Promoting Health and Wellbeing Reducing Inequalities 

(2009) guidance. 

This partnership is now known as the (Public Health) District Partnership. The purpose of the 

partnership is to deliver public health outcomes through projects that fulfil priorities outlined in the 

Public Health Strategies (2014-17 and 2017-21). This innovative approach to fulfil the public health 

duties of the Director of Public Health has been documented in the 2019 joint Local Government 

Association and District Councils Network publication; “Shaping healthy places: exploring the district 

council role in health”. Ref v 

With this partnership came funding, access to intelligence, training and opportunities to implement 

local initiatives with the support of the County wide group. Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council has 

welcomed and fully embraced this opportunity by delivering a number of projects that have made a 

difference to resident’s lives.  

The current county wide project is the delivery of Healthy Hubs in each local authority. Ref vi 

East and North Herts CCG  

What is a CCG? The Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) is the organisation responsible for 

commissioning (planning, designing and paying for) NHS services. The CCG is made up of local GPs 

and health professionals, working together with other clinicians and patients, to decide how the 

local NHS budget should be spent. 

Each local area has an allocated health budget. Our local CCG is East and North Herts, within that 

there are 6 locality groups. Our locality is Welwyn Hatfield, made up of the 9 GP practices. A number 

of GPs are elected by the local practices to lead and represent the local area. These elected GPs 

come together at the CCG Governing Body meetings to make decisions about health services for the 

whole of east and north Hertfordshire. 

The East and North Herts CCG serves about 600,000 people registered at 57 GP Practices across east 

and north Hertfordshire. East and North Hertfordshire CCG plans and buys services from 

organisations which provide patient care, including GP practices, hospitals, mental health and 

community trusts, voluntary and independent organisations. It also funds the cost of medicines and 

treatments prescribed by GPs and nurse prescribers within our area. They do not directly care for 

patients, but closely monitor the quality of care they receive.  

Who provides these health services?  

Page 16



7 
 

Acute hospital services - where a patient receives active but short-term treatment for a severe injury 

or illness, an urgent medical condition, or during their recovery from surgery - are provided by NHS 

trusts, NHS foundation trusts and other independent providers of health services.  

Community services - such as district nursing, therapy and rehabilitation - are mainly provided by 

Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust (HCT).  

Mental health and learning disability services are mainly provided by Hertfordshire Partnership 

University NHS Foundation Trust (HPFT). 

There are 9 National Priorities set by NHS England and cover such things as commissioning contracts 

for GPs, pharmacists and dentists, and the supporting local health services led by Clinical 

Commissioning Groups. Under these national priorities East and North Herts CCG have specific 

objectives. One of these objectives directly links with the aims of this strategy: 

Living well and preventing ill health 

To support people to improve their health and wellbeing, and to live well with long term conditions 

through prevention activity including: 

1. Social Prescribing / Community First 

2. Personalisation 

3. Self-management and supporting people to live well with long-term conditions 

 

Primary Care Networks 

The NHS document, Refreshing Plans for 2018-19, set out the ambition for CCGs to actively 

encourage every GP practice to be part of a local primary care network so that these cover the 

whole country as far as possible by the end of 2018/19. Primary care networks will be based on GP 

registered lists, typically serving natural communities of around 30,000 to 50,000. They should be 

small enough to provide the personal care valued by both patients and GPs, but large enough to 

have impact and economies of scale through better collaboration between practices and others in 

the local health and social care system. The aim is to work more proactively providing care rather 

than rely on reactive appointments once people are ill. By encouraging GP practices to work more 

closely together in groups, together with other health and care staff in their local area, Primary Care 

Networks (PCNs) aim to provide more proactive, personalised, coordinated and joined-up health and 

social care. 

There are 3 PCNs in Welwyn Hatfield made out of the 9 GP practices. 

‘Sustainability and Transformation Partnerships’ STP s 

Across England, NHS and social care organisations have been encouraged to work more closely 

together to deliver more effective, joined-up and affordable services. 

In Hertfordshire and west Essex, councils, health and ambulance services, GPs, patient 

representative groups and the voluntary and community sector have been asked by the NHS to 

produce an improvement plan for the next five years. The country has been divided into 44 

‘Sustainability and Transformation Partnerships’ or ‘STP’ areas by the national organisation, NHS 

England.  Hertfordshire and west Essex is one of these 44 STP areas 

These improvement plans are called ‘Sustainability and Transformation Partnerships’ (STPs). Ref vii 

Page 17



8 
 

 A Healthier Future - Improving health and care in Hertfordshire and West Essex 2016-2021 is the 

document that presents that plan. It highlights the main challenges for healthcare in Hertfordshire 

and ways to try and overcome them, some of which are highlighted in the infogram below. 

 

All Hertfordshire local authorities are invited to be part of this plan. Currently the main workstreams 

are focussed on health care and there are no direct projects with the Council. However, there are 

service areas we provide that overlap with the objectives in the plan that should be further explored. 

NHS Long Term Plan 

The NHS Long Term Plan, ref viii, introduced in January 2019, is a comprehensive new plan for the 

NHS, to improve the quality of patient care and health outcomes. It sets out how budget settlement 

for the NHS, announced by the Prime Minister in summer 2018, will be spent over the next 5 years. 

It is not, however,  a plan for the whole health and care system, this is be covered by the 

Governments Green Paper, as listed below. Improvements in population health, will also rely on a 

social and health care system being fully integrated with the NHS. 

With respect to community and primary care the plan introduces the Primary care networks. They 

will be expected to take a proactive approach to managing population health and from 2020/21, will 

assess the needs of their local population to identify people who would benefit from targeted, 

proactive support. There is an emphasis on social prescribing as well as developing digital services.  

 

 

Government Green Paper - Advancing our health: prevention in the 2020s   

The Green Paper and its consultation on Prevention and Health was published in 2019, ref ixx. The 

Government formal response is to be published Spring 2020. This sets out the government`s 

approach to public health, the recognition of the wider determinants of health and that it is not just 

for the NHS to provide healthcare. That responsibility also lies with individuals and families, the 

health and social care system, national and local government, and wider society. The paper 

acknowledges the concept of Health in all Policies and the NHS Long Term Plan.  

“For the first 70 years of the NHS, we have concentrated on helping people live longer – and we have 

been hugely successful. Now we must move from simply thinking about life span to health span: the 

number of years we can keep people living healthy, independent lives free from illness or disability. 

Page 18



9 
 

The commitments outlined in this green paper signal a new approach to public health. One that 

involves a new personalised, prevention model. It will mean the government, both local and national, 

working with the NHS, to put prevention at the centre of our decision-making.” 

The paper has chapters on physical activity, smoking, nature and mental health, obesity and air 

quality all of which the Borough Council has direct influence on. We will be a key player in the 

delivery of Prevention and Health at a local level and addressing how we design services around user 

need rather than doing things as we have always done in the past. This is an expectation laid out in 

this paper. 

Summary 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Chapter Four – What we know about our Borough and what we have learnt  

Welwyn Hatfield is located centrally within Hertfordshire, and covers an area of approximately 130 

square kilometres (12,954 hectares). The borough is bordered by Hertsmere to the south, St Albans 

to the west, North Hertfordshire to the north, and East Hertfordshire and Broxbourne to the east. 

The borough also has a short border with the London Borough of Enfield to the south. Around 79% 

of the borough is currently designated as part of the Metropolitan Green Belt – this is a relatively 

high proportion, reflecting the borough’s extensive countryside in such close proximity to London. 

The borough’s population grew at a rate of 1.0% during the year to just over 122,000. The ONS 2016 

census projections estimate that the borough will have 140,642 residents by 2032, a growth of 

14.8% to 18,170 persons (Source: ONS 2016 sub national population projections). 

It can be seen there is a complex system of organisations and workforces which 

all play a part in health and wellbeing.  

Not only do we need to increase our ability to working cohesively across the 

Council, we need to work with other organisations. Historically, public 

organisations tend to work in their own realm with limited understanding of 

other roles` that also impact on people’s health and wellbeing.  We have a 

responsibility to make our voice heard by the key players in the health care and 

social care system. The unique familiarity and relationship with our residents and 

those working in the Borough provides opportunities to promote prevention and 

public health that are not available to those more traditionally associated with 

treating ill health.  

We can start by ensuring we have an informed workforce and for our senior 

management team to build relationships with their counterparts in other 

organisations. We need to actively promote the functions and services we deliver 

that make a difference to the environment, to workplaces, to leisure and physical 

activity, to community cohesion and to health protection.  

We will aim to work collaboratively to achieve shared outcomes, reduce costs 

and target services. 

Page 19



10 
 

Incidents of crime in the borough continued to increase this year to 75 per 1,000 residents. Despite 

this rise, the figure for Welwyn Hatfield remained below the national average of 83.5 per 1,000. 

Recent improvements to reporting are expected to be at least in part behind rises in recent years; 

The health of the borough’s population generally remains good – Welwyn Hatfield scores better 

than the national average for 12 of 32 indicators (although this was down slightly from 15 last year). 

The Borough fell below the national average in terms of diabetes diagnosis (aged 17+) and excess 

winter deaths this year. 

Life expectancy is 7.8 years lower for men and 8.1 years lower for women in the most deprived areas 

of Welwyn Hatfield than in the least deprived areas. 

65.4% of the population is aged 16-64 years and 18.7% classed as 65+. 

The Hatfield Primary Care Network shows levels of deprivation, considered to be high for the under 

16s and over 65s. 

The Borough has a significant number of older people and this trend will continue to rise.  

From the Welwyn Hatfield Ward health profiles taken from the Herts Joint Strategic Needs 

Assessment ref xi tartan rug comparing individual wards with the Hertfordshire average, there are 

some noticeable areas where we are significantly worse than the Herts average.  We have 4 wards 

with higher levels of obese year 6 children and 3 wards with overweight year 6 children. We have 7 

wards with higher levels of people living with a long term illness. We have 8 wards with the 

percentage of over 65s living alone higher than the county average.  

What we have learnt from the Consultation and customer feedback 

As part of the consultation, one of the questions asked was “what are the three top challenges to 

implementing the aims of the strategy?” The responses have been collated under overall headings 

and given as a percentage of all responses to that question. This is an open question so all responses 

are relevant. This demonstrates what is important to those living and working in the Borough and 

will influence the action plan.  

Unhealthy Behaviours 23 % 

Pollution 4% 

Green Space 7.5% 

Poverty 10.6 % 

Provision of facilities 9.8% 

Health Care services 6% 

Diet and food choices 6% 

Awareness (information, knowledge) 18.9% 

Time 2.8% 

Loneliness 2.2 % 

Transport 1% 

Funding 7.5% 

Housing 1% 

 

The consultation also asked for consultees opinions on the wider determinants of health that should 

be included. The consultees focussed on; access to outside spaces, loneliness, provision of transport, 

poverty and linking in with GP surgeries.  

 

Page 20



11 
 

One of the key findings from the Public Health Summit from all delegates was the need for better 

information of available services and how to access them. There was a general and vocal consensus 

for a need for a local and updated directory to enable people to actually take the lead in their own 

health needs. This would include all available services however small, from all organisations health 

care provision, voluntary, charitable, not for profit, sports groups etc. The Borough is fortunate to 

have a wide range of groups, clubs, and facilities but with limited and disparate knowledge of how to 

access these assets. 

 

Summary 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Chapter Five – How we gather evidence and make informed decisions 

This strategy, the action plan and the ongoing public health work uses a range of evidence and 

sources of information and research.  

We have used the following as sources of evidence: 

Welwyn Hatfield Public Health summit 2019 

The Hertfordshire JSNA 

The online Health and Wellbeing Strategy for Welwyn Hatfield Borough 2020-2024 public 

consultation  

Herts Public Health Service Strategy 2017-2021 

Public Health England – Health Profiles 

The Annual Monitoring Report 2017-18 (Welwyn Hatfield) 

 

We also use and will use general sources of information through residents’ and members concerns 

and feedback, and officers reports. 

 

We have used and will continue to use the following organisations publications and research papers: 

 

The Health foundation, 

The District Councils Network, 

Town and Country Planning Association, 

The Local Government Association,  

The Kings Fund, 

Public Health England. 

 

Although Welwyn Hatfield is considered to be a generally affluent and healthy 

population there are pockets of deprivation, the expensive cost of housing results 

in a high level of private rented properties and we have a high number of people 

living alone. 

We have an articulate, educated and active community. We need a less dictatorial 

and a more collaborative approach to working with the community.  

We will learn and explore how to work using the Asset Based Community 

Development (ABCD) approach. 

Page 21



12 
 

Summary 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Chapter Six- Our vision and our priorities  

Four options were put forward in the consultation. Our vision statement was chosen by 40% of 

responses, out weighing the next choice by 18%. 

Our vision statement is: 

To enable those living, working and playing in the Borough to fulfil their aspirations to live well, 

happily and in good health.  

The principles for our strategy: 

Responsibility –We need to understand our spheres of influence. We will deliver our duties and 

functions with commitment and professionalism. 

Person Centred – we will take a holistic approach to solving issues. We will introduce Make Every 

Contact Count. We will encourage staff to use active listening. We will work with respect and 

courtesy. We will act with impartiality 

Enabling – We recognise the need to empower residents, we will provide clear information and 

signpost where appropriate. 

Evaluate - Evaluation is about ‘judging the worth of an activity’ (Sidell and Douglas, 2012)2. It should 

help establish the extent to which a programme has achieved its objectives, and how different 

aspects have contributed to or influenced the outcome. We will encourage evaluation to become 

part of the culture of the Councils service delivery.  It is essential to assess the worth and 

effectiveness of projects and initiatives in order to use resources wisely and to make a positive 

difference.  

  

These Principles were agreed by 87 % of the consultation responses. Changes have been made in 

line with the comments received.  

Our Priorities  

We have chosen our priorities as a result of the following: 

Evaluating the work and projects of the previous strategy. 

Using the extensive feedback of the health and wellbeing summit held in February. 

Using the results of the Alliance Conference in March.  

Ensuring we meet our statutory obligations. 

 

They link into the priorities identified in the Public Health Service Strategy for Hertfordshire 2017-

2021; and the Hertfordshire Health and Wellbeing Strategy (2016-2020). We believe we should 

target our priorities to the areas we can directly influence and make a difference.  

As an authority we are able to access a wide range of information and research 

sources. We will encourage and develop staff in the use of appropriate data and 

interpretation. We will use this information and evidence as a basis for our 

initiatives and actions. 

Page 22



13 
 

Our five priorities are:  

1. To reduce Social Isolation and Improve Community Cohesion,  

2. To protect and enhance our Environment, including the built environment, and green space. 

3. Increase levels of Physical Activity and Reduce levels of Obesity   

4. Improve the opportunities in the Borough to improve mental health and wellbeing and 

increase resilience within individuals 

5. Protect our communities from harm by delivering robust and effective health protection 

arrangements. 

Summary 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

We will address through the priorities through the annual action plan. The actions 

will be identified through the refreshed Welwyn Hatfield Health and Wellbeing 

Partnership and in consultation with residents. The progress will be monitored 

quarterly and reported as an annual report. The strategy and the action plan will be 

available electronically on the website and as a written document in the Council. 

Page 23



14 
 

 

Conclusion 

District councils are not formally responsible for public health as detailed in the Health and Social 

Care Act 2012, but they still have a huge role in it. They are providers of key services which have a 

direct impact on the social determinants of health, such as housing, planning, leisure, recreation and 

environmental health which directly impact on the health of the population. 

Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council is very much aware of this role. Our vision will be the driving force 

behind the action plan.  

 

The statement below from the Kings Fund Report “Improving the Public’s health– a resource for 

Local Authorities” best represents how we need to embrace and deliver our commitment to 

improving the health and wellbeing of our community.  

 “providing information is not enough; achieving change requires clarity of purpose, and a robust 

local framework that maximises the expertise and influence of the local director of public health 

and the partnerships they form. Such a framework should have outcomes-focused partnership at 

its heart and include a commitment to systematic health impact assessment. It states that 

partnership working and a clear focus on outcomes and an evidence based approach are vital to 

make a difference.” 

Page 24



15 
 

 

References  

                                                           
i
  Fair Society, Healthy Lives. The Marmot Review. Strategic Review of Health Inequalities in England post 2010 
ii
 The Health Foundation – “What makes us healthy? An introduction to the social determinants of health” 

   March 2018 
iii
  NICE guidance.  https://www.makingeverycontactcount.co.uk/media/27613/mecc-resources-fact-sheet- 

     v9-20180601.pdf  
iv
 Herts County Council Public Health Planning Guidance ref  https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-

library/documents/public-health/hertfordshires-health-and-wellbeing-planning-guidance-may-2017.pdf 
v
 Local Government Association and District Councils Network publication; “Shaping healthy places: exploring 

the district council role in health”. https://www.local.gov.uk/shaping-healthy-places-exploring-district-council-
role-health 
vi
 Hertfordshire Healthy Hubs https://www.healthyhubs.org.uk/home.aspx 

vii
 These improvement plans are called ‘Sustainability and Transformation Partnerships’ (STPs).  

 A Healthier Future - Improving health and care in Hertfordshire and West Essex 2016-2021       
https://www.healthierfuture.org.uk/ 
viii

 NHS Long Term Plan https://www.england.nhs.uk/long-term-plan/ 
ix
 The Department of Health and Social Care and the Cabinet Office have published “Advancing our health: 

prevention in the 2020s”, a green paper setting out the case for change in the way we approach prevention, 
identifying key drivers of ill health including deprivation, inequalities, health-related behaviours such as 
smoking and physical inactivity, and mental health difficulties. 
 
xi
 JSNA - Hertfordshire's Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) looks at the specific health and social care 

needs of our local population and points out areas of inequality. It helps public bodies decide what type of 
local services to commission. 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 

Public Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2020-2024 -Annual Action Plan 2020 

Our five priorities are:  

1. To reduce Social Isolation and Improve Community Cohesion.  

2. To protect and enhance our Environment, including the built environment, and green space. 

3. Increase levels of Physical Activity and Reduce levels of Obesity   

4. Improve the opportunities in the Borough to improve mental health and wellbeing and increase resilience within individuals. 

5. Protect our communities from harm by delivering robust and effective health protection arrangements. 

 

 
Strategic Actions 
 

 
Priority Area 

To introduce a structured approach to Health in All Policies across the 
Council at all levels that will underpin the action plan. 

All 

To gain an understanding of the Asset Based Community Development 
(ABCD) approach, learn from good practice and introduce this into our 
corporate project planning system. 

All  

To consider how to apply and implement the PHEs Healthy Places 
programme within the confines of the second tier local authority system. 
This will include reference to Health Impact Assessments. 

All 

To streamline the pre application process for planning applications to 
ensure a holistic approach and opportunities to comment at the design 
stage.   

All 

Fully engage in HCC’s Whole systems approach to obesity and identify 
any opportunities across all Council Services, to implement positive 
changes to reduce obesity.  

3 

To promote and support methods of evaluation in public health and 
wellbeing projects across the organisation 

All 
 
 

P
age 27



 
Tactical Projects 
 

 

 
To update and implement the Health Protection procedures. 

5 

To prepare and introduce a set of planning validation documents relating 
to public health and wellbeing as part of the planning consultation 
process.  

All 

To fulfil our duties as part of the private water supplies regulations.  5 

To engage and develop relationships with Social Prescribing link workers 
in the Borough 

All 

Work with the cross party Climate Change group to develop a strategy 
and action plan which will identify how we intend to measure and 
monitor a reduction in our carbon footprint  

2 and 5 

 
To deliver the Meet and Eat scheme in Welwyn Hatfield 

3 

To support a men’s shed project for the Welwyn area. 1 and 4 

To promote the Welhat sports website 3 and 4 

To continue to deliver and promote the Eat Out Eat Well campaign. 3 

To continue to deliver and promote Health Walks throughout the 
borough.   

3 and 4 

To deliver 2 more Shape Up Men’s Weight Loss campaigns. 3 and 4 

Deliver one air quality project with partners, which will educate or raise 
awareness of the issues associated with poor air quality. 

2 and 5 

Review our current air quality monitoring programme and make any 
necessary recommendations for changing the number of pollutants 
monitored or location of monitoring stations. 

5 

 

 

P
age 28



Part I 
Main author: Alison Marston 
Executive Member: Cllr Tony Kingsbury 
Not Ward Specific 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
REPORT OF THE MONITORING OFFICER 
SPECIAL COUNCIL- 6 MAY 2020 
 
REVIEW OF THE COUNCIL’S CONSTITUTION 
 
 
1 Executive Summary 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek approval to changes to the Constitution as 
part of the ongoing review and modernisation of the Council’s governance 
processes following consideration by the Constitution Review Group (CRG) and 
in accordance with one of the key recommendations in the corporate peer 
challenge action plan (as agreed at the Council meeting on 22 July 2019).  The 
revision of the Constitution is an important part of the modernisation programme. 

2 Recommendations 

2.1 That Council notes CRG’s recommendations of the 5th March 2020 as set out in 
Appendix 1 to this report. 

2.2 That Council approves the revised Access to Information Procedure Rules, 
Cabinet Functions, Cabinet Procedure Rules, Councillors’ Code of Conduct with 
new Social Media Protocol and amendment to Contract Procedure Rules, 
together with the introduction of Executive Member Decision Notices, as set out 
in Appendices 2 to 7 to this report. 

2.3 That Council accepts CRG’s recommendations to approve the proposed Officer 
amendments to their individual responsibility for functions and delegated powers, 
as set out in Appendix 8 to this report.  

2.4 That Council accepts CRG’s recommendations to agree to trial new scrutiny 
arrangements for a period of one year until the start of the new 2021/22 
Municipal Year, as explained in paragraphs 3.9 to 3.19 of this report.   

2.5 That Council delegates to CRG the authority to agree the operational 
arrangements for the new Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

2.6 That Council approves the appointments to the new Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and any consequential updated appointments to other committees as 
set out in Appendix 11 to this report. 

2.7 That Council approves the amended timetable for the dates of the council 
meetings in the Municipal Year 2020/21 as attached at Appendix 12, to reflect 
the changes to the scrutiny arrangements for the council. 

2.8 That Council agrees to adopt the standing orders for virtual meetings, the 
requirements as explained in paragraphs 3.20 and 3.21 of this report and as set 
out in Appendix 13 to this report.  

Page 29

Agenda Item 6



2.9 That the Chief Executive is authorised to take all necessary decisions of the 
council in the event of urgency or emergency. 

2.10 That Council approves, in relation to each and every member of the council, that 
non-attendance by a member at any relevant meeting of the Council, Cabinet or 
any committee, sub-committee or panel of the Council or Cabinet that is due to or 
caused by any related impact or consequences arising out of the coronavirus 
pandemic, be accepted as a reason for non-attendance at that relevant meeting, 
from the date of this resolution up to and including the 7th May 2021. 

2.11 That Council agrees to give delegated authority to the Monitoring Officer, in 
consultation with CRG Members, the Chief Executive and the Corporate Director 
(Public Protection, Planning and Governance), to make any required 
consequential amendments to the Constitution and implement the detailed 
changes to procedures arising from approving these recommendations together 
with any general updating. 

3 Explanation 

3.1 The cross-party Constitutional Review Group (CRG) was appointed at last year’s 
Annual Council meeting to review the Constitution and make recommendations 
for change to update and streamline the Council’s governance arrangements to 
reflect the Council’s modernisation programme. In any event, the review of the 
Constitution is a continuing and ongoing responsibility. 

3.2 The Council has already agreed some changes to facilitate the modernisation 
programme. 

3.3 The first proposed changes were submitted to the Special Council meeting on 
25 February 2019 and following discussion these were deferred for further 
consideration by CRG (Minute 63 refers). 

3.4 Some of these proposed changes then went forward to the next Council meeting 
on 25 March 2019 and revised Council Procedure Rules and Rules of General 
Application to all Committees were approved (Minute 72 refers). As part of this, 
the on-line access to the Constitution was improved to allow direct access to 
specific chapters. 

3.5 At the Council meeting on 26 September 2019 a change to the Constitution was 
made to enable the timetable of meetings to be approved at an ordinary Council 
meeting rather than at the Annual Council meeting. This allowed the timetable to 
be agreed much earlier and well in advance of the new Municipal Year (Minute 
29 refers) to give earlier notification of Committee meeting dates. 

3.6 Since then CRG met on six further occasions and proposed changes to Access 
to Information Procedure Rules, Cabinet Functions and Cabinet Procedure Rules 
and the Code of Conduct and the introduction of Executive Member Decision 
Notices that are now submitted to this meeting for approval. 

3.7 This draft documentation was circulated to all Members of the Council on 24 
December 2019 and again on 10 February 2020 to give an opportunity for 
comments to be made and queries to be raised in advance of this meeting.  No 
comments or queries have been received at the time of writing this report. 

Page 30



3.8 The Standards Committee on 10 February 2020 reviewed the revised Code of 
Conduct which had been aligned with the Council’s #One Team behaviours and 
values and a new Social Media Protocol for Members which had been prepared 
by an external consultant and recommended these to the Council for adoption. 

3.9 Proposed new scrutiny arrangements - CRG met on 5 March 2020 to consider 
draft proposals for the revision of scrutiny based on the feedback from the 
Member workshops on 20 February 2020 led by the Centre for Public Scrutiny 
(Minutes of the meeting attached at Appendix 1). The CRG proposals were due 
to be considered by Council on the 23 March 2020 before this meeting had to be 
cancelled due to the coronavirus pandemic. 

3.10 These proposals suggested a possible reduction in the number of Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees (OSC) from the current three, Environment, Social and 
Resources from the new Municipal Year on a trial basis to either one or two new 
Committees. Two options were discussed: 

Option 1 Establish a single OSC with (two or three) standing Task and Finish 
Panels (T&FP) to be mobilised as requested by the parent OSC. No 
more than two T&FPs should be active at any one time and their 
scrutinies should be time limited and conducted within a set period 
of, for example, two months with a target for a total number of in-
depth scrutinies per year, for example, two or three.  Panel 
Chairmen to be appointed at the start of the year. 

Option 2 Establish two OSCs, one specifically for Policy Review and Call-In. 
The general OSC could also have (for example, two) standing 
T&FPs as detailed in the first option. 

These are models currently used in other authorities. Option 1 was preferred by 
CRG on the basis that it would provide more effective scrutiny and overview with 
tighter criteria, a higher-level strategic focus and streamline the Committee 
structure freeing up Member and Officer time to modernise the Council’s 
decision-making processes.  A chart showing the current and proposed scrutiny 
structures is attached at Appendix 8. It is not proposed that the call-in 
arrangements by the OSC will change and members will still have the right to 
call-in any Cabinet decisions within the current timescales. 

3.11 As there is now no requirement to hold an annual council meeting, it is 
recommended that these arrangements are put into place once approved by 
Council. This report recommends that CRG is delegated with the authority to 
agree the final operational agreements for the OSC. 

3.12 The arrangements will be trialled until the new 2021/22 Municipal Year. The new 
Committee will have 13 Members politically proportionate with the Chairman 
(Administration Member) and Vice-Chairman (Opposition Member) appointed 
and the proposed appointments are set out in Appendix 9 to this report. The 
meeting cycle of the OSC will reflect the current cycle of 5 meetings in the 
municipal year, with the ability to mobilise time limited T&FPs, as required. 

3.13 T&FPs would be set up by the OSC as and when required rather than as be 
established as standing bodies with a minimum of 5 Members, politically 
proportionate, with an Opposition Chairman. Membership of T&FPs can include 
any non-executive member of the council. 

3.14 The current call-in procedure will not change. 

Page 31



Cabinet decisions are published within three working days of a meeting and 
those that involve expenditure over £100,000 can be called-in by at least a 
quarter of OSC Members within four working days.  Either a special OSC 
meeting will be convened within three working days of the call-in request to 
consider the item, or it will be placed on the Agenda of the next available 
meeting, depending on which is the earlier. 

As part of the operational arrangements, CRG will consider how best to build 
effective scrutiny much earlier into the executive decision-making process.  

One option may be to consider the possible involvement of the new Scrutiny 
Chairman at Group Leaders’ meetings or having regular meetings with Cabinet 
Members to discuss key proposals such as policy development, business 
planning and budget setting.  

This would assist and enable the OSC to determine key items for scrutiny in 
setting its work programme and for the executive to be held to account more 
effectively. 

3.15 There would be no limit on the number of T&FPs set up during the Municipal 
Year, however these would be time-limited to two months in their scrutiny 
timetable with only two or three T&FPs ongoing at any one time.  The parent 
OSC would consider topics both for scrutiny and policy review mobilising T&FPs 
as necessary. 

3.16 Information currently contained in reports “for noting” would not go to the new 
Committee to free up more time and focus for strategic OSC meetings.  However, 
it was considered important by CRG that Members retained oversight of 
operational activities and it was suggested that such information could be made 
available to them in a different way.  In the longer term this could be through an 
“information hub”, the mechanisms of which could be worked out by Officers in 
consultation with CRG. In the meantime, the functionality of Mod.gov could be 
improved so that information was accessible to Members and could be used in 
the first instance, as well as email updates and the Members Bulletin.  

3.17 Reporting on performance would need to be revised under the new structures, so 
that OSC could operate at a strategic level.  

Currently key performance indicators (KPIs) go to OSCs for consideration in 
accordance with each OSC’s terms of reference. CRG Members observed that 
there was little rationale to this, as some KPIs could be of interest to all Members 
and were cross-cutting. With all KPIs allocated to a single OSC, this would avoid 
the risk of duplication. It was suggested that one option was that a refined list of 
KPIs could be considered in a different way by the new OSC. Options will be put 
forward to CRG to agree as part of the operational arrangements for the new 
OSC. 

In the meantime, all agreed KPIs in the core suite would continue to go to the 
quarterly Performance Clinics and those not meeting their targets would by 
exception be reported to Cabinet.  Members would have the opportunity to check 
Committee packs and Call-In any decisions if necessary. 

Page 32



All other KPIs could go into the information area for Members to note, until a 
piece of work on refining them had been carried out. It is proposed that a report 
from the Head of Policy and Culture as to options could be brought to the next 
meeting of CRG for consideration. This will include options on how Members 
could also consider how service papers and key partners’ performance 
indicators, currently being sent to OSCs for oversight, could be reported.  

3.18 Once the operational arrangements have been agreed for the new OSC, these 
changes would be trialled for one year with a report being brought back to 
Council via CRG in early 2021.  The detailed changes to these procedures would 
be implemented by Officers working with Members. 

3.19 CRG will continue to review the remainder of the Constitution including 
Development Management Committee and Parish/Town Councils, Key 
Performance Indicators, Outward Facing Functions – Public Engagement, 
Contract Procedure Rules, Financial Procedure Rules and Budget and Policy 
Framework Procedure Rules, together with options for a new format. CRG will 
carry on with this detailed work in the new Municipal Year. 

3.20 Proposed standing orders for virtual meetings- The Local Authorities and 
Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authorities and Police 
and Crime Panel Meetings (England and Wales) Regulations 2020 (“the 
Regulations”) came into force on 4th April 2020 to enable councils to conduct 
necessary business by way of remote committee meetings during this current 
public health emergency. The effect of the Regulations is to insert effectively 
mandatory standing orders for those authorities that wish to hold meetings 
remotely. 

3.21 These standing orders exist only on a temporary basis, having effect between 4th 
April 2020 and 7th May 2021. Whilst these standing orders have an automatic 
effect, it is considered good practice to adopt these (and any other standing 
orders required to facilitate the technologies employed by each authority) 
formally and at the earliest opportunity. Proposed standing orders for this council 
to facilitate remote committee meetings are set out in Appendix 13 to this report. 

Implications 

4 Legal Implication(s) 

4.1 Section 9P of the Local Government Act 2000 (as amended) requires a local 
authority to prepare and keep up to date a Constitution.  

4.2 There is also Government Guidance ‘ DETR New Council Constitutions Local 
Government Act 2000 Guidance to English Local Authorities’ 

4.3 A Constitution Direction was issued by the Secretary of State, ‘DETR Local 
Government Act 2000 (Constitutions) (England) Direction 2000’, requiring around 
80 matters to be included within council Constitutions. These are prescribed 
matters that must be included in a local authority’s Constitution. 

4.4 These documents should be read in the context of superceding legislation 
including the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 and 
Localism Act 2011. 

Page 33



4.5 The Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of 
Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panel Meetings (England and Wales) 
Regulations 2020 ( “the Regulations”) came into force on 4th April 2020 under 
section 78 of the Coronavirus Act 2020 to enable councils to conduct necessary 
business by way of remote committee meetings during this current public health 
emergency. The effect of the Regulations is to insert effectively mandatory 
standing orders for those authorities that wish to hold meetings remotely. The 
Regulations are effective between 4th April 2020 and 7th May 2021. 

4.6 Chief Executive’s urgency powers- the coronavirus pandemic has highlighted the 
need for the Chief Executive to have delegated power to exercise all and any 
necessary decisions of the council in the event of urgency or emergency, where 
the Leader of the Council is unable to do so. This is a provision in most other 
councils’ constitutions but is currently not provided for in this council. It is 
recommended that this urgency power is expressly included in this council’s 
constitution. 

4.7 Section 85 of the Local Government Act 1972 provides that if a member of a 
local authority fails throughout a period of six consecutive months from the date 
of his last attendance to attend any meeting of the authority, he shall, unless the 
failure was due to some absence approved by the authority before the expiry of 
that period, cease to be a member of that authority.  

5 Financial Implication(s) 

5.1 Members’ Allowances Scheme- Special Responsibility Allowances (SRAs) for 
OSC Chairmen have already been set by Council. This will continue to apply to 
the new OSC. Council has already resolved for an overall wider review to be 
carried out on Members’ Allowances later on in the year. 

5.2 The engagement of the Centre for Public Scrutiny (CfPS) in this process has cost 
£4950 in total which includes writing new rules of procedure for scrutiny. 

5.3 No other direct financial implications although there has and continues to be a 
substantial call on Officer(s) time to service the CRG, draft, re-draft and produce 
any major re-writes to the procedures within the Constitution. 

 

6 Risk Management Implications 

6.1 The risks related to this proposal are: 

6.1.1 Risk: Reputational - proposed changes may not meet everyone’s requirements 
resulting in possible adverse publicity  
Assessment: Medium  
Mitigating Actions: Consider if consultation at appropriate stages may assist. 

6.1.2 Risk: Reputational - Council fails to take the opportunity to modernise the 
Constitution.   
Assessment: Medium  
Mitigating Actions: Officers to continue work to with CRG and Group Leaders to 
help devise and adopt a modern Constitution. 

Page 34



7 Security and Terrorism Implication(s) 

7.1 Members are obliged to consider security and terrorism implications when 
making decisions and any proposed changes to committee structures and 
reporting processes need to ensure such considerations can continue to be 
made. 

8 Procurement Implication(s) 

8.1 The Centre for Public Scrutiny was engaged in the review of scrutiny.  There are 
no other direct procurement implications arising from the content of this report. 

9 Climate Change Implication(s) 

9.1 A streamlined scrutiny process which succeeds in reducing the number of 
meetings, number of agenda items and amount of pages in reports will lead to a 
reduction in the carbon footprint of these meetings through less paper, ink and 
fuel use for those having to attend.  

10 Human Resources Implication(s) 

10.1 There is a substantial call on Officer(s) time to service committees and panels 
including time to draft and produce any major re-writes to the procedures within 
the Constitution. Ultimately, a reduction in the number of OSCs should overall 
reduce the officer time necessary in reporting and servicing the committees. 

11 Health and Wellbeing Implication(s) 

11.1 There are no specific identified health and wellbeing implications directly arising 
from the content of this report. 

12 Communication and Engagement Implication(s) 

12.1 Overview and Scrutiny Committees are one of the prime public faces of the 
council; improving the procedure and making it more accessible to the public will 
strengthen the effectiveness, impact and profile of the scrutiny process.  

13 Link to Corporate Priorities 

13.1 A modernised and updated Constitution will support the Council’s corporate 
priorities corporate and the peer challenge action plan. 

14 Equality and Diversity 

14.1 I confirm that an Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has not been carried out in 
connection with the proposals that are set out in this report as it is not currently 
required.  

14.2 However, an EIA may be required when a certain part of the Constitution is 
reviewed e.g. ‘a description of the rights and responsibilities of inhabitants of the 
authority's area’ or ‘a description of the arrangements the authority has in place 
for access of the public, members of the authority and officers of the authority to 
meetings of the authority’ and the need for an EIA will be considered at the 
relevant time. 

Page 35



 
Name of author Alison Marston 01707 357413 
Title Governance Services Manager 
Date 21 April 2020 
 
Appendix 1 - CRG Minutes of 5 March  

Appendix 2 - Cabinet Functions 

Appendix 3 – Cabinet Procedure Rules 

Appendix 4 – Code of Conduct and Social Media Protocol 

Appendix 5 – Executive Member Decision Notices 

Appendix 6 – Extract from Contract Procedure Rules 

Appendix 7 – Access to Information Procedure Rules  

Appendix 8 – Officer Responsibility for Functions 

Appendix 9 – Note Explaining Summary of Constitutional Changes 

Appendix 10 – Chart Showing Current and Proposed Scrutiny Structures 

Appendix 11 - Appointments to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Appendix 12 - Amended timetable of council meetings for Municipal Year 2020/21 

Appendix 13 - Standing Orders for Virtual Meetings 

Page 36



-1- 
 

Constitution Review Group Appendix 1 

5 March 2020 
 

 
 

WELWYN HATFIELD COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the CONSTITUTION REVIEW GROUP held on Thursday 5 
March 2020 at 7.00 pm in the Chestnut Board Room, Campus East, Welwyn Garden 
City, Herts, AL8 6AE 

 
PRESENT: Councillors T.Kingsbury (Chairman) 

F.Thomson (Vice-Chairman) 
 

  M.Cowan, G.Hayes, K.Thorpe and S.Wrenn 
 

 
OFFICIALS 
PRESENT: 

Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance) (N. 
Long) 
Head of Law and Administration and Monitoring Officer (M.Martinus) 
Governance Services Manager (G.Seal) 
Principal Governance Officer (A.Marston) 
Governance Services Officer (H.Johnson) 

 

 
28. SUBSTITUTIONS OF MEMBERS 

 
There was no substitution of Members.  
 

29. APOLOGIES 
 
An apology for absence was received from Councillor J.Caliskan. 
 

30. MINUTES 
 
The minutes of the last meeting held on 20 January 2020 were approved as a 
correct record.  
 

31. REVIEW OF SCRUTINY 
 
The report of the Head of Law and Administration (and Monitoring Officer) 
summarised the feedback from Members who attended the scrutiny workshop 
sessions on 20 February 2020 and set out some draft proposals for the revision 
of scrutiny for consideration. 
 
The revision of the Constitution including the scrutiny process was at the heart of 
the modernisation programme. The proposals for scrutiny suggested a possible 
reduction in the number of Overview and Scrutiny Committees (OSC) to be held 
from the new civic year in May 2020, on a trial basis. Two options were proposed 
as detailed in the report.   
 

Page 37



-2- 
 

Constitution Review Group Appendix 1 

5 March 2020 
 

 
 

Option 1 - Establish a single OSC with (two or three) standing Task and Finish 
panels (T&FP) to be mobilised as requested by the parent OSC. No more than 
two should be active at any one time and their scrutiny should be time limited to 
conduct a specific scrutiny within a set period e.g two months.  Set a target for a 
total number of in-depth scrutinies per year e.g. two or three. Panel Chairs of 
T&FPs to be appointed at the start of the year.  
 
Option 2- Establish two OSCs, one specifically for Policy Review and Call-In. 
The general OSC could also have (e.g. two) standing T&FPs as detailed in the 
first option.   

  
 
Policy Review 
 
Members agreed that it would be useful to map out annual policies that could 
come forward on a regular basis and to show an example of where a policy went 
to under the current arrangements and where it would go to under the new 
structure.  If policies were simply being updated these could go directly to a 
Cabinet member for a decision, under Portfolio Holder Decision Notices. Under 
the first option, policy review could be undertaken by one of the time-limited 
T&FPs as and when required. 
 
Information Area 
 
Information currently contained in reports “for noting” would no longer go to OSC 
to free up more time and focus for strategic oversight at OSC meetings.  
 
However, it was considered by Constitution Review Group (CRG) members 
important that all Members ought to retain oversight of operational activities and 
it was suggested that such information would be made available to them.  

Page 38



-3- 
 

Constitution Review Group Appendix 1 

5 March 2020 
 

 
 

 
Members suggested that, longer term, this could be through an “information 
hub”, the mechanisms of which could be worked out by Officers, in consultation 
with CRG members. In the meantime, the functionality of Mod.gov could be 
improved so that information was accessible to Members and could be used in 
the first instance, as well as email updates and the Members Bulletin.  
 
Other ideas for the information hub included:  
  
- Showing information according to ward. 
- Showing how many times a file had been viewed by members 
- Having five days for Members to respond to the information in terms of 

asking questions to Officers. 
- Feeding back information to Members from Officers.  
- The requirement of a mechanism to highlight red flags to an Executive 

Member. 
 
Revised terms of reference 
 
The revised terms of reference for the new OSC should include clear objectives 
when agreeing what items should be specifically scrutinised. For example, the 
following criteria could be applied by the OSC: high impact, high value, high risk, 
and/ or significant public interest. Improved “gate keeping” by the OSC Chair and 
OSC councillors could lead to more effective and efficient scrutiny.  
 
Mandatory items 
 
There was a discussion about where mandatory items that currently went to the 
three OSCs would go under the revised structure.  For example, items related to 
the statutory Crime Disorder Reduction Partnership (CDRP) and reports on Anti-
Social Behaviour (ASB) currently went to the Social Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee (SOSC).   Officers suggested that under a revised new structure it 
could go to another regulatory committee, such as Licensing. Officers agreed to 
carry out a benchmarking exercise with other authorities to this regard before 
any changes were implemented as part of these trial arrangements.  
 
KPIs 
 
Reporting on performance would need to be revised under the new structures, 
so that OSC could operate at a strategic level. It was prudent however that 
Members still retained operational oversight, as indicated above by CRG 
members.   
 

 Currently KPIs went to all three OSCs. CRG members observed that 
there was little rationale to this, as some KPIs could be of interest to all 
members and could be cross-cutting. There could be duplications. It was 
suggested that one option was that a refined list of KPIs could go to the 
Audit Committee  with a review of  the suggested name of the Audit 

Page 39



-4- 
 

Constitution Review Group Appendix 1 

5 March 2020 
 

 
 

Committee to “Audit and Performance” and revision of its terms of 
reference.   

 The process could be streamlined, as currently some KPIs went to CHP, 
SOSC and then Cabinet.  

 It would be useful to clarify which KPIs were set internally or nationally.  

 It would be useful to reduce the number of KPIs that were brought to 
Members attention, for example to 25.   

 The ability to look at trends required improvement - Officers could provide 
comparative year on year figures.   

 
In order not to hold back the Group making recommendations to Full Council 
with regards to the revised structure, it was agreed that in the meantime 
noteworthy KPIs (and those that had not met their target) would continue to go to 
Performance Clinics and Cabinet.  Members would have the opportunity to 
check the committee packs and Call-In any decisions if necessary.   
 
All other KPIs would go into the information area for Members to note, until a 
piece of work on refining the KPIs had been carried out.   A report from the Head 
of Policy and Culture and the Senior Performance and Strategy Officer could be 
brought to the next meeting of CRG. 
 
Public Engagement 
 
With a more streamlined agenda and targeted T&FPs it would be easier to plan 
and improve public engagement in the democratic process. The use of social 
media for these purposes was discussed. 
 
The group were of the view that holding public meetings at other venues across 
the borough was not required but a decision to hold meetings in the community 
would be up to the Chairman of OSC.  
 
A Member raised a concern about the very tight deadline for registering public 
questions, which was currently five clear working days. 
 
When to involve scrutiny in decision making process? 
 
It was suggested that the Chairman of OSC could attend Group Leader 
meetings, and Cabinet members could meet the Chairman of OSC earlier on in 
the decision-making process to discuss key proposals including the business 
plan and budget setting.  
 
Training and culture 
 
It was agreed that if the trial was agreed, it was important that further Member 
Development and Officer training with regards to scrutiny be arranged.  
 
Trial period  
 

Page 40



-5- 
 

Constitution Review Group Appendix 1 

5 March 2020 
 

 
 

Officers suggested that the revised structure could run for a year. Following the 
trial, a report could then be brought back to Full Council at the end of the year 
via the Constitution Review Group.  
 
Scrutiny Model 
 
The Group was of the view that Option 1 was preferable but with several 
amendments:  
 

 The Parent OSC would have thirteen Members and be politically 
proportionate in composition.   

 The Chairman would be selected at the start of the year at the Annual 
Council meeting and be a member of the Administration with the vice-
chairman being from the Opposition.  

 Instead of standing T&FPs, T&FPs would be set up as and when required 
with a minimum of five members with an opposition Chairman.  

 There would be no limit on the number of T&FPs set up during the 
municipal year, however these would be time-limited to two months in its 
scrutiny timetable with only two or three T&FPs ongoing at any one time.  

 The Parent OSC would consider topics both for scrutiny and policy review 
mobilising T&FPs as necessary.  

 
Determining Agendas  
 
After discussions about how agendas were to be set, it was proposed that the 
OSC Chair would, in the first instance, liaise in advance with Governance 
Services in identifying possible items of business for each meeting. This would 
then be discussed and agreed at each meeting with the OSC members and any 
member wishing to bring other matters forward could also discuss that at the 
meeting. The OSC would also agree in what instances T&FPs were to be set up.  
 
CRG Members were in agreement that the proposed changes could lead to a 
much more modernised, efficient, focussed and effective overview and scrutiny 
function. They were happy to recommend these proposed changes to Council for 
agreement.  
 
AGREED:  
 

(1) The Constitution Review Group recommend to Council on 23 March 2020: 
 

a. That one single Overview and Scrutiny Committee (OSC) 
(consisting of thirteen members) be established to replace the 
current three Overview and Scrutiny committees. The OSC could 
set up time-limited Task and Finish Panels (T&FPs) (consisting of a 
minimum of five members) as and when required, to consider 
matters for scrutiny as well as for policy review.  That there would 
be no more than two or three T&FPs running at any one time. The 

Page 41



-6- 
 

Constitution Review Group Appendix 1 

5 March 2020 
 

 
 

new arrangements would take effect from the new Council year 
2020/21. 

 
b. That delegated authority be given to the Monitoring Officer to make 

any consequential changes to the Constitution, in consultation with 
the Members of the Constitutional Review Group, the Corporate 
Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance) and the 
Chief Executive.  

 
c. That the proposed changes be trialled for one year with a report 

being brought back to Full Council via the Constitution Review 
Group in early 2021.  

 
32. RESPONSIBILITY FOR FUNCTIONS - OFFICER AMENDMENTS 

 
The Group received the annual amendments proposed by Officers to their 
individual delegations set out within Part 3 of the Constitution.  
 
Officers had used track changes on the relevant sections in the Constitution to 
show the proposed changes and a clear copy was also provided.  Most of the 
changes were to improve clarity and there were no substantive proposed 
changes. 
 
There was a discussion about the delegated powers for planning, and the need 
to streamline items that went to the Development Management Committee. 
Currently where “a major objection has been received from a local town or parish 
council” applications could be presented to DMC, even if there had been no 
objections from residents. Members agreed that it created a disproportionate 
response, where DMC would spend as much time considering an application for 
a porch, fence or dormer window as on a major housing development. 
 
CRG asked for the Head of Planning to report separately on this matter to a 
future meeting.  
 

AGREED: 
 

(1) That the Constitution Review Group agree to the proposed changes to 
the individual delegation of functions to Officers as outlined in tracked 
documents. 
 

(2) That the Constitution Review Group recommend to Council on 23 
March 2020 that these proposed changes are agreed and to the 
necessary changes made to the Constitution.  

 
33. FORMAT OF THE CONSTITUTION 

 
The Principal Governance Officer delivered a presentation to the Group on 
options for a new format for the Constitution. 
 

Page 42



-7- 
 

Constitution Review Group Appendix 1 

5 March 2020 
 

 
 

AGREED:  
 
(1) That the Constitution Review Group note that the new format of the  

Constitution would  aim to be accessible, searchable, online and in 
accordance with best practice.  

 
34. WORK PROGRAMME 

 
The Group considered the work programme and dates of further meetings to 
cover the following work: - 
 

 DMC and parish/town councils 

 KPIs 

 Outward Facing Functions – Public Engagement 

 Contract Procedure Rules 

 Financial Procedure Rules 

 Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules 
 
Meeting ended at 9.01pm 
HJ 

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Revised    68 
November 2019 Part 3: RESPONSIBILITY FOR FUNCTIONS 

Section1: COUNCIL/CABINET/COMMITTEES/PANELS/BOARDS/GROUPS 

RESPONSIBILITY FOR EXECUTIVE FUNCTIONS 
 

WHO IS 
RESPONSIBLE 

MEMBERSHIP EXECUTIVE FUNCTIONS DELEGATION OF FUNCTIONS 

Cabinet Up to 10 
Members of the 
Council to be 
determined by 
the Leader 

Executive Functions are all functions that are not reserved by law to 
Council.   

These include:- 

1. Review and approval of all relevant strategies, plans and 
policies that can be determined by the Executive. 

2. To drive forward and review the Corporate Objectives and 
policy programme within the policy and budgetary framework, 
shaping overall strategy, overseeing policy implementation 
and organisational performance in the round. 

3. To  consider the capital strategy and the annual budget of the 
Council and make recommendations for final approval by the 
Council. 

4. The setting of the Council tax base and approval of the NNDR 
1 form (Government return on Business Rates). 

5. To have overall responsibility for the financial administration 
and monitoring of the Council’s expenditure and income. 

6. To determine policies in relation to land acquisition and 
disposal. 

7. To work in partnership with, assist and provide leadership to 
key partners, local people and local groups to foster a sense of 
community, co-operation and pride within the Borough. 

8. To develop joint working with the Health partners, Police, 
County Council, private companies and other bodies in order 

Please see Officer Delegations 
detailed in Part 3 of this Constitution  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 

P
age 45

https://www.welhat.gov.uk/media/14403/Cabinet-Membership_chart/pdf/cabinet_membership_chart.pdf


Revised    69 
November 2019 Part 3: RESPONSIBILITY FOR FUNCTIONS 

Section1: COUNCIL/CABINET/COMMITTEES/PANELS/BOARDS/GROUPS 

WHO IS 
RESPONSIBLE 

MEMBERSHIP EXECUTIVE FUNCTIONS DELEGATION OF FUNCTIONS 

to deliver better outcomes for residents. 

9. To  consider and agree the Council's strategies under the 
Equality Act 2010 or any consequential equalities legislation. 

10. To promote health and wellbeing in the Borough. 

11. To promote community safety in the Borough. 

12. To promote high quality and adequate housing, particularly  
affordable housing, within the Borough. 

13. To drive forward the Council’s corporate environmental 
strategy and organisation wide approach to the environment. 

14. To promote favourable transportation and infrastructure 
policies for the borough. 

15. To  provide the strategic direction, provision, management and 
improvement of all Borough leisure facilities and services and 
work in partnership with all relevant external partners. 

16. To be responsible for the formulation of the Council’s planning 
strategies for the Council and make appropriate 
recommendation to Council for adoption of the Local Plan. 

17. To approve the policies and administration of the Welwyn 
Garden City Estate Management Scheme. 

16. To promote economic development and investment to the 
borough to achieve, in partnership with others, a buoyant and 
robust local economy, with steady and sustainable 
development. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cabinet Housing 
Panel 

As determined 
by the Leader.  

1. To work on the development of strategies, policies and plans 
relating to operational and strategic housing functions and 

Please see Officer Delegations 
detailed in Part 3 of this 

P
age 46



 
Revised    70 
November 2019 Part 3: RESPONSIBILITY FOR FUNCTIONS 

Section1: COUNCIL/CABINET/COMMITTEES/PANELS/BOARDS/GROUPS 

WHO IS 
RESPONSIBLE 

MEMBERSHIP EXECUTIVE FUNCTIONS DELEGATION OF FUNCTIONS 

And to include 
co-opted 
members 
consisting of two 
Tenants Panel 
Representatives 
and two 
Independent 
Representatives 
(professionals in 
housing and 
development) 

make recommendations to Cabinet in relation to the adoption of 
such strategies, policies and plans. 

2. To consider the results of performance reports in relation to the 
provision of services to tenants and leaseholders and the repair 
and maintenance of housing properties and make 
recommendations to Cabinet as appropriate in the light of 
performance. 

3. To monitor progress of the Housing and Homelessness 
Strategy and other related strategies and plans. 

4. To consider reports arising from the scrutiny of housing 
operations as tabled by the Borough’s Tenants Panel and make 
recommendations to Cabinet on service improvements 
identified through this scrutiny process. 

5. To consider reports from the council’s housing company 
against its business plan targets and make any appropriate 
recommendations to Cabinet. 

6. To agree responses to consultations where relevant. 

Constitution. 

 

Cabinet 
Planning and 
Parking Panel 

As determined 
by the Leader. 

1. To work on the development of strategies, policies and plans 
relating to planning and transportation matters and make 
recommendations to Cabinet in relation to the adoption of such 
strategies, policies and plans. In doing so, to consider the 
results of any sustainability appraisal report of such policies 
and plans where relevant and the results of any public 
consultation. 

2. To evaluate and submit representations to planning documents 
(through officers) prepared by other local planning authorities, 

Please see Officer Delegations 
detailed in Part 3 of this 
Constitution. 

P
age 47



Revised    71 
November 2019 Part 3: RESPONSIBILITY FOR FUNCTIONS 

Section1: COUNCIL/CABINET/COMMITTEES/PANELS/BOARDS/GROUPS 

WHO IS 
RESPONSIBLE 

MEMBERSHIP EXECUTIVE FUNCTIONS DELEGATION OF FUNCTIONS 

statutory bodies and non-statutory bodies on county-wide 
minerals plans, waste plans, transport plans, infrastructure 
plans and other plans. 

3. To consider the results of the Annual Monitoring Report 
including progress in meeting the key milestones in the Local 
Development Scheme and to make recommendations to the 
Cabinet as appropriate in the light of the Annual Monitoring 
Report. 

4. To agree responses to consultations where relevant. 

Grants Board As determined 
by the Leader. 

1. Acting in accordance with the Council’s budget provision for 
grants and the Community Grants Policy, to allocate small 
community grants, recognition awards to young persons in the 
borough and make recommendations to Cabinet for the 
allocation of larger annual grants.  

 

Cabinet Grants 
Appeals 
Committee  

3 Members of 
the Cabinet as 
determined by 
the Leader. 

1. To determine appeals from applicants turned down for grant aid 
by Officers. 

2. To hear and determine appeals from organisations that are 
entitled to make personal representations, if they believe the 
decisions taken by the Business Rate Section are unjust or 
they believe they have additional information which may 
increase their entitlement to rate relief. 

 

Campus West 
Cabinet Panel 

As determined 
by the Leader. 

To recommend to Cabinet:- 

1. The setting of a three year investment programme with an 
accompanying Strategy, and develop an indicative five to ten 

Please see Officer Delegations 
detailed in Part 3 of this 
Constitution. 

P
age 48



 
Revised    72 
November 2019 Part 3: RESPONSIBILITY FOR FUNCTIONS 

Section1: COUNCIL/CABINET/COMMITTEES/PANELS/BOARDS/GROUPS 

WHO IS 
RESPONSIBLE 

MEMBERSHIP EXECUTIVE FUNCTIONS DELEGATION OF FUNCTIONS 

years Business Plan for Campus West. 

2. Proposals for the enhancing of Campus West’s reputation as a 
well regarded provider of arts and leisure services in the 
Borough, so the business is seen to be both community minded 
and commercially sensitive. 

Welwyn Garden 
City Estate 
Management 
Panel 

As determined 
by the Leader, 
ideally selected 
from members 
within the 
Welwyn Garden 
City wards. 

1. To consider appeals against the refusal of Welwyn Garden City 
Estate Management Consent where the applicant is not in 
agreement with the decision and negotiation has proved 
ineffective. 

2. To consider enforcement and further action under the Welwyn 
Garden City Estate Management Scheme.   

Please see Officer Delegations 
detailed in Part 3 of this 
Constitution. 

General 
Procurement 
Board 

As determined 
by the Leader. 

1. To consider the level of member involvement for all contracts 
with a total value of £100,000 or more – these being the 
contracts that have to be agreed by Cabinet. 

2. The Procurement Manager, with the input of the service 
manager will provide a briefing report to the General 
Procurement Board outlining the scope of the contract, 
especially detailing any direct public interface as well as the 
proposed duration, estimated value and likely procurement 
route. 

3. With the input of the Portfolio Holder for the service and Vice-
Chairman on the Board to consider if: 

a) the project will be monitored by the Board 

b) a specific Member Procurement Board should be 

Please see Officer Delegations 
detailed in Part 3 of this 
Constitution. 

P
age 49



Revised    73 
November 2019 Part 3: RESPONSIBILITY FOR FUNCTIONS 

Section1: COUNCIL/CABINET/COMMITTEES/PANELS/BOARDS/GROUPS 

WHO IS 
RESPONSIBLE 

MEMBERSHIP EXECUTIVE FUNCTIONS DELEGATION OF FUNCTIONS 

established for the project. 

c) the project will have no member involvement (except 
for consideration of award of Contract by the Cabinet) 

4. If there is decision to set up an individual Member Procurement 
Board, then the Cabinet should consider this and nominate 
representatives and agree the terms of reference for that 
Board. 

5. If the procurement is monitored by the General Procurement 
Board it will: 

a) agree the evaluation criteria for the stages 

b) receive a tender evaluation report 

c) agree the recommendation to the Cabinet on award of 
contract 

d) provide a strategic overview over relevant 
procurements and make any necessary 
recommendations to the Cabinet 

6. If availability for meetings is likely to cause delay to the 
process, decisions can be made by exchange of emails 
between all relevant parties. 

 

P
age 50



 

Revised    74 
November 2019 Part 3: RESPONSIBILITY FOR FUNCTIONS 

Section2: RESPONSIBILITY FOR LOCAL CHOICE FUNCTIONS 

RESPONSIBILITY FOR LOCAL CHOICE FUNCTIONS 
 

FUNCTION DECISION 
MAKING BODY 

MEMBERSHIP DELEGATION OF FUNCTIONS 

Any functions relating to 
contaminated land 

Cabinet Up to 10 Members of the Council to 
be determined by the Leader 

Head of Public Health and Protection with 
full power to act unless a key decision. 

The discharge of any function relating 
to the control of pollution or the 
management of air quality 

Cabinet Up to 10 Members of the Council to 
be determined by the Leader 

Head of Public Health and Protection with 
full power to act unless a key decision. 

The service of an abatement notice in 
respect of a statutory nuisance 

Cabinet Up to 10 Members of the Council to 
be determined by the Leader  

Head of Public Health and Protection with 
full power to act unless a key decision 

The passing of a resolution that 
Schedule 2 to the Noise and 
Statutory Nuisance Act 1993 should 
apply in the Council’s area 

Council 48 Members of the Council None 

The inspection of the Council’s area 
to detect any statutory nuisance 

Cabinet Up to 10 Members of the Council to 
be determined by the Leader 

Head of Public Health and Protection with 
full power to act 

The investigation of any complaint as 
to the existence of a statutory 
nuisance 

Cabinet Up to 10 Members of the Council to 
be determined by the Leader 

Head of Public Health and Protection with 
full power to act 

The obtaining of information under 
Section 330 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as to interests in 
land 

Cabinet Up to 10 Members of the Council to 
be determined by the Leader 

Corporate Director (Public Protection, 
Planning and Governance) and Head of 
Planning 

P
age 51



 

Revised    75 
November 2019 Part 3: RESPONSIBILITY FOR FUNCTIONS 

Section2: RESPONSIBILITY FOR LOCAL CHOICE FUNCTIONS 

FUNCTION DECISION 
MAKING BODY 

MEMBERSHIP DELEGATION OF FUNCTIONS 

The obtaining of particulars of 
persons interested in land under 
Section 16 of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 

Cabinet Up to 10 Members of the Council to 
be determined by the Leader 

Corporate Directors and Heads of Service 

Making appointments to outside 
bodies in respect of non executive 
functions  

Council 48 Members of the Council None 

Making appointments to outside 
bodies in respect of executive 
functions 

Cabinet Up to 10 Members of the Council to 
be determined by the Leader 

Leader 

 
 

P
age 52



 

Revised    185 
November 2019  

 
Part 4: RULES AND PROCEDURES 

Section5: CABINET PROCEDURE RULES 

Section 5: CABINET PROCEDURE RULES 

1 WHO MAKES EXECUTIVE DECISIONS 

1.1 Cabinet exercises all executive decisions either collectively or through sub-
committees, panels, individual Cabinet Members or Officers. 

1.2 The Cabinet will take all Key Decisions collectively unless the matter is 
urgent.  

1.3 Individual Cabinet Members can take individual delegated decisions as set 
out in these rules or Key Decisions where the decision required is urgent. 

1.4 Officers can take individual delegated decisions as delegated to them by 
Cabinet and as set out within this Constitution. 

2 EXECUTIVE FUNCTIONS 

2.1 The responsibility for the exercise of executive functions are set out in Part 3 
of this Constitution  

3 SUB-DELEGATION OF EXECUTIVE FUNCTIONS 

3.1 The Cabinet may delegate its functions to a Cabinet Member, a Cabinet 
Committee or Panel, an Officer or under joint arrangements.  

3.2 Unless the Cabinet directs otherwise, a Cabinet Sub-Committee or Panel to 
whom functions have been delegated may delegate further to an Officer. 

3.3 Even where executive functions have been delegated, that fact does not 
prevent the discharge of delegated functions by the person or body that 
delegated them. 

4 CHANGES TO THE COUNCIL’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FUNCTIONS IN 
RELATION TO EXECUTIVE FUNCTIONS 

4.1 The Leader of the Cabinet may amend the Responsibility for Functions 
relating to executive functions at any time during the Municipal Year. The 
Leader will write to the Governance Services Manager to set out the extent 
of the amendment. The Governance Services Manager will present a report 
to the next ordinary meeting of the Council setting out the changes made by 
the Leader. 

4.2 Where the Cabinet seeks to withdraw or change delegations to a Sub-
Committee of Panel, this will take effect following notification by the 
Governance Services Manager to the Council at its next meeting. 

 

Appendix 3 

Page 53

https://democracy.welhat.gov.uk/documents/s11008/2019.07%20pg%2052-82%20Responsibility%20for%20Council%20Cabinet%20Cttees%20Panels%20Boards%20Functions.pdf


 

Revised    186 
November 2019  

 
Part 4: RULES AND PROCEDURES 

Section5: CABINET PROCEDURE RULES 

5 CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 

5.1 Where any Member of the Cabinet has a conflict of interest in a matter, they 
should consider if they should participate in the decision making process for 
that matter. 

6 CABINET MEETINGS 

6.1 The Cabinet will meet at least six times per year at times as scheduled in 
Council’s calendar of meetings or as required. 

7 ADMISSION OF THE PUBLIC 

7.1 All Cabinet meetings will be held in public unless confidential and/or exempt 
information is being considered, where upon members of the public and 
press will be requested to leave the meeting. 

7.2 Where the sole purpose of a meeting is to receive a briefing from Officers,    
including clarification on particular matters, this will not be held in public. 

7.3 The Cabinet does not hold private meetings save to consider confidential or 
exempt information. 

8 QUORUM 

8.1 The quorum for a meeting of the Cabinet shall be one quarter of the total 
number of Members of the Cabinet, or three, whichever is the larger. 

9 DECISION TAKING 

9.1 Executive decisions which are Key Decisions will be taken by the Cabinet as 
a whole at a meeting, in accordance with the rules set out in the Constitution 
save as to urgent decisions. 

10 PUBLIC QUESTIONS/SPEAKING 

10.1 Members of the public may ask a question or request to speak at a Cabinet 
meeting or panel. 

10.2 The question or request to speak must be submitted in writing either by post 
or email and received by the Governance Services Manager no later than 
12.00 noon, five clear working days before the meeting. 

10.3 The name and address of the questioner/speaker must be provided and only 
one request may be submitted by each member of the public or on behalf of 
one organisation. 

Page 54



 

Revised    187 
November 2019  

 
Part 4: RULES AND PROCEDURES 

Section5: CABINET PROCEDURE RULES 

10.4 The Governance Services Manager in their absolute discretion may refuse a 
request if: 

(a) it does not relate to a matter the Cabinet has responsibility for; 

(b) it is likely to be considered defamatory, frivolous or offensive; 

(c) it is a repeat request that has previously been put to a meeting within 
the past six months to which there has been no material change of 
circumstances; or 

(d) it requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information. 

10.5 A maximum of 3 minutes per person is permitted for a question to be asked 
or to speak. Supplementary questions or statements are not allowed nor is a 
debate on the subject permitted. The total period of 30 minutes at the start of 
a meeting is allocated to public questions or speaking. 

10.6 If a written question has been submitted, but the questioner is unable to 
attend the meeting to ask the question, the answer will be read out and a 
written reply sent to the questioner after the meeting. Any question that 
cannot be dealt with during the allocated time, will be dealt with by a written 
reply to the questioner after the meeting. 

11 THE PERSON PRESIDING AT THE MEETING 

11.1 If the Leader is present they will preside. In their absence, then the Deputy 
Leader will preside. In both their absences, a person appointed as Chairman 
by those present, shall preside. 

12 PERSONS WHO MAY ATTEND 

12.1 All members of the public and press may attend a Cabinet meeting, unless 
confidential or exempt items are being considered. 

13 ORDER OF BUSINESS 

13.1 At each meeting of the Cabinet the following items of business will be 
considered:- 

(a) public question/speaking time and petitions; 

(b) consideration of the minutes of the last meeting; 

(c) declarations of interest, if any; 

(d) matters referred to the Cabinet by Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
or Council for consideration; 

(e) matters set out in the Agenda for the meeting; 

(f) urgent items at the discretion of the Leader or Chairman of the 
meeting. 

Page 55



 

Revised    188 
November 2019  

 
Part 4: RULES AND PROCEDURES 

Section5: CABINET PROCEDURE RULES 

14 ITEMS FROM THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

14.1 The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee may address the 
Cabinet on matters referred to it by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee as 
detailed in 13.1(d) above. 

14.2 The Cabinet must respond specifically to matters for consideration referred 
to it by Overview and Scrutiny Committee and, if appropriate, give reasons 
for agreeing or not agreeing with Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s 
recommendations. 

15 CONSULTATION 

15.1 Where appropriate, all reports to the Cabinet must contain details of the 
nature and extent of consultation with stakeholders and the outcome of that 
consultation. The level of consultation required will be appropriate to the 
nature of the matter under consideration. 

16 PLACING ITEMS ON CABINET AGENDAS 

16.1 Officers reporting on matters which are part of the budget or policy 
framework or are otherwise Key Decisions (as defined in Article 13.03 of this 
Constitution) can require the Governance Services Manager to place an item 
to consider such a report at the next available Cabinet meeting. 

16.2 Any Member of the Cabinet may request that the Governance Services 
Manager places an item on the Agenda of the next available meeting of the 
Cabinet for consideration.  

16.3 The Chief Executive, Monitoring Officer and/or Chief Finance Officer may 
include an item for consideration on the agenda of a Cabinet meeting and 
may require the Governance Services Manager to call such a meeting in 
pursuance of their statutory duties.  

17 CABINET SUB-COMMITTEES OR PANELS (The Panel) 

17.1 Cabinet Sub-Committees or Panels may be established by the Cabinet at 
any time to conduct the business specified by the Cabinet at the time of 
setting up the Panel. 

17.2 Their Members shall be appointed by the Leader and may include Members 
of the Cabinet. The rules of political proportionality shall be applied to their 
membership as far as is reasonably possible and group leaders will 
nominate their members to the Panel. 

17.3 The Leader shall appoint the Chairman (and Vice Chairman if required) to 
the Panel. 

Page 56



 

Revised    189 
November 2019  

 
Part 4: RULES AND PROCEDURES 

Section5: CABINET PROCEDURE RULES 

17.4 The Chairman, if present shall preside; if not present the Vice-Chairman (if 
appointed) shall preside. If there is no Chairman or Vice-Chairman present 
the Members present shall elect a person to preside. 

17.5 The date of meetings shall be set by the Cabinet or Chairman of the Panel 
as far ahead as possible and notified to Members. Dates will not be changed 
unless there is good reason to do so. 

17.6 All meetings will be open to the public and press unless the Panel decides to 
exclude such persons on specified grounds of confidential or exempt 
information. 

17.7 All Members will be permitted to attend meetings including the consideration 
of exempt or confidential information. Sensitive information may need to be 
shared in a closed session. 

17.8 The quorum for a meeting is one quarter of the Members, with a minimum of 
three. 

17.9 An Agenda and all available reports will be sent to Members at least five 
clear working days in advance of each meeting. 

17.10 Minutes of each meeting will be produced and circulated to the Panel 
Members and Cabinet. 

17.11 If any papers or proceedings of a body are declared to be confidential, 
members of the Panel shall honour that confidentiality unless they agree 
otherwise or the material becomes public in the ordinary course of business. 

17.12 Panels shall have the power to report and recommend to the Cabinet and 
may refer matters to Overview and Scrutiny Committee for comment and 
consideration. 

18 CABINET MEMBERS DELEGATED POWERS 

18.1 Cabinet Members may exercise individual delegated powers, within the remit 
of their portfolios, in the following categories: 

(a) Agreement of matters where Overview and Scrutiny Committee has 
unanimously agreed their recommendations; 

(b) Agreement of matters referred from Cabinet Panels, where the 
referral has been unanimously supported; 

(c) Responses to consultations; 

(d) Approvals, variations, extensions, assignments and/or novations to 
contracts between £100,000 to £999,999 where the contracts fall 
within the Cabinet Member’s portfolio areas, are standard or routine 
matters and where the proposed variation, extension, assignment 
and/or novation will not result in any increase to the agreed budget for 
the contract; 

Page 57



 

Revised    190 
November 2019  

 
Part 4: RULES AND PROCEDURES 

Section5: CABINET PROCEDURE RULES 

(e) Approvals for policies and strategies within the Cabinet Member’s 
portfolio are which are routine or non-controversial; 

(f) Approval of parking schemes where there is unanimous support for 
approval and/or is non-controversial; 

(g) Approval of grants as recommended by the Grants Board and where 
the matter is non-controversial and unanimously supported; 

(h) Matters of note for Cabinet that require a reference to Council as the 
decision maker; 

(i) Reserved to the Leader only- to approve the setting up of a Member 
Procurement Board on unanimous recommendation from the General 
Procurement Board, including its terms of reference and membership; 

(j) All matters of urgency, including Key Decisions. 

18.2 A Cabinet Member who has exercised an individual delegated power, must 
do so in the form of a completed Delegated Powers Decision Notice [attach 
link to template], which is to be circulated to all Members of the Council and 
published on the Council’s website (subject to the rules on confidentiality and 
exempt information). This should be done as soon as is reasonably 
practicable after the taking of the decision. 

18.3 Irrespective of the individual delegated powers available to Cabinet 
Members, they may always choose, in any circumstances, not to exercise 
their delegated powers but to refer the matter to Cabinet collectively for 
consideration and decision. 

 

Page 58



Revised  274 
November 2019 Part 5: CODES AND PROTOCOLS 

Section1: CODE OF CONDUCT FOR MEMBERS 

Section 1: CODE OF CONDUCT FOR MEMBERS 

This Code is based on the seven principles of public life, known as the “Nolan 
Principles” which are attached to this code.  

This code also recommends to Members, in so far as is practicable, to act in 
accordance with the values and behaviours of the Council, as part of the #ONETEAM 
approach.  These are also attached to this code. 

1 APPLICATION 

1.1. This Code of Conduct applies to you whenever you are acting in your 
capacity as a member of Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council, including: 

(a) at formal meetings of the Council, its Committees and Sub-
Committees, its Cabinet and Cabinet Committees 

(b) when acting as a representative of the authority 

(c) in taking any decision as a Cabinet member or a Ward Councillor 

(d) in discharging your functions as a Ward Councillor 

(e) at briefing meetings with officers  

(f) at site visits and 

(g) when corresponding with the authority other than in a  private capacity 

2 GENERAL CONDUCT 

2.1. You must: 

(a) provide leadership to the authority and communities within its area, by 
personal example and  

(b) respect others, not bully any person and you must not do anything 
which may cause your authority to breach any of the equality 
enactments 

(c) recognise that officers (other than political assistants) are employed by 
and serve the whole authority 

(d) respect the confidentiality of information which you receive as a 
member: 

 not disclosing confidential information to third parties unless 
required by law to do so or where there is a clear and over-riding 
public interest in doing so; and 

 not obstructing third parties’ legal rights of access to information 

(e) not conduct yourself in a manner which is likely to bring the authority 
into disrepute 

(f) use your position as a Member in the public interest and not for 
personal advantage  

(g) accord with the authority’s reasonable rules on the use of public 
resources for private and political purposes 

Appendix 4 

Page 59



Revised  275 
November 2019 Part 5: CODES AND PROTOCOLS 

Section1: CODE OF CONDUCT FOR MEMBERS 

(h) exercise your own independent judgement, taking decisions for good 
and substantial reasons – 

 attaching appropriate weight to all relevant considerations 
including, where appropriate, public opinion and the views of 
political groups 

 paying due regard to the advice of officers, and in particular to 
the advice of the statutory officers, namely the Head of Paid 
Service, the Chief Finance Officer and the Monitoring Officer and 

 stating the reasons for your decisions where those reasons are 
not otherwise apparent 

(i) account for your actions, particularly by supporting the authority’s 
scrutiny function 

(j) ensure that the authority acts within the law. 

3 DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS 

3.1. You must:- 

(a) comply with the statutory requirements to register, disclose and 
withdraw from participating in respect of any matter in which you have 
a disclosable pecuniary interest (as defined in the table in the 
Appendix to this code) 

(b) to notify the monitoring officer of any disclosable pecuniary interest or 
any other interest within 28 days of the adoption of this code 

(c) ensure that your register of interests is kept up to date and notify the 
Monitoring Officer in writing within 28 days of becoming aware of any 
change in respect of your disclosable pecuniary interests or other 
interests 

(d) make verbal declaration of the existence and nature of any disclosable 
pecuniary interest at any meeting at which you are present at which an 
item of business which affects or relates to the subject matter of that 
interest is under consideration, at or before the consideration of the 
item of business or as soon as the interest becomes apparent 

(e) “Meeting” means any meeting organised by or on behalf of the 
authority, including:- 

 any meeting of the Council, or a Committee or Sub-Committee of 
Council 

 any meeting of the Cabinet and any Committee of the Cabinet 

 in taking a decision as a Ward Councillor or as a Member of the 
Cabinet 

 at any briefing by officers; and 

 at any site visit to do with business of the authority 

4 OTHER INTERESTS 

4.1 In addition to the requirements of Paragraph 3, if you attend a meeting at 
which any item of business is to be considered and you are aware that you 
have a “non-disclosable pecuniary interest or non-pecuniary interest” in that 
item, you must make verbal declaration of the existence and nature of that 

Page 60



Revised  276 
November 2019 Part 5: CODES AND PROTOCOLS 

Section1: CODE OF CONDUCT FOR MEMBERS 

interest at or before the consideration of the item of business or as soon as 
the interest becomes apparent 

4.2 You have a “non-disclosable pecuniary interest or non-pecuniary interest” in 
an item of business of your authority where – 

(a) a decision in relation to that business might reasonably be regarded 
as affecting the well-being or financial standing of you or a member of 
your family or a person with whom you have a close association to a 
greater extent than it would affect the majority of the Council Tax 
payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the ward or electoral area for 
which you have been elected or otherwise of the authority’s 
administrative area, or 

(b) it relates to or is likely to affect any of the interests listed in the Table 
in the Appendix to this Code, but in respect of a member of your family 
(other than a “relevant person”) or a person with whom you have a 
close association 

and that interest is not a disclosable pecuniary interest. 

5 GIFTS AND HOSPITALITY 

5.1 You must, within twenty eight days of receipt, notify the Monitoring Officer in 
writing of any gift, benefit or hospitality with a value in excess of £50 which 
you have accepted as a Member from any person or body other than the 
authority. 

5.2 The Monitoring Officer will place your notification on a public register of gifts 
and hospitality. 

5.3 Examples of hospitality include the provision of food, drink and 
entertainment. 

5.4 You should be exercising special caution when hospitality is offered by any 
person or body seeking to obtain a pecuniary, contractual or other advantage 
from the Council. 

5.5 You should refuse offers of gifts, benefits or hospitality where the suggestion 
of improper influence is possible.  

6 SOCIAL MEDIA PROTOCOLS 

6.1 You must have due regard to any council social media protocols that apply 
and are relevant to you. 

Page 61



Revised  277 
November 2019 Part 5: CODES AND PROTOCOLS 

Section1: CODE OF CONDUCT FOR MEMBERS 

APPENDIX - DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS 

The duties to register, disclose and not to participate in respect of any matter in 
which a member has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the 
Localism Act 2011. 

Disclosable pecuniary interests are defined in the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012 as follows – 

Interest Prescribed description 

Employment, office, trade, 
profession or vacation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on 
for profit or gain. 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other 
than from the relevant authority) made or provided within the 
relevant period in respect of any expenses incurred by M in 
carrying out duties as a member, or towards the election 
expenses of M. 

This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union 
within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992). 

Contracts Any contract which is made between the relevant person (or a 
body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest) and 
the relevant authority:- 

(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works 
are to be executed; and 

(b) which has not been fully discharged. 

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the 
relevant authority. 

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the 
area of the relevant authority for a month or longer. 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to M’s knowledge):- 

(a) the landlord is the relevant authority; and 

(b) the tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a 
beneficial interest. 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where:- 

(a) that body (to M’s knowledge) has a place of business or land 
in the area of the relevant authority; and 

(b) either:- 
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 

or one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that 
body; or  

(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one 
class, the total nominal value of the shares of any one 
class in which the relevant person has a beneficial 
interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that class. 

 

Page 62



Revised  278 
November 2019 Part 5: CODES AND PROTOCOLS 

Section1: CODE OF CONDUCT FOR MEMBERS 

For this purpose – 

“the Act” means the Localism Act 2011; 

“body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest” means a firm in which 
the relevant person is a partner or a body corporate of which the relevant person is a 
director, or in the securities of which the relevant person has a beneficial interest; 

“director” includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and 
provident society; 

“land” excludes an easement, servitude, interest or right in or over land which does 
not carry with it a right for the relevant person (alone or jointly with another) to occupy 
the land or to receive income; 

“M” means a member of a relevant authority; 

“Member” includes a co-opted member;  

“relevant authority” means the authority of which M is a Member; 

“relevant period” means the period of twelve months ending with the day on which M 
gives a notification for the purposes of section 30(1) or 31(7), as the case may be, of 
the Act; 

“relevant person” means M or any other person referred to in section 30(3)(b) of the 
Act; 

“securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a 
collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and 
Markets Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money 
deposited with a building society. 

  

Page 63



Revised  279 
November 2019 Part 5: CODES AND PROTOCOLS 

Section1: CODE OF CONDUCT FOR MEMBERS 

THE NOLAN PRINCIPLES  
AND SECTION 28(1) OF THE LOCALISM ACT 2011 

 

SELFNESSNESS 

To serve only the public interest and never improperly confer an advantage or 
disadvantage on any person 

INTEGRITY 

Not to place themselves in situations where their integrity may be questioned, should 
not behave improperly and should on all occasions avoid the appearance of such 

behaviour  

OBJECTIVITY  

Make decisions on merit, including when making appointments, awarding Contracts 
or recommending individuals for rewards or benefits. 

ACCOUNTABILITY 

To be accountable to the public for their actions and the manner in which they carry 
out their responsibilities and should co-operate fully and honestly with any scrutiny 

appropriate to their Office.  

OPENNESS 

To be as open as possible about their actions and those of the Council and should be 
prepared to give reasons for those actions.  

HONESTY 

Not to place themselves in situations where their honesty may be questioned, should 
not behave improperly and should, on all occasions, avoid the appearance of such 

behaviour. 

LEADERSHIP 

Should promote and support these principles by leadership and by example and 
should always act in a way that secures or preserves public confidence.  

Page 64



 

 

P
age 65



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

1 

 

Appendix A to the Code of Conduct for Members 
 
Social Media Protocol  
 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 The Council wishes to encourage members’ use of technology and 

also provide appropriate guidance for members wishing to use social 
media in their capacity as elected members. ‘Social media’ means the 
online tools, messaging services, websites and interactive media that 
enable users to interact with each other by sharing information, 
opinions, knowledge and interests.  

  
1.2 The purpose of this protocol is to support members’ use of social 

media through the provision of guidance and clarity as to what 
constitutes acceptable usage to ensure compliance with the Council’s 
legal obligations and the general standards of conduct expected of 
members.  This protocol should therefore be read in conjunction with 
the Code of Conduct for Members.  This is found at   
https://www.welhat.gov.uk/councillors/code-of-conduct/general-conduct 

 
1.3 The use of social media poses some risks to the Council's reputation 

which need to be managed and this protocol aims to ensure that 
councillors, and through them the Council, are not exposed to legal 
risks as a result of social media use and that the reputation of 
councillors, and through them the Council, is not harmed. 

 
2. Application of the Code of Conduct for Members 
 
2.1 This protocol will apply to councillors using social media who are acting 

in their capacity as a councillor, and in circumstances where a 
councillor is purporting or perceived to be acting as such. Councillors 
are bound by the Code of Conduct set out in Section 5a of the 
Constitution. Of particular emphasis, this includes (but is not limited to) 
the following:  

 

a) Treating others with respect.  It is implicit from this that members 
should not seek to bully, harass or defame anyone via social 
media 

b) Complying with equality laws  
c) Promoting and supporting high standards of conduct 
d) Not bringing the council into disrepute  
e) Not disclosing confidential information 

 
2.2 The judgment of whether a member is perceived to be acting as a 

councillor will be made by the Monitoring Officer where required. 
Councillors should assume that any online activity may be linked to 
their official role. 

 
2.3 For the avoidance of doubt, members should consider keeping their 

personal and political accounts separate or where this is inconvenient 
use clear expressions of intent (in the content or profile of the account) 
such as ‘speaking entirely personally’ or ‘the views expressed here are 
my personal opinion’ 

Appendix 4 

Page 67



 

2 

 

 
3. Operation of this protocol by Members 
 
3.1 Examples of good practice.  Members should: 
 

a) Undertake any relevant training provided to be competent in the 
use of social media and specific platforms used (e.g. Facebook, 
Twitter, LinkedIn, Instagram, YouTube) 

b) Use secure passwords. 
c) Make use of robust privacy settings particularly if the content of 

the site is not meant to be accessed by the press or wider public.  
d) Never divulge password information to prevent ‘hacking’ and  
e) Consider using ‘multi-factor authentication which relies on the 

use of more than one secure device to access an account 
f) Read the terms of service of any social media site accessed to 

understand confidentiality/privacy settings. 
g) Pay attention to privacy settings which can (if not activated) 

divulge the physical location of a member. 
h) Be transparent as to their identity when using social media. 
i) Use social media sparingly and discreetly at meetings, 

considering the impression this presents to others. 
j) Treat others with respect and not use social media to attack, 

insult, abuse, defame or otherwise make, offensive or 
discriminatory comments about residents, council staff and 
services, other councillors and/or organisations. 

k) Set the tone for their online conversations by being polite, 
accurate and transparent. 

l) Consider carefully any posts or images that they wish to place 
on line giving themselves the opportunity to cross check and 
alter the content before the ‘send’ button is pressed.  Hasty and 
rash posts can be ill advised and may have potentially damaging 
consequences. 

m) Not leave on their web or social media pages comments made 
by others which may be equally damaging/defamatory. 

n) Acknowledge and correct any mistakes and not simply delete 
them. They should not alter previous posts without indicating 
that there has been a change. 

o) Safeguard and promote the welfare of vulnerable adults, children 
and young people in their online interactions. 

p) Be aware that social media content may be subject to Freedom 
of Information requests made to public bodies. 

q) Promote equality, not discriminate unlawfully against any 
person, and treat people with respect, regardless of their sex, 
race, age, religion, gender, sexual orientation or disability. 

r) Be mindful of people who are attempting to goad members into 
making a comment. An even-handed, reasonable and 
proportionate response is always preferable to conflict.  

s) Be cautious in requesting or accepting a Council employee or 
contractor providing services to the Council as a “friend” on a 
social networking site where this suggests close personal 
association. 

t) Take care when ‘liking’ or ‘sharing’ the views or comments of 
others as this could be perceived as an endorsement of the 
content regardless of the member’s intention.    

Page 68



 

3 

 

 
3.2 Examples of poor practice.  Members must not: 
 

a) Share their password with anyone.  If members are using shared 
IT equipment, they should not store their password on the 
device. 

b) Bully or harass anyone and not say anything, particularly if it is 
part of a series of similar comments about a person or on a 
theme that might be construed as bullying or intimidation. 

c) Pursue a campaign repeatedly against a person that is likely to 
cause alarm, harassment or distress. 

d) Do anything to jeopardise the council’s obligations under the 
Freedom of Information and Data Protection Acts, and should 
not publish the personal data of individuals unless they have 
been given their express permission. 

e) Publish an untrue statement about a person which is damaging 
to their reputation as they may pursue a libel action against the 
member. A successful libel claim could result in the award of 
damages against members. No indemnity from the Council will 
be available.   

f) Use images or text from a copyrighted source (for example 
extracts from publications or photos), without obtaining 
permission, as this has the potential to breach copyright laws. 

g) Post malicious or obscene communications. 
h) Bring the council into disrepute by publishing anything that could 

reasonably be perceived as reflecting badly upon or lowering the 
reputation of themselves or the Council. 

i) Disclose information given to them in confidence by anyone, or 
information acquired by a member who s/he believes, or ought 
reasonably to be aware, is of a confidential nature. Members 
should not write or report on conversations, meetings or matters 
that are meant to be confidential or internal to the council such 
as those held in exempt session or prior to the publication of 
reports. 

j) Engage the council's social media accounts in political 
conversations, as these accounts are managed by council 
officers for the benefit of residents and to inform them of 
services and news. Officers are not able to answer politically 
motivated questions. 

Page 69



 

4 

 

4.      Planning, Licensing or other quasi-judicial decision making 
 
4.1 Members should not say anything on social media – including via 

emails and texts – which suggests that they have made their mind up 
on an issue that is due to be formally decided. While a member’s view 
on a particular issue may be well known, they need to be able to 
demonstrate that they:  
 

a) have attended appropriate meetings  
 

b) were prepared to weigh all the evidence  
 

c) were genuinely persuadable to a different view 
 

Members should be mindful of these points in their social media 
exchanges to guard against the possibility that their decision (and that 
of the relevant committee) may be later challenged as invalid on 
grounds of predetermination or bias. If a person has suffered detriment 
as a result of such an invalid decision, this may subsequently result in 
a claim against the Council for damages.  Such a claim may refer to 
postings made by members on social media. 

 
5. The Election Period 
 
5.1 Members who use social media for campaign purposes in the run up 

local elections (the ‘regulated period’) need to acquaint themselves 
with the rules relating to the declaration and reporting of expenditure 
relating to social media use (e.g. advertising via websites, YouTube 
videos).  The Electoral Commission provides guidance for candidates 
and agents on such matters. 

 
5.2 Members should also comply with any guidance issued by the Council 

to all candidates, agents and campaigners regarding the use of social 
media at elections (e.g. Polling stations, postal vote opening sessions) 
and other advice regarding how social media should be used to comply 
with relevant statutory provisions (e.g. Representation of the People 
Act 1983) 

 
6.  Non-compliance with this protocol  
 
6.1 Complaints received by the Monitoring Officer about Members’ non 

compliance with this protocol shall be considered in accordance with 
the Code of Conduct for Members. Non-compliance with this Code may 
result in a breach of the Code. 

 
6.2 Anyone receiving threats, abuse or harassment via their use of social 

media should report it to the police.  
 
6.3 Other inappropriate content can be reported to the social media site 

where members should ask for it to be removed. 
 
7. ‘One Team’ behaviours 
 
7.1 Welwyn Hatfield Council is committed to a culture of ‘One Team’ i.e.  

Page 70



 

5 

 

‘Working together to keep Welwyn Hatfield a great place to live, work 
and study in a vibrant and growing economy’ (Business Plan). 
 

7.2 Officers (with their technical expertise) and members (with their unique 
and dynamic links to the community) are critical to the success of ‘One 
Team’ aims and objectives. 

 
7.3 When using social media, members should wherever possible reflect 

on – and be guided by the key behaviours associated with the 
achievement of ‘One Team’ success.  These ‘behaviours’ are 
published in the Council’s business plan and many of these behaviours 
are also found in the ‘Nolan Principles’ (listed in the members Conduct 
of Conduct).  When applied to members’ use of social media these 
include: 

 

a) Honesty e.g. being truthful in social media postings and 
exchanges.  This includes the avoidance of initiating or 
promoting disinformation (‘fake news’) or concealing one’s 
identity whilst using social media.  Members are reminded that 
they should ‘not place themselves in situations where their 
honesty may be questioned, not behave improperly and….avoid 
the appearance of such behaviour’ (Nolan Principles). 

 

b) Openness e.g. being open about actions and decisions (and 
that of the Council) and being prepared to give reasons where 
required – albeit in a concise format (e.g. micro blog/ twitter). 

 

c) Transparent e.g. about decisions and decision-making when 
commenting on such matters within the bounds of expected (and 
legally required) levels of confidentiality. 

 

d) Respect for the skills, knowledge and abilities of officers – even 
where members disagree with a specific officer recommendation 
– particularly when commenting on controversial issues.  Whilst 
members may well be candid and direct with their opinions and 
views, they should avoid the use of inappropriate language and 
attributing blame to individual officers who are not in a position 
to respond. 

 

e) Preparedness e.g. taking time to ensure that opinions 
expressed and information provided on social media is accurate 
- and demonstrate humility when evidence contradicts 
previously held views (personally or in the community). 

 

f) Focus on the positive opportunities afforded by using social 
media to provide a dynamic link to the views and concerns of the 
local community and in so doing: 

 

g) ‘Walk towards problems’ and challenges to  
 

h) Focus on solutions, and work together to gain consensus. 
 

i) Communicate via appropriate (e.g. local Facebook) user groups 
to demonstrate an inclusive approach and work on a ‘no 
surprises’ basis with officers, the community and other partners 
to assess community challenges, present options and advise of 
decisions. 

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 - 

 
 
EXECUTIVE MEMBER DELEGATED POWERS DECISION NOTICE 
 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 SECTION 9E 
 
 
1 DETAILS OF EXECUTIVE MEMBER TAKING THE DECISION 

 

2 TITLE OF REPORT 

 

3 DECISION TAKEN 

 

4 IF URGENT, REASONS FOR URGENCY 

 
5 DETAILS OF OTHER EXECUTIVE MEMBER(S) CONSULTED 

 

Name ____________________________ 

 Councillor [insert name] 

Signature ____________________________ 

 

Date this decision was taken  _______________________ 

Date of circulation/publication of this decision   _______________________ 

 

6 EXPLANATION/BACKGROUND 

6.1 [Please set out explanation/background] 

6.2 Legal Implications: 

6.3 Financial Implications: 

  

Appendix 5 

Page 73



- 2 - 

6.4 Risk Implications: 

6.5 Other Implications (including communications, security and terrorism, human 
resources, procurement, climate change, human rights, health and wellbeing, 
equality and diversity) 

6.6 Alternative options considered and reasons for their rejection (if any): 

 

7 BACKGROUND PAPERS USED TO INFORM THE DECISION 

7.1 [Please list] 

7.2  

8 DETAILS OF ANY MEMBERS OR OFFICERS WHO HAVE DECLARED AN 
INTEREST IN THIS MATTER AND NATURE OF ANY SUCH INTEREST AND 
ANY DISPENSATIONS GRANTED 

8.1   

9 ADDITIONAL CONFIDENTIAL OR EXEMPT INFORMATION CONSIDERED 

9.1 [Yes or No. If yes, confidential or exempt information should be included for the 
consideration of the Executive Member in taking their decision, in a separate Part 
2 report] 

 
Contact Officer: ____________________________ 

Name / Job Title 
 

_____________________________ 
Contact E-mail / Telephone Number 

Page 74



 
Revised  April 2020 

CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES – UPDATED April 2020 
 

1. PURPOSE AND SCOPE OF CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES 
 

The purpose of these Contract Procedure Rules is to ensure that any external 
procurement process for services, work or goods achieves best value and is 
transparent, open and fair making it possible for all decisions to be audited 
satisfactorily.  They must be followed every time the Council wishes to enter 
into an external contract for services, work or goods. 

 
2. PRINCIPLES OF GOOD PROCUREMENT 
 

The principles of good procurement are:- 
 
2.1 Achieving value for money and compliance with these Procedure Rules, the 

Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and European Public Procurement 
Legislation  

 
2.2 Balancing the needs of the Council and the potential contractor.  The 

procurement process should give the Council sufficient information to form a 
sound view of a potential contractor’s competence but without placing 
unreasonable burdens on them. 

 
2.3 Potential contractors should understand from the outset what categories of 

information and general standards and responsibilities will be expected of them.  
They should be provided with adequate, accurate and timely information at all 
relevant stages of the procurement process. 

 
2.4 All decisions should be based on objective measures that are justifiable in terms 

of the matters specified under the contract. 
 
2.5 All potential contractors, should be subject to the same requirements and be 

treated equally throughout the procurement process. 
 
2.6 All potential contractors should be made fully aware of the basis for evaluation 

of tenders. 
 
2.7 The Procurement Handbook gives further details on the processes behind 

delivering the principles. 
 
3. PROCUREMENT AND BEST VALUE 
 

The Council recognises the duty to achieve best value in the provision of all of 
its services.  This duty requires every procurement process, over the value of 
£50,000 to include consideration of:- 

 
3.1 The possibility of building in a requirement for continuous improvement in 

contracts. 
 

Appendix 6 

Page 75



 
Revised  April 2020 

3.2 Ensuring sufficient information is obtained in respect of the following matters:- 
 
3.2.1 all relevant experience and track record over the past three years (five years 

for works contracts) in providing similar services, and at least two referees that 
can be called upon to vouch for performance; 

 
3.2.2 background information on the organisation, financial accounts for last two 

years, average annual staffing for the previous three years and details of staff 
involved in the provision of the service in question, including their qualifications 
and training, TUPE track record where relevant; 

 
3.2.3 details of quality accreditation, documentation and procedures, including health 

and safety management, staff management and employment practices, 
environmental policy, as relevant to the performance of the contract; 

 
3.2.4 details of convictions for criminal offences or of any acts of grave misconduct 

relating to the potential contractor’s business or profession including details of 
cases over the last three years where the potential provider has been found by 
a Court or Tribunal to have breached the requirements of employment 
protection, including legislation under the Equality Act 2010 (including matters 
on sex, race, disability) and health and safety matters.  Details of any 
appropriate remedial actions taken should also be included. 

 
The list is not exhaustive and where relevant to the performance of the contract 
further detailed questions can be asked. 

 
4. HEALTH AND SAFETY 
 

The Council must be satisfied in any procurement process that potential 
providers have satisfactory systems for managing health and safety in relation 
to the matters concerned.  Details of their health and safety policy relevant to 
the performance of the contract must be obtained to ensure it provides 
satisfactory systems for managing health and safety. Monitoring arrangements 
must be in place post contract award to ensure that health and safety matters 
are being properly addressed. 
 
Where the Council employs a Contractor, irrespective of the value of the 
appointment, who has a physical presence on a Council owned or managed 
site, then a health and safety assessment must be undertaken by the Council’s 
Risk and Resilience team before the work commences. The Risk and 
Resilience team may request extra information from the Contractor before they 
are permitted to work on site. This assessment only needs to take place on one 
occasion for each Contractor, as long as the scope of their contract does not 
change. 

 
5. EQUALITY, DIVERSITY AND SAFEGUARDING 
 
5.1 The Council is committed to equality of opportunity, both as an employer and 

service provider.  The Council recognises that the Council’s equality values, 
principles and standards underpin everything the Council represents and aims 

Page 76



 
Revised  April 2020 

to achieve. The Council wants to ensure its services are as accessible as 
possible and are designed in a way that best meets the needs of the community. 

  
The Council has four Equality and Diversity objectives, which apply to all 
services - including services provided by contractors: 

  
To be a fair and accessible employer.  We will take steps to ensure our 
workforce is reflective of the diverse community that we serve and that the 
workforce policy informs them of what they can expect working for the Council, 
what is expected of them and what to do if they feel they are not being treated 
with dignity. 

  
To demonstrate the importance of equality and diversity issues when we 
procure and manage services.  We will ensure that the services we 
commission meet the expectations we set in terms of Equalities and 
Safeguarding standards. 

  
To actively engage in partnership with our communities.  We will actively 
engage with a diverse range of communities in order to ensure that our services 
are meeting their needs and requirements and that we work effectively in 
partnership with them. 

  
To deliver excellent customer service to everyone we serve.  We will strive 
to deliver excellent customer services to improve customers’ experience of 
dealing with the Council. 

  
In order to satisfy these commitments, those submitting an application for a 
tender are required, to respond and provide evidence in respect of the 
following matters: 

 Their experience of delivering services in a multi-cultural community. 

 Their strategies for ensuring equality of access to services. 

 Examples of and outcomes arising from consultation undertaken with 
service users and/or proposals for how such consultation might be 
undertaken. 

 Evidence that information and services they provide are accessible to   
those for whom they are relevant irrespective of age, disability, gender 
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, 
race, religion or belief, sex or sexual orientation. 

 How they would work towards building a workforce that reflects the 
diversity of the community in Welwyn Hatfield. 

 How they would comply with the Council’s commitment to equality and 
the objectives set out above. 

 
5.2 The Council’s standard contract terms and conditions include obligations 

relating to equality and diversity. 
 
 

Page 77



 
Revised  April 2020 

SAFEGUARDING 
 
5.3 The Council is committed to safeguarding children and vulnerable adults both 

as an employer and service provider.  The Council has both a moral and a legal 
obligation to ensure the highest possible standard of care for those vulnerable 
people who use and have access to our services as well as those we 
commission and contract out. 
 

5.4 The Council is committed to providing safe activities and opportunities.  The 
Council understands it has a duty to safeguard those individuals placed in our 
care and to facilitate the best possible professional practice from the Council, 
its employees, elected members, volunteers and those individuals, companies 
or organisations that provide goods or services, or undertake work for and on 
behalf of the Council.  
 

5.5 The Council’s safeguarding policy details the Council’s approach and 
commitment to safeguarding vulnerable people.  It includes the Council’s 
requirement to work with partner organisations in a collective commitment to 
safeguarding and that the same commitment will also be required of those 
providing a service on behalf of the Council. 
 

5.6  In order to satisfy these commitments, those submitting an application for a 
relevant tender are required to respond and provide evidence in respect of the 
following matters:  
 

 The organisation has a clear and suitable statement and/or policy with 
regards to safeguarding children and vulnerable adults 

 Their experience (where relevant) of delivering services to vulnerable 
individuals or groups. 

 That there is a clear line of responsibility across the organisation with 
regards to safeguarding and safeguarding referrals 

 That the organisation has a training programme for all employees that 
includes where relevant safeguarding. 

 Evidence that where required safer recruitment policies and processes 
are in place. 

 Evidence that the services they provide safeguard both their employees 
and the public they serve 

 
5.7  The Council’s standard contract terms and conditions include obligations 

relating to safeguarding children and vulnerable adults. 
 

6. PUBLIC SERVICES (SOCIAL VALUE) ACT 2012 
 
6.1 The Social Value Act encourages the Council to talk to their local provider 

market or community to design better services, often finding new and innovative 
solutions to difficult problems.  Before the start of the procurement process, the 
relevant officer should think about whether the services they are going to buy, 

Page 78



 
Revised  April 2020 

or the way they are going to buy them, could secure these benefits for their area 
or stakeholders.  

 
6.2 For over (EU) threshold contracts the inclusion of Social Value criteria is 

essential in any procurement. For below threshold contracts, the inclusion of 
Social Value criteria should be proportionate to the value and relevance of the 
contract  

 
7. TRANSFER OF UNDERTAKINGS (PROTECTION OF EMPLOYMENT) 

REGULATIONS 2006 (“TUPE”) (as amended) 
 
7.1 TUPE should be presumed to apply in any procurement process involving the 

contracting out of a service area with a discrete budget and staff assigned to it.  
The exception to this is if there are genuine exceptional reasons for TUPE not 
to apply.  These could be any of the following:- 

 
7.1.1 where a contract is for the provision of both goods and services, but the 

provision of services is ancillary in purpose to the provision of the goods; or 
 
7.1.2 where the matter being contracted is essentially new or a one off project; or 
 
7.1.3 where services or goods are essentially a commodity bought “off the shelf” and 

no grouping of staff are specifically and permanently assigned to a common 
task; or where the features of the service or function subject to the contracting 
exercise are significantly different from the features of the function previously 
performed within the Council, or by an existing contractor e.g. a function to be 
delivered electronically and in such a way that it requires radically different 
skills, experience and equipment. 

 
7.2 Invitations to tender should state that staff are to transfer pursuant to TUPE and 

sufficient information should be provided to enable potential providers to cost 
the effect of TUPE applying and staff transferring to them.  The Human 
Resources service area will deal with the provision of the appropriate 
information.  Pensions provided to transferred staff must be certified by the 
Government Actuary as “broadly comparable” with the Local Government 
Superannuation Scheme.  There should also be an agreement with the new 
employer’s pension scheme providing that staff will be able to transfer their 
accrued service credits into that scheme on a day-for-day, or equivalent, basis.  
Alternatively, transferred staff may continue to have access to the Local 
Government Superannuation Scheme provided that the Contractor agrees to 
this and enters into an Admission Agreement and Admission Bond with 
Hertfordshire County Council - the ‘Administrating Authority’ for the Pension 
Fund - and with Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council.  Advice on the applicability 
of TUPE and the clauses to be inserted in invitations to tender and contracts 
should be sought in the first instance from the Procurement Manager.  

 
7.3 TUPE should also be presumed to apply to a procurement process when an 

external contract is to be re-let where there are staff involved.  Invitations to 
tender should state that staff are to transfer pursuant to TUPE and information 
relating to pay, bonus payments, allowances, holiday entitlement and pension 

Page 79



 
Revised  April 2020 

details should be obtained from the incumbent Contractor before the Invitation 
to Tender is issued and the information must form part of the Invitation to 
Tender to enable potential providers to cost the effect of staff transferring to 
them. 

 
8. ELECTRONIC  PROCUREMENT 
 
8.1 All procurements, with a value greater than £10,000 must be undertaken 

using the E Procurement system. To ensure a fully auditable process, all 
correspondence during the tender process must be transmitted through this 
system. 
 

8.2 It should be made clear in any invitation to quote/tender documents that any 
tender must be submitted through this system and that any tenders received 
in hard copy or by any other means (such as e-mail) will be rejected.  
 

9. EXPENDITURE AND AUTHORISATION THRESHOLDS 
 
9.1 All purchases are subject to the following procedure:- 

 

Estimated 
Value 

Minimum 
No. of 
Quotations/
Tenders 

Council 
Seal 

Notes Authorisation to 
award contract 

Under 
£10,000 

(Obtain a 
minimum of 
one written 
quotation)  

No Although a formal 
procurement process does 
not need to be followed, 
value for money still needs to 
be demonstrated e.g. 
informal price 
comparison/obtain written 
quotation. 

Service 
Manager  

£10,000 - 
£49,999 

3 quotations No Unless a recognised trade or 
profession contract is to be 
used (i.e. JCT) then the 
Council’s standard terms and 
conditions must be used.   
Legal Services must approve 
any deviation from these 
terms and conditions.  
Consideration should also be 
given to the use of Liquidated 
Damages (a predetermined 
and realistic estimate of 
potential loss arising from 
default under a contract).  If 
Liquidated Damages are not 
considered appropriate then 

Head of Service 

Page 80



 
Revised  April 2020 

Estimated 
Value 

Minimum 
No. of 
Quotations/
Tenders 

Council 
Seal 

Notes Authorisation to 
award contract 

the reason should be given 
on the contract file.  The 
Procurement Manager should 
be advised at the start of the 
procurement process. 

£50,000 - 
£ 99,999 

Advertised 
on an Open 
basis 

No The Procurement Manager 
must manage the process. In 
addition to the above a 
financial appraisal of all 
tenderers should be 
undertaken as part of the 
procurement process.  
Consideration should also be 
given to whether a 
performance bond is 
appropriate and if the EU 
Procurement Directives 
apply.   

Corporate 
Director 

 £100,000 

and over 

5 tenders  Yes The Procurement Manager 
must manage the 
procurement process.  
Officers must obtain a 
performance bond for all 
construction contracts with a 
value of £500,000. For all 
contracts with a value above 
£100,000 a risk assessment 
should take place to ascertain 
if a Performance Bond and/or 
a Parent Company 
Guarantee is required. 
Section 9.6 provides details 
of the risk assessment to be 
undertaken. 

Cabinet 

 
9.1.1 Those Officers wishing to enter into contracts must use their best endeavours 

to achieve the minimum number of quotations/tenders referred to in the above 
table.  If having done so it is not possible to achieve the minimum number of 
quotations/tenders a clear note must be placed on the contract file giving the 
reasons why the minimum number could not be achieved. 

 
9.1.2 In situations where there is only one quotation or tender and one of the 

circumstances referred to in Procedure Rule 14 does not apply the agreement 

Page 81



 
Revised  April 2020 

of the Procurement Manager must be obtained before any contact is entered 
into in respect to all contracts with an estimated value exceeding £10,000. 
 

9.2 How to calculate the estimated value: 
 
When a new supplier is to be used, or a new service / commodity is purchased 
then the following should be considered. 
 

9.2.1 For Capital projects (without maintenance) it should be the Capital Budget 
approved for the purchase. 
 

9.2.2 For Capital projects that include a contractual requirement for maintenance, it 
should be the cost of the capital budget plus the maintenance costs for the 
duration of the maintenance agreement (i.e. a capital purchase of £45,000, that 
includes a maintenance contract for 5 years estimated at £5,000 per annum 
has a total estimated value of £70,000 and is therefore subject to 5 tenders 
 

9.2.3   For revenue contracts the estimated value should be for either: 
 
(a)  The estimated value of a one off purchase. 
(b) For recurring requirements with that supplier the estimated shall be 

either the value for the proposed contract length or if it is not known how 
long the arrangement will be in place then the estimated value should be 
4 times the annual expected expenditure.  

 
9.2.4  The estimated value must exclude Value Added Tax (VAT) but must include all 

other taxes and duties. 
 

9.3 Where a Contractor is commissioned to undertake more than one 
order/contract for a specific department in any one financial year period, then 
the total amount spent with that supplier should not exceed £10,000 without 
conducting a competitive process in accordance with these Rules.  

 
9.4 It is acknowledged that more than one department may utilise the same 

supplier, without knowledge of the expenditure of the other department. The 
procurement department will regularly assess the expenditure and should the 
expenditure on any one supplier exceed £10,000 (in a financial year), then 
those departments should conduct a joint procurement in accordance with 
these rules.  

 
9.5 Investigatory phases- services are often commissioned where projects are at 

the investigatory (initial) stage as to project viability, pilots or design etc. Quite 
often extra resources are required to further re-procure as the project 
progresses. Consideration should be given at the investigatory (initial) stage to 
whether it would deliver better value to seek competitive quotes from the outset 
of the intended project, for each envisaged stage of the project. This may 
reduce the need for re-procuring as the project progresses and the risk of 
delaying the project timetable. 

 
  

Page 82



 
Revised  April 2020 

9.6 The following table explains the risk assessment to be undertaken 
 

Type and Value of Contract Security required 

Contract Value below £100,000 None 

Service Contract below £1,000,000 in value 
where there is little risk to the Council. Little 
risk would include the following criteria: 

1) All payments are made after all work 
is completed and signed off by the 
Council. 

2) The service could easily be 
performed by another contractor (or 
the Council) who could be engaged 
at short notice. 

3) The cost of someone else 
performing the contract is not 
substantially more (this would be 
ascertained from previous bids 
received). 

None 

Service contract above £1,000,000 in value 
or where the criteria above is not met 

Performance Bond at 10% of the value of 
the contract or parent company guarantee 
to be obtained.  

Where the council  receives an income from 
the Contractor (which is greater than the 
expenditure by the Council) 

Performance Bond at 10% of the value of 
the contract or parent company guarantee 
must be obtained. 

Where the contract is a construction 
contract greater than £500,000 

Performance Bond of 10% of the value of 
the contract must be obtained. 

 
10. INVITATION TO TENDER LIST AND TENDER EVALUATION CRITERIA 

Where the estimated value of the contract is over £10,000 a tender list must be 
compiled by one of the following methods and the Tender Evaluation Criteria 
must be agreed at the level set out in the table below. 
 

Value of 
Contract 

Method of Selecting List Authority to agree 
Tender Evaluation 

Criteria 

£10,000 - 
£49,999 

The officer should consult trade 
journals and directories of 
organisations that give details of 
companies that trade in the field of 
work. Officers should use reasonable 
endeavours to obtain at least one 
quotation from an organisation based 
in the Borough of Welwyn Hatfield. 
This organisation must compete on an 
equal basis with other bidders. The 
officer may decide to advertise the 
contract. If this is the case, and the 
value is greater than £25,000, then the 

Head of Service 

Page 83



 
Revised  April 2020 

opportunity must also be advertised on 
the Contracts Finder website. 

£50,000 - 
£190,000 (for 
supplies or 
services 
contracts or up to 
£4,800,000 for 
works contracts 

An advertisement should be placed on 
the Supply Hertfordshire Portal and the 
Contracts Finder website inviting 
applicants to submit a bid 

Corporate Director 
or Member 
Procurement Board 
if established in 
accordance with 
section 26 

 £190,000 and 
above (for 
Services and 
Supplies) 
contracts, 
£664,000  (Light 
Touch Regime 
for Services) or 
£4,800,000 and 
above for Works 
contracts 

An advertisement should be placed in 
Official Journal of the European Union 

Corporate Director 
or Member 
Procurement Board 
if established in 
accordance with 
section 26 

 
11. PREQUALIFICATION QUESTIONNAIRES 
 
11.1 Prequalification questionnaires should only be used where the procurement is 

above the EU Procurement threshold and with the prior agreement of the 
Procurement Manager. Generally all procurements should be let on an Open 
basis (i.e a single stage tender in which any contractor who wishes to bid may 
do so). 

 
 

12. TENDER EVALUATION CRITERIA 
 
12.1 For all contracts with a value of between £10,000 and  £50,000, the contracts 

must be awarded on the basis of one of the two options that must be determined 
by the relevant Head of Service 
 
(a) The cheapest acceptable tender (the tender that meets all delivery and 

specification requirements) or 
(b) A pre-set and disclosed price/quality criteria.  
 

12.2 For all contracts with a value of £50,000 or over, tenders must be evaluated on 
a mixture of price and quality. The percentage split between price and quality 
(the evaluation criteria) should be determined by the relevant Officer or 
Procurement Board, as set out in the table at section 10. 
 

12.3 The tender evaluation criteria must clearly be laid out in all tender documents 
 

Page 84



 
Revised  April 2020 

13. SPECIFICATION 
 
13.1 All invitations to quote or tender for works must be based on a definitive 

specification.  The purpose of a service specification is to define the Council’s 
objectives for the service to be provided and the requirements of potential 
contractors.  As far as possible requirements should be specified in terms of 
output and performance rather than how the potential contractor is to go about 
providing the service (input based). 

 
13.2 Technical specifications should refer to national standards or schemes and 

relevant European Union standards or equivalent where available. 
 
14. ALTERNATIVE PROCEDURES IN PRESCRIBED CIRCUMSTANCES 
 

The market place does not always allow the procedures which are set out in 
the table above to be followed.  Contracts can also be entered into by an 
appropriate officer in the following circumstances (subject to compliance at all 
times with European procurement rules): 
 
(a) For the supply of goods or services where there is only one supplier and 

no acceptable alternative, following consultation with the Procurement 
Manager. 

(b) Instruction of legal counsel/barristers - Where it is in the best interests of 
the Council to directly instruct a particular legal counsel/barrister 
because they are one of only a few suppliers  who  have expertise or 
specialist knowledge or substantial experience or skills in a relevant 
area.  

(c) For any extension, addition to or maintenance to existing buildings, 
works plant or equipment contracts, the matter will be referred to Cabinet 
for a decision to waive these rules. Cabinet  will consider if this can only 
be done satisfactorily by the original contractor or supplier 

(d) As part of a consortium (where the Council is not the lead authority). 

(e) A contract that has been tendered by a central government body (i.e. the 
Crown Commercial Services). 

(f) Where there is an urgent Health and Safety requirement, subject to the 
prior approval of the Council’s Risk and Resilience Manager. 

(g) By the Chief Executive certifying that there is extreme urgency, after 
consulting the Leader of the Council and relevant Cabinet portfolio 
holder.  The reasons for extreme urgency must be recorded in writing 
and placed on the contract file 

(h) Where the Cabinet considers it desirable on commercial grounds to 
accept a quotation from a contractor already engaged by the Council on 
a project provided that further services have a connection with the 
original project and that the price is no more than 50% of the original 
contract sum. 

(i) For loans arrangements. 

Page 85



 
Revised  April 2020 

(j) On behalf of another authority where the agency agreement provides 
that the procurement rules of that authority are to be followed. 

(k) Where the Cabinet agrees a report from a Corporate Director detailing a 
case where it is to the advantage of the Council that these rules should 
be waived.  

 
RECEIPT AND OPENING OF TENDERS 
 
15.1 The Council is committed to using the e-tendering system for any project valued 

greater than £10,000.00 
 
15.2 The E-Procurement system is time-locked and cannot be accessed by the 

Council until after the tender return deadline. After the deadline the tender-box 
must be  opened electronically by the following person(s): 
 
15.2.2 Under - £50,0000 – an officer from the service area who is not 

undertaking the quality evaluation of the tender 
15.2.3 Over £50,000 – The Procurement Manager 

 
15. TENDER CLARIFICATION (AND EVALUATION) 
 
15.1 After tenders have been opened clarification may be necessary to check 

apparent omissions, arithmetical errors, completeness of documentation etc.  In 
seeking clarification all communications with tenderers should be properly 
recorded and must be issued through the E-Procurement System.  The 
objective at this stage is to evaluate the tenders as submitted and it follows 
therefore that under no circumstances should any tenderer be given the 
opportunity to engage in negotiations with regard to pricing or any other aspects 
of the tender.  Clarification should be obtained solely to the extent necessary 
for a clear evaluation.   

  
15.2 To ensure impartiality and in accordance with good procurement practice, the 

price and quality aspects of any bid must be undertaken independently of each 
other. Any officer (or consultant working on behalf of the Council), must not 
have  knowledge of any pricing information when undertaking the quality 
evaluation) 
 

16. THE LETTING OF CONTRACTS 
 
16.1 For procurements less than £50,000 in value, then it is acceptable to issue a 

purchase order. The purchase order must include: 
 

(1) The name of the supplier 
(2) The specification  
(3) The date the order needs to be completed by 
(4) The total value of the order with any payment terms 
(5) The purchase order number for the contract 
(6) A link to the Councils standard terms and conditions 

 

Page 86



 
Revised  April 2020 

16.2 Any procurement over £50,000 must be completed by a formal contract 
document (which is usually drafted by procurement and completed by the legal 
department)  and must contain:- 

 

 a description of the services, works or goods to be supplied; 
 

 the price and any discounts; 
 

 commencement and completion dates including the provision of liquidated 
damages in the case of late completion in the circumstances referred to in 
Procedure Rule 8; 

 

 delivery date, if appropriate; 
 

 the terms of payment; 
 

 appropriate insurance generally including £10 million cover in respect of 
public liability, £500,000 cover for professional indemnity liability (where 
relevant) and employers liability insurance, if applicable, in accordance with 
the legal requirement. The relevant officer may decide to undertake a risk 
assessment of the project which may result in the level of insurance 
increasing or declining in accordance with the risks identified 

 
16.3.1   In addition the following controls should be present:- 
 

 the contract between the Contractor and the Council must be in writing; 
 

 the contract must be signed by authorised signatory(ies) of the Contractor 
and the Council and be executed as a deed under seal if its value is  
£100,000 or over. 

 

 A contract which may be executed by signing only, in accordance with these 
Contract Procedure Rules, may be signed with wet and/or electronic 
signature(s) on behalf of the parties to the contract and, on behalf of the 
Council may be signed by the relevant Head of Service who shall notify the 
Legal Services Manager of the signing of the Contract and the Legal 
Services Manager shall ensure that details of the Contract are entered into 
the Signing Register. 

 

 In circumstances where a contract is being signed electronically by/on 
behalf of a Contractor, the Contractor shall, at the same time as providing 
the Council with the electronically signed contract, provide the Council with 
a separate statement (signed by the person(s) who has/have signed the 
contract) certifying that: 

 
o the person(s) signing the contract has/ve authority to do so; 
o the person(s) signing the contract intend/s to authenticate the contract; 

and  

Page 87



 
Revised  April 2020 

o any and all formalities and legal requirements relating to execution of the 
contract are satisfied. 

 
16.3.2 Where a contract or other legal document is required to be executed as a deed 

the Contractor/other party(ies) may execute the contract electronically provided 
that the Contractor/other party(ies) shall each do so by signature of two (2) 
authorised signatories and shall provide to the Council, at the same time as 
providing the electronically executed deed to the Council, a separate statement 
certifying that: 
 

o the person(s) executing the contract on behalf of the Contractor/other 
party(ies) has/ve authority to do so; 

o the person(s) executing the contract on behalf of the Contractor/other 
party(ies) intend/s to authenticate the contract; and  

o any and all formalities and legal requirements relating to execution of the 
contract are satisfied. 

 
16.3.3 The Head of Law and Administration is authorised to take any decision(s), in 

relation to execution of contracts and other legal documentation, as is 
necessary to secure the uninterrupted continuation of the day-to-day business 
of the Council during the Covid-19 epidemic up to and including 7 May 2021. 

 
 
17. NOTIFICATIONS TO POTENTIAL CONTRACTORS 
 
17.1 The successful Contractor should be notified promptly in writing, through the E-

Procurement Portal that they have been selected to carry out the contract.  It 
should be confirmed with the Contractor that they are available to commence 
the contract and that they will undertake the work to the terms and conditions 
of their tender. 

 
17.2 Unsuccessful contractors should be informed, in writing that they have not been 

selected to carry out the contract at the same time as the successful Contractor. 
 
17.3 In the event that the selected Contractor does not confirm that they are still 

available to carry out the work to the terms and conditions of the tender then 
the contract can be offered to the second best tenderer unless the Procurement 
is subject to the European Procurement Directives when the project must be 
re-advertised  

 
17.4 Potential contractors should also be notified of any of the following decisions 

taken in respect of them:- 
 

 not to invite to tender when a request has been made; 
 

 not to accept the submission of a tender; 
 

 not to approve, select or nominate sub-contractors; 
 

Page 88



 
Revised  April 2020 

17.5 In the event of a potential contractor making a written request for information  
regarding any contract decision, the appropriate officer must provide a written 
response detailing the reasons for such decision within 15 days of the receipt of 
the potential contractor’s request (or within 3 days if the procurement is subject 
to EU procurement procedures). 

 
18 VARIATION TO CONTRACTS 

 
18.1 The authority to accept a variation to contract is dependent upon the value of 

the change (calculated as the estimated value of the change for the remainder 
of the contract term): 

 

 Up to £49,999 – Head of Service 

 Between £50,000 and £99,999 – Corporate Director 

  £100,000 and over – Cabinet 
 

18.2 The terms of the variation must be in writing and stored with the original 
contract. 

 
19 EXTENSION OF CONTRACTS 
 
19.1 An extension to a contract can only be made if there is provision within the 

existing contract. The decision to extend the contract is dependent upon the 
value of the extension and shall be agreed at the following level: 
 

 Up to £49,999 – Head of Service 

 Between £50,000 and £99,999 – Corporate Director 

  £100,000 and over – Cabinet 
 
19.2 The terms of the extension must be in writing and stored with the original 

contract. 
 
20 ASSIGNMENT AND NOVATION OF CONTRACT 
 
20.1 Assignment or Novation of a contract can only be made if there is provision in 

the contract to allow this to happen. Any Assignment or Novation must be 
agreed by the relevant Corporate Director and checks should be made as to 
the status of the new contractual party to ensure it meets all the original 
selection criteria and is able to perform the contract. The assignment or 
novation shall not affect the performance of the contract in any way to the 
detriment of the Council. 

 
20.2 The terms of the assignment or novation must be in writing and stored with 

the original contract. 
 

21 CURRENCY  
 
21.1 All contracts entered into should fix the price in Sterling.  Any changes in the 

value of money which have a material impact on the value of a contract must 
be reported to the Corporate Director (Resources, Environment and Cultural 

Page 89



 
Revised  April 2020 

Services) for report and consideration by the Cabinet.  Any proposals to 
contract in a currency other than Sterling on the basis that it represents value 
for money must be agreed by the Corporate Director (Resources, Environment 
and Cultural Services). 

 
22 NOMINATED SUB-CONTRACTORS AND SUPPLIERS 
 
22.1 Where a sub-contractor or supplier is to be nominated to a main contractor the 

appropriate officer must invite quotations or tenders in accordance with these 
Procedural Rules (for the appointment of this subcontractor) and authorise the 
letting of the sub-contract between the sub-contractor or supplier and main 
Contractor. 

 
22.2 The sub-contractor or supplier must send with their quote or tender an 

undertaking to work for the main contractor and to indemnify the main 
contractor for the sub-contracted works or materials and provide a collateral 
warranty in the Council’s favour. 

 
23 OUTSIDE CONSULTANTS AND TECHNICAL OFFICERS 
 
23.1 Outside consultants and technical officers employed to supervise or to be 

otherwise involved with the operation of contracts must follow any provision of 
these Procedural Rules which are relevant to their appointed duties.  Their 
contract for services must stipulate this requirement. 

 
24 BRIBERY AND FRAUD 
 
24.1 The Corporate Director (Resources, Environment and Cultural Services) shall 

keep a Fraud Risks Register upon which is identified potential contractors who 
are considered by the Council to be at high risk from benefit fraud, abuse or 
misuse in connection with the potential contractor’s business and/or its 
employees, sub-contractors or agents. 

 
24.2 The current statutory provisions on bribery and fraud are contained in the 

Bribery Act 2010 ( the Act) . The four key principle points to note in relation to 
offences under the Act are:  

 

 The Act extends the crime of bribery to cover all private and public sector 
transactions (previously bribery offences were confined to transactions 
involving public officials and agents). These offences cover all legal 
persons (which includes companies and individuals).  

 

 The Act creates a new offence of failing to prevent bribery which applies 
to commercial organisations. A commercial organisation is stated as 
being a company, corporate body or partnership but not a sole trader. 
Section 7 provides that a relevant commercial organisation, (‘C’), 
commits an offence if a person, (‘A’), associated with it, bribes another 
person intending either to obtain or retain business for C or an advantage 
in the conduct of business for C. An offence is committed if the conduct 
complained of would constitute the commission by A of an offence 

Page 90



 
Revised  April 2020 

contrary to two other sections of the Act (which cover the general offence 
of bribery and the more specific offence of bribing a foreign public 
official). The Act defines A as a person who performs services for or on 
behalf of C. A may therefore be a service provider, subsidiary, contractor, 
agent or employee and they may be based in or outside of England and 
Wales. An organisation will only have a defence to this offence if it can 
show it had ‘adequate procedures’ in place to prevent bribery.  

 

 The scope of the Act is extensive – the offences are very broadly defined 
and it has significant extra-territorial reach.  

 

 The offences contained in the Act carry criminal penalties for individuals 
and organisations. For individuals, a maximum prison sentence of ten 
years and/or an unlimited fine can be imposed; for companies, an 
unlimited fine can be imposed.  

 
The Council, its employees and contractors/bidders are covered by the Act. 

 
24.3 All contracts over £50,000 in value must contain a relevant Anti-Bribery 

Clause. 
 
24.4 Officers should be alert to indicators of potential bribery in procurement which 

may include: 
 

 Unjustified and unexplained favourable treatment of a particular supplier from 
a particular contracting employee over a period of time, including number or 
amount of contracts awarded to a given firm or supplier 

 Unjustified high prices and important price increases 

 Low quality and late delivery acceptance by procurement official 

 Unusually high volume of purchases to a single source 

 Unusually high volume of purchases approved by a single purchaser 

 Unnecessary or inappropriate purchases 

 Recurrent and systematic rejection of firms who ultimately act as 
subcontractors 

 official accepting inappropriate gifts or entertainment 

 Close relationship (including social) between the official and the vendor 

 Unexplained sudden increase in wealth of the procurement official 

 Supplier has a reputation of paying bribes 

 Commercial contracts different from the suppliers core business 

 Intermediary charges high commission, claims special influence on buyer 

 Unnecessary middleman involved in contacts or purchases 

 High risk sectors or countries 

 official has undisclosed outside business 

 Procurement official declining promotions to other non-procurement position 

 Procurement official acting beyond or below normal scope of duties in 
awarding or administering contracts 

 Long and unexplained delays between announcement of the winning bidder 
and the signing of the contact (this may be an indication of the negotiation of 
the bribe) 

Page 91



 
Revised  April 2020 

 Frequent open or restrictive calls for tender that are inconclusive, ending in 
negotiated procedures 
 

25. ROLES OF MEMBERS IN PROCUREMENT 
 
25.1 It is recognised that Members of the Council should be fully involved in the 

Procurement process for major projects. 
 
25.2 Before the commencement of any procurement with a value of £100,000 or 

more the relevant officer should consult with the Portfolio Holder to ascertain if 
a Member Procurement Board should be established. An officer may also elect 
to take this route for contracts less than £100,000 if there is a specific need for 
Members to be involved (e.g. a high profile public facing procurement) 

 
25.3 The Portfolio Holder shall determine if a Member Procurement Board is 

established. If so, a recommendation should be made to the next Cabinet 
meeting recommending the establishment of the Member Procurement Board 
and requesting that Board Members be nominated by Cabinet. 

 
25.4 A terms of reference of the Member Procurement Board will be established, 

but is likely to include: 
 

(a) Agreement of evaluation criteria for the application stage 
(b) Agreement of the tender list 
(c) Agreement of the evaluation criteria for tender stage 
(d) Attending presentations by bidders 
(e) Undertaking site visits (if appropriate) 
(f) Recommendation of award of contract to Cabinet. 

 
25.5 In no circumstances shall the Member Procurement Board have the authority 

to award or enter into any contract. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 92



 

 

Contract Procedure Rules – Updated April 2020 

Schedule of changes 

Except for a few minor changes to the grammatical context and updating thresholds in accordance 

with UK legislation, the main changes have been made to enable contracts to be completed during 

the Covid 19 pandemic and to comply with the UK Governments requirement to work from home 

where possible. The main changes are: 

1) The ability for contracts under £100,000 in value to be signed by the Head of Service using 

an electronic signature. 

2) The ability for deeds (contracts over £100,000) to be signed electronically by the Contractor. 

3) Delegated authority is given to the Head of Law and Administration to take any decision(s), 

in relation to execution of contracts and other legal documentation, as is necessary to 

secure the uninterrupted continuation of the day-to-day business of the Council during the 

Covid-19 epidemic up to and including 7 May 2021. 

 

Appendix 6 

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Revised  179 
November 2019  

Part 4: RULES AND PROCEDURES 

Section3: ACCESS TO INFORMATION PROCEDURE RULES 

Section 3: ACCESS TO INFORMATION PROCEDURE RULES 

1. SCOPE 

1.1 These rules apply to all meetings of the Council and Executive, unless 
indicated otherwise within this Constitution or by law. 

2. ADDITIONAL RIGHTS TO INFORMATION 

2.1 These rules do not affect any more specific rights to information contained 
elsewhere in this Constitution or by law. 

3. RIGHTS TO ATTEND MEETINGS 

3.1 Members of the public may attend all meetings subject only to the exceptions 
in these rules. 

4. NOTICES OF MEETINGS 

4.1 The Council will give at least five clear working days’ notice of any meeting 
by posting details of the meeting on its website and will publish the agenda 
and report pack at the same time. 

4.2 The Council will give at least twenty eight clear days notice of the intention to 
consider items at a private Cabinet meeting, stating the reasons for this. The 
notice will be published on its website. 

5. ACCESS TO AGENDA AND REPORTS BEFORE THE MEETING 

5.1 The Council will make copies of the Agenda and reports to be considered at 
meetings open to the public available for public inspection on its website or 
on request to the Governance Services Manager, during office hours. If an 
item is added to the Agenda after the summons to the meeting has been sent 
out, the Governance Services Manager shall publish the item as soon as it 
becomes available. 

5.2 If the Governance Services Manager, in conjunction with the author of a 
report thinks fit, the Council may exclude access by the public to reports 
which relate to items during which, in accordance with Rule 9 below, are 
considered confidential or exempt and where the meeting is likely to exclude 
the public. Such reports will be marked “Not for publication” together with the 
category of confidential or exempt information likely to be disclosed. 

6. SUPPLY OF PAPER COPIES 

6.1 If requested, the Governance Services Manager will make available paper 
copies of any committee, agenda, reports, background papers and minutes 
which are open to public inspection on payment of a reasonable charge, 
including postage. 

Appendix 7 

Page 95



Revised  180 
January 2020  

 

Part 4: RULES AND PROCEDURES 

Section3: ACCESS TO INFORMATION PROCEDURE RULES 

7. ACCESS TO MINUTES AND WEBCASTS AFTER MEETING 

7.1 As soon as is reasonably practicable after a committee meeting the 
Governance Services Manager will record or arrange to be recorded in a 
written statement:- 

(a) a record of the decisions and the reasons for the decision; 

(b) a record of any interest which is declared by a Member in respect of 
the matter decided; and 

(c) a note of any dispensation granted by the Standards Committee in 
respect of any declared interest. 

7.2 Not all meetings of the council are webcast, as it would not be cost effective 
to do so. However, if a webcast is made of a meeting, a request can be made 
for a copy of that webcast, on payment of a reasonable charge. The request 
must be made to the Governance Services Manager within one calendar 
month from the date of the meeting. 

8. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

8.1 Authors of reports shall set out in every report a list of those documents 
(called background papers) relating to the subject matter of the report which 
in their opinion:- 

(a) disclose any facts or matters about the report or upon which an 
important part of the report is based; and 

(b) which have been relied on to a material extent in preparing the 
report 

but not including any published works. 

9. EXCLUSION OF ACCESS BY THE PUBLIC TO MEETINGS 

9.1 The public must be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely, in the view 
of the Governance Services Manager, that the nature of the business to be 
transacted or nature of the proceedings would disclose confidential 
information. 

9.2 Confidential information means information given to the Council by a 
Government Department on terms which forbid its public disclosure or 
information which cannot be publicly disclosed by Court Order. 

9.3 The public may be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely, in the view 
of the Governance Services Manager, that the nature of the business to be 
transacted or nature of the proceedings, would disclose exempt information 
and the public interest is in favour of maintaining that exemption. 

9.4 Exempt information means information falling within the following categories 
(subject to the stated qualifications):- 

(a) Information relating to any individual.  

Page 96



Revised  181 
January 2020  

 

Part 4: RULES AND PROCEDURES 

Section3: ACCESS TO INFORMATION PROCEDURE RULES 

(b) Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual. 

(c) Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular 
person (including the authority holding that information). 

(d) Information relating to any consultations or negotiations or 
contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with any 
labour relations matter arising between the authority or a Minister of 
the Crown and employees of, or office holders under, the authority. 

(e) Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege 
could be maintained in legal proceedings. 

(f) Information which reveals that the authority proposes: 

 To give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of 
which requirements are imposed on a person; or 

 To make an order or direction under any enactment. 

(g) Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection 
with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime 

 Information which is subject to any obligation of confidentiality.  

 Information which relates in any way to matters concerning 
national security. 

9.5 Information falling within paragraph 9.4(c) above is not exempt information by 
virtue of that paragraph if it is required to be registered under: 

(a) the Companies Act (as defined in Section 2 of the Companies Act 
2006) 

(b) the Friendly Societies Act 1974 

(c) the Friendly Societies Act 1992 

(d) the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014 

(e) the Building Societies Act 1986 

(f) the Charities Act 2011. 

9.6 Information is not exempt information if it relates to proposed development 
for which the local planning authority may grant itself planning permission 
pursuant to regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning General 
Regulations 1992. 

9.7 Information which: 

(a) falls within any of paragraph 9.4 above; and 

(b) is not prevented from being exempt by virtue of paragraph 9.5 or 9.6 
above  

is exempt information if, and so long as in all the circumstances of the case, 
the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest 
in disclosing the information. 

9.8 All Council meetings will be in public subject to the above exceptions relating 
to confidential and exempt information and to the further exceptions which 
are permitted under legislation where the sole purpose of the meeting is to 

Page 97



Revised  182 
January 2020  

 

Part 4: RULES AND PROCEDURES 

Section3: ACCESS TO INFORMATION PROCEDURE RULES 

receive a pre-briefing from Officers of the Council, including clarification on 
particular matters. 

10. PROCEDURE BEFORE THE EXECUTIVE TAKE KEY DECISIONS 

10.1 Unless the matter is urgent, a Key Decision may not be taken by Cabinet 
unless:- 

(a) a notice ( ‘a Forward Plan’) has been published in connection with the 
matter in question; 

(b) at least twenty eight clear days have elapsed since the publication of 
the Forward Plan; and 

(c) where the decision is to be taken at a Cabinet meeting, at least five 
clear working day notice of the meeting has been given. 

10.2 Meaning of Key Decisions:- 

(a) Any executive decision which incurs expenditure, or makes savings 
which are, significant having regard to the Council’s budget for a 
service or functions. 

“Significant” means expenditure or savings above £100,000. 

(b) Any executive decision which although unlikely to involve significant 
expenditure or savings, are nevertheless likely to be significant in 
terms of their effects on communities living or working in an area 
comprising two or more wards of the Borough. 

11. THE FORWARD PLAN 

11.1 Forward Plan will be prepared and published to cover a rolling period of four 
months, beginning with the first day of any month.  

11.2 The Forward Plan will contain matters which will be subject to a Key Decision 
to be taken by the Cabinet during the period covered by the plan. This is the 
link to the current Forward Plan 

11.3 The Forward Plan contains:- 

(a) who the Portfolio holder is 

(b) the date and meeting where the decision will be take 

(c) who the consultees (if any) are 

(d) where/whom representations can be made to 

(e) background papers 

11.4 At least twenty-eight clear days’ notice must be given of the intention to make 
a key decision on the Forward Plan at a Cabinet meeting. The Governance 
Services Manager will publish annually a notice on the Council’s website 
explaining how Key Decisions and the Forward Plan operate within the 
Council. This is the link to the last annual notice. 

Page 98

https://democracy.welhat.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=151&RD=0&bcr=1
https://democracy.welhat.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=151&RD=0&bcr=1


Revised  183 
January 2020  

 

Part 4: RULES AND PROCEDURES 

Section3: ACCESS TO INFORMATION PROCEDURE RULES 

12. URGENT KEY DECISIONS 

12.1 If a matter which due to urgency is likely to be a Key Decision but has not 
been included in the Forward Plan, a decision may still be taken subject to 
the following:- 

(a) the decision must be taken by, a date where it would be impracticable 
to defer the decision until it has been included in the next Forward 
Plan and; 

(b) the Governance Services Manager has obtained the consent of the 
Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

(c) Each Member of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be notified, 
of the decision made and; 

(d) the Governance Services Manager has published notice of this on the 
Council’s website. 

 

13. REPORTS TO COUNCIL ON URGENT DECISIONS TAKEN BY THE 
EXECUTIVE 

13.1 The Leader will submit at least one report annually to the Council containing 
details of Urgent Executive decisions taken in the previous year. The report 
will include the number of decisions so taken and a summary of the matters 
in respect of which those decisions were taken. 

14. KEY DECISIONS BY INDIVIDUAL MEMBERS OF THE CABINET AND 
OFFICERS 

14.1. Key Decisions can be taken by individual Members of the Cabinet as set out 
within the powers delegated to them by Cabinet. These are set out in the 
Cabinet Procedure Rules. 

14.2. In the case of urgency, the appropriate portfolio holders can still take an 
individual key decision outside of their delegated powers:- 

(a) where there is an urgent requirement for a decision; and 

(b) where it is not practicable to convene a quorate meeting of the 
Cabinet. 

14.3. The reasons for the urgency must be recorded in writing by the decision 
taker. 

14.4. If such individual decisions are Key Decisions then the rules relating to 
notification and publication and contained in paragraph 12 above must be 
followed. 

14.5. Individual executive decisions exercised by Cabinet Members and Officers 
must be recorded in a written statement as soon as reasonably practicable. 
The statement must include:- 

(a) a record of the decision; 

(b) a record of the reasons for the decision; 

Page 99



Revised  184 
January 2020  

 

Part 4: RULES AND PROCEDURES 

Section3: ACCESS TO INFORMATION PROCEDURE RULES 

(c) details of any alternative options considered and reasons for their 
rejection (if any); 

(d) a record of any interest declared by any Cabinet Member who is 
consulted  

(e) a note of any dispensation granted by the Standards Committee in 
respect of any declared interest. 

14.6. The record of the decision and any reports considered together with any 
background papers listed, must be published on the Council’s website as 
soon as reasonably practicable. 

15. ADDITIONAL RIGHTS OF ACCESS FOR ALL MEMBERS 

15.1 All Members of the Council will ordinarily be entitled to inspect any 
documents relating to business to be transacted at formal Council and 
Executive meetings. 

(a) This does not include documents in draft form. 

(b) Members who have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in a matter or a 
conflict with their personal interests, should not request or inspect any 
council documents or reports relating to that interest and should 
declare their interest as soon as it becomes apparent. 

(c) Members may not be entitled to request or inspect council documents 
that contain individuals’ personal data, regulatory matters, and/or 
confidential or commercially sensitive information. 

15.2 All Members will be permitted to attend committee meetings, including during 
the consideration of exempt or confidential information, unless they have a 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in a matter or conflict with their personal 
interests. 

15.3 Members of Overview and Scrutiny committee have enhanced powers by law 
to access exempt or confidential information, in order to perform these 
functions effectively. Sensitive information may need to be shared in a closed 
session. 

 

Page 100



CORPORATE DIRECTOR  
(RESOURCES, ENVIRONMENT AND CULTURAL SERVICES) 

 
Deputises for the Chief Executive as necessary. 
 
To undertake any function delegated to a Corporate Director/Head of Service provided 
it is within the law and within his/her capacity. 
 
To be responsible for the implementation of strategies, policies and plans relating to 
Finance, Revenues and Benefits, IT, Corporate Property, Parking, Cemeteries, Play 
Areas, Refuse Collection, Street Scene, Grounds Maintenance, Street Wardens, 
Policy and Performance, Communications, Customer Service, Museum, Leisure and 
Campus West Entertainment. 
 
1. FINANCE 
 
1.1. To be responsible for the implementation of strategies, policies and plans 

relating to finance, information technology, internal audit, Council tax, 
business rates, housing benefits, property and environmental services. 

1.2. The Corporate Director (Resources, Environment and Cultural Services) is the 
responsible officer under Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 and 
shall, within the framework of statute and the Council's Budget and Policy 
Framework Procedure Rules and Financial Procedure Rules, administer and 
advise upon all the financial affairs of the Council.  The Head of Resources 
and Finance Manager are the deputy responsible officers under this Section. 

1.3. The Corporate Director (Resources, Environment and Cultural Services) will 
act as Registrar of Bonds; 

1.4. The Corporate Director (Resources, Environment and Cultural Services) can:- 

a) Refund up to any amount and write-off, as irrecoverable, accounts 
outstanding and under £10,000 including benefits overpayments; 

b) deal with all applications for rent and rate rebates, rent allowances and 
other financial concessions as directed by statute or determined locally; 

1.5. The Head of Resources can refund amounts under £5,000 and write off as 
irrecoverable amounts outstanding and under £5,000. 

1.6. The Corporate Director (Resources, Environment and Cultural Services), 
Head of Resources and the Client Support Services Manager are each 
authorised to take all necessary action to issue Council Tax bills and rate 
demands, recover all such sums due, including unoccupied property rates and 
to sign and serve all related notices and documents. 

1.7. To grant discretionary rate relief to those organisations which meet the 
Council's criteria, referring those that fall outside it to the Cabinet for decision. 

1.8. The Finance Manager, Client Support Services Manager and Revenue and 
Benefits Client Officer can write off as irrecoverable accounts outstanding and 
under £2,000 and refund amounts under £2,000. 

Appendix 8 

Page 101



1.9. The Finance Manager and Client Support Services Manager is authorised to 
sign cheque requisitions of up to £2,000 for alterations to Council cheques.  

1.10. The Client Support Services Manager is authorised to determine appeals of 
applicants in respect of benefit and council tax reduction claims. (If the 
applicant wishes to take the appeal further regarding their benefit it must be 
referred to the Tribunal Service. 

1.11. The Corporate Director (Resources, Environment and Cultural Services) to 
have overall responsibility for the financial administration and monitoring of 
the whole of the Council’s expenditure and income including:- 

a) Where an overspend occurs to report to the Cabinet with 
recommendations of action to be taken; 

b) Monitoring the special funds and reporting to the Cabinet on the level of 
contribution and maximum level of funds required. 

1.12. The Corporate Director (Resources, Environment and Cultural Services), 
Head of Resources, Client Support Services Manager and the Revenue and 
Benefits Client Officers to be responsible for all matters concerning Rating, 
Council Tax and benefits/rebates. 

1.13. The Corporate Director (Resources, Environment and Cultural Services), 
Head of Resources, IT Client Manager to control and manage Information 
Systems, Technology and Telecommunications. 

1.14. The Corporate Director (Resources, Environment and Cultural Services), 
Head of Resources and Client Support Services Manager to be responsible 
for all matters relating to Housing Benefit, Universal Credit and Council Tax 
Reduction. 

1.15. To take all necessary and appropriate action in response to civil emergency 
or business continuity incidents, in accordance with the Council’s Emergency 
Plan or Business Continuity Plans and Chair the Council’s Business Continuity 
Incident Management Team. 

1.16. The Corporate Director (Resources, Environment and Cultural Services), 
Head of Resources and Client Support Services Manager and Revenue and 
Benefits Client Officer have delegated powers for awarding Council Tax 
hardship relief. 

1.17. To be responsible for the implementation of the strategies, policies and plans 
relating to Environment, Transportation and Property Services. 

1.18. To advertise and make Traffic Regulation Orders under the Road Traffic 
Regulation Act 1984 and amendments to Orders, subject to the determination 
by the Cabinet of any formal objection received. 

 
  

Page 102



2. ENVIRONMENT SERVICES 
 

All the following delegated powers relating to Environmental Services 
can also be exercised by the Head of Environment who may also 
delegate to a suitably qualified or experienced Officer. 

 
Waste Collection  

 
2.1. To manage the contract(s) for the collection of refuse, recycling, garden, food 

and clinical waste. 
 
2.2. To manage the contract(s) for the collection, storage and disposal of 

abandoned vehicles.  
 

Street Cleansing 
 
2.3. To manage the contract(s) for street cleansing, including litter picking, street 

sweeping and removal of fly-tips from council owned and maintained land. 
 

Grounds Maintenance 
 
2.4. To manage the contract(s) for street cleansing, including grass and hedges 

cutting, maintenance of hedges, shrubs and roses and bedding. 

 
Enforcement 

 
2.5. To take enforcement action in respect of its powers and duties as a Local 

Authority and a Waste Regulation Authority under all applicable legislation 
including the Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005, 
Environmental Protection Act 1990, Refuse Disposal (Amenity) Act 1978(as 
amended), Control of Pollution (Amendment) Act 1989, the Controlled Waste 
(England and Wales) Regulations 2012, the Unauthorised Deposit of Waste 
(Fixed Penalty) Regulations 2016, The Environmental Protection 
(Miscellaneous Amendments) (England and Wales) Regulations 2018, 
Environmental Offences Regulations 2017 and the Littering from Vehicles 
Outside London (Keepers: Civil Penalties) Regulations 2018:-  

 
2.6. that the Community & Environment Services Manager, Community & 

Environment Officers and Street Wardens be permitted to issue Fixed Penalty 
Notices in respect of legislation detailed below:-  

a) Offence of abandoning a vehicle (Sections 2A, 2B, 2C of Refuse Disposal 
(Amenity) Act 1978 

b) Offence of dropping litter (to include the practice of placing black bags of 
refuse out on street after refuse collection day) (Section 87/ 88 of 
Environmental Protection Act 1990) and Littering from Vehicle Outside 
London (Keepers: Civil Penalties) Regulations 2018  

c) Defacement or Act of graffiti / failure to remove graffiti and Flyposting 
(sch3A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990, s224 of Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 43/44 of the Anti-social Behaviour 
Act 2003)  

Page 103



d) Failure to produce authority to transport waste (Sections 5B and 5C 
Control of Pollution (Amendment) Act 1989  

e) Failure of a business to furnish waste transfer documents pertaining to its 
waste collection (Section 34A (2) Environmental Protection Act 1990) 

f) Failure of residents to use the receptacles provided by the council 
correctly as stipulated by the S46 Notice; i.e. placing excess or side waste 
out on street for collection, placing incorrect items in the receptacles.  

g) Failure by businesses to contain and take reasonable measures to 
prevent their waste from escaping their containers or presenting side 
waste as stipulated on Section 47 Notice (Sections 47ZA and 47XB 
Environmental Protection Act 1990)  

h) The Unauthorised Deposit of Waste (Fixed Penalties) Regulations 2016 
– Section 33 FPN in relation to the illegal deposit of household, industrial, 
commercial or other controlled waste without a waste management 
licence commonly referred to as fly tipping  

i) Environmental Protection (Miscellaneous Amendments) (England and 
Wales) Regulations 2018 – the Section 34(6) householder FPNs in 
relation to domestic duty of care 

j) Powers to Search and Seizure of Vehicles- Section 46 of the 
Environmental Protection Act introduces new sections (34B and 34C) into 
the 1990 Act and Control of Pollution (Amendment) Act 1998. These 
provide powers to local authorities to search and seize vehicles connected 
to offences under section 33 (illegal fly tipping or waste disposal) or 
section 34 (the duty of care on anybody who deals with waste   

k) Powers to require the owner of the land to remove waste in pursuant to 
Section 59(1) of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 –allowing the 
waste collection authority the powers to serve notice on the owner of the 
land requiring fly tipped waste to be removed, Land owners are 
chargeable for the removal of waste in the event of non-compliance.  

l) Failure to remove dog faeces (Dog fouling) -s.59 Clean Neighbourhoods 
and Environment Act 2005   

2.7. The Community & Environment Services Manager, Community & 
Environment Officers and Street Wardens be authorised to enforce provisions 
under s3 and 4 of Clean Neighbourhood and Environment Act 2005 (CNEA) 
relating to the sale of vehicles and repair of vehicles on the road, as detailed 
below:  

a) Exposing vehicles for sale on a road;  
It is an offence if at any time two or more vehicles are parked within 500 
metres of each other on a road or roads, where the vehicles are parked 
in order to be sold. This offence is not intended to target private individual 
sellers of single vehicles, but rather the nuisance that is caused by the 
presence of numbers of vehicles being offered for sale by the same 
person or business. A road is defined as ‘any length of highway or of any 
other road to which the public has access’ (CNEA 2005 Part 2, Section 
3).  

 

Page 104



b) Repairing vehicles on a road;  
It is an offence to carry out "restricted works" to vehicles on a road. 
Restricted works are “works for the repair, maintenance, servicing, 
improvement or dismantling of a motor vehicle or any part of or 
+accessory to a motor vehicle”. It is not intended to target private 
individuals/residents who are carrying out one off  minor works to their 
vehicles  (unless the repairs cause annoyance to persons in the vicinity 
and isn’t an ongoing disturbance), or those who carry out necessary work 
to vehicles by the side of the road due to a breakdown or accident (CNEA 
2005 Part 1, Section 4).  

c) The Act allows for the issuing of Fixed Penalty Notices, set at £100 for the 
above two offences (CNEA 2005, Part 2, Sections 6-9).  

2.8. To authorise officers to carry out enforcement detailed within Clean 
Neighbourhood and Environment Act 2005, Environmental Protection Act 
1990; Refusal Disposal (Amenity) Act 1978; Control of Pollution (Amendment) 
Act 1989, , the Controlled Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2012, the 
Unauthorised Deposit of Waste (Fixed Penalty) Regulations 2016, the 
Environmental Protection (Miscellaneous Amendments) (England and Wales) 
Regulations 2018, Environmental Offences  

 
2.9. To authorise Community & Environment Services Manager, Community & 

Environment Officers and Street Wardens to use the powers under section 
108 of the Environment Act 1995,Section 71(2) of the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990 and s29 of the Data Protection Act 1998  (as amended) 
in progressing legitimate investigations . 

 
2.10. To authorise Community & Environment Services Manager, Community & 

Environment Officers and Street Wardens to undertake all investigation in line 
with the Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 (PACE) codes of practice. 

 
2.11. A delegated decision regarding the above (5 - 10) authorities, is considered 

by the relevant officer, who outlines the recommendations and reasons in a 
delegated report when necessary. This is checked by a designated officer 
before a decision is agreed and issued in agreement with portfolio holder. 

 
Dogs 

 
2.12. To authorise the Street Wardens to use and exercise powers of the 

Environmental Protection Act 1990 (part 149-151) in relation to stray dogs. 
 
 

Postal Naming and Numbering 
 
2.13. To supervise the Local Land & Property Gazetteer (LLPG). The LLPG Data 

Entry conventions provide the basis for forming a consistent national dataset 
(NLPG) made up from each of the constituent LLPGs created and maintained 
by local government.  

 
2.14. The requirements deal with the postal naming and numbering of new 

developments pursuant to Sections 17, 18 and 19 of the Public Health Act 

Page 105



1925 and only cases where agreement cannot be reached to be reported to 
the Cabinet. 

 
2.15. To authorise Community and Environment Officers to use and exercise 

powers including a fine were a property fails to display the official house 
number under the Towns Improvement Clauses Act 1847 (sections 64 & 65) 

 
Parking Services 

 Parking on-street and Council Car Parks 

 Decriminalised Parking 

 Construction of communal parking bays and vehicular dropped kerbs and 
hard-standings for Council tenants 

 
2.16. To have authority to permit the Parking and Cemetery Services Manager to 

make applications for Deemed Planning Consent for schemes which form part 
of approved programmes, for example, vehicular hard-standings, dropped 
kerbs and communal parking bays. 

 
2.17. To deal through the Parking and Cemetery Services Manager, as appropriate, 

with all operational matters arising in respect of Decriminalised Parking 
Enforcement. 

 
2.18. To be responsible for producing legally compliant Traffic Regulation Orders 

for, but not limited to, resident parking permit schemes, single and double 
yellow lines and limited waiting bays. 

 
2.19. When no formal objections are received during the Statutory Stage of the 

Traffic Regulation Order consultation process; a delegated decision is 
considered by the relevant officer, who outlines the recommendations and 
reasons in a delegated report. This is checked by a designated officer before 
a decision is agreed and issued in agreement with portfolio holder. 

 
Cemetery Management and Burial Registration 

 
2.20. To use and exercise the powers of the Local Authorities Cemeteries Order 

1977 and any subordinate Regulations or Orders. 
 
2.21. To do all such things as the Council considers necessary or desirable for the 

proper management, regulation and control of a cemetery. 
 
2.22. To bequeath or remove Grants of Exclusive Rights of Burial and Rights to 

Erect Memorials on such terms and subject to conditions as the Council thinks 
proper. 

 
2.23. To use and exercise the power of the Burial Act 1853 and any other 

subordinate Regulations or orders for the appropriate disposal of human 
cadavers and the keeping of the register of burials and disinterment’s. 

 
2.24. A delegated decision regarding the above (19 - 22) is considered by the 

relevant officer, who outlines the recommendations and reasons in a 

Page 106



delegated report. This is checked by a designated officer before a decision is 
agreed and issued in agreement with portfolio holder. 

 
Children’s Play Areas 

 
2.25. To use and exercise the powers of the Children Act 1989 and any subordinate 

Regulations or Orders to ensure all play equipment is safe and suitable and 
meets the standards set out in EN1176, EN1177 and BS7188. 

 
2.26. To uphold the adopted Play Area Strategy for the ongoing management of 

existing equipped areas of play and to ensure adequate future provision.  
 
 
 

 

3. CORPORATE PROPERTY 
 

Under the supervision of the Corporate Director (Resources, 
Environment and Cultural Services) and Head of Resources, the 
Corporate Property Manager is authorised:- 

 

3.1. To control and manage commercial properties owned or occupied by the 
Council. 

 
3.2. To negotiate and determine valuations and rentals of commercial properties 

owned or occupied by the Council in accordance with the policies adopted by 
the Council. 

 
3.3. To approve all rent reviews and terms of leases where an open market rental 

is agreed between the Council and the lessee. 
 

3.4. To approve changes of use of Neighbourhood Centre shops in accordance 
with Council Policy. 

 
3.5. Any negotiation which involves the purchase, lease or sale of land or buildings, 

or the granting of a licence or the right to use Council premises (but excluding 
halls lettings) shall be conducted by or on behalf of the Corporate Property 
Manager who will consult the responsible Corporate Director and Head of 
Service and the Legal Services Manager as appropriate.  The Corporate 
Property Manager will be able to approve transactions with a value of up to 
£100,000 and, in conjunction with the Corporate Director (Resources, 
Environment and Cultural Services) and Head of Resources, up to £500,000. 

 

3.6. To submit Rating Appeals for NNDR properties and agree Assessments with 
the Valuation Office. 

 
3.7. To submit planning and any other statutory applications for Council funded 

projects as appropriate. 
 
3.8. To be responsible for General Fund Garages including maintenance, rent 

setting and recovery of rent owed on these properties. 

Page 107



 
3.9. Authorised signatories for Notices to Quit garages and service of Notices 

under Section 41 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1982 for garages include Corporate Director (Resources, Environment and 
Cultural Services), Head of Resources, and Corporate Property Manager. 

 
3.10. Under the Assets of Community Value (England) Regulations 2012, to 

maintain the List of Assets of Community Value and the List of Assets 
Nominated Unsuccessfully by Community Nonimation and the associated 
administrative procedures. 

 
3.11. The Corporate Director (Resources, Environment and Cultural Services), 

Head of Resources and the Corporate Property Manager to co-ordinate Office 
Accommodation. 

 
 

4. COMMUNICATIONS  

All the delegated powers relating to Communications can also be 
exercised by the Policy and Communications Manager who may also 
delegate to a suitably qualified or experienced colleague such as the 
Senior Communications Officer. 

4.1 To manage and coordinate all of the Council’s internal and external 
communications activities across all recognised channels. 

4.2 To manage the Council’s E-Government and online activities relating to the 
structure and content of the Council’s main website, its separate news and 
projects website, its social media accounts and its intranet for employees. 

4.3 To manage, promote and enforce the Council’s agreed branding guidelines 
for all printed and digitally produced material across all services. 

4.4 To manage the Council’s printing and design contracts to ensure there is both 
a depth and variety of selected contractors with whom services can place work 
orders. 

  

Page 108



5. LEISURE AND CULTURAL SERVICES 

All the following delegated powers relating to leisure and cultural 
services can also be exercised by the Head of Policy and Culture as 
appropriate who may also delegate to a suitably qualified or experienced 
Officer. 

5.1 To agree and oversee the programme of activities and events for Council 
provided leisure and cultural services 

5.2 To agree all appropriate fees and charges for use of Council provided leisure 
and cultural services.   

5.3 To agree and oversee all marketing and promotional activities associated with 
the provision and delivery of Council leisure and cultural services.   

5.4 To agree and manage all revenue budgets for the operation of Council 
provided leisure and cultural services, and to administer all capital budgets for 
investment in new facilities or the enhancement of existing ones.   

5.5 To monitor and report on customer satisfaction and visitor feedback for those 
Council provided leisure and cultural services. 

5.6 To work closely with the appointed Executive Member with responsibility for 
local leisure and cultural services, including the reporting of service activities 
and developments to members of the Council’s Cabinet and other relevant 
committees and appointed panels.  

5.7 To work to improve access to leisure and community services for all 
regardless of their recognised equalities group or circumstances.  

5.8 To agree and oversee all leisure, culture, arts and heritage applications to 
national funding bodies such as the National Lottery Heritage Fund, Sport 
England, Arts Council and others.  

5.9 To represent the Council as the designated Client Manager of the appointed 
leisure contractor, Greenwich Leisure Ltd, who have a contract covering seven 
different sport and leisure sites running to January 2029. 

5.10 To co-ordinate meetings and the work programme of the borough’s Cultural 
Consortium comprising local sport, leisure, heritage, arts and culture partners. 

5.11 Details of key leisure and cultural services in the borough: 

a) Client Management of Greenwich Leisure Ltd. 
(i) Digswell Playing Fields 
(ii) Hatfield Leisure Centre 
(iii) Hatfield Swim Centre 
(iv) King George V Playing Fields 
(v) Moneyhole Lane Playing Fields 
(vi) Panshanger Golf Complex 
(vii) Stanborough Park 

b) Management of Campus West: 

Page 109



i. Cinema Screen 1 (38 seats) 
ii. Cinema Screen 2 (114 seats) 
iii. Hawthorne Theatre / Screen 3 (320 seats) 
iv. Roller City (capacity 200) 
v. Soft Play City (capacity 120) 
vi. Humphrey’s Food and Drink (2 cafes, 1 bar, 1 kitchen)  
vii. Private Hires and Parties 
viii. Vineyard Barn Community Centre 
ix. Hazel Grove Community Centre 
x. Panshanger Community Centre 

c) Management of Welwyn Hatfield Museum Service: 
i. Mill Green Museum 
ii. Mill Green Mill 
iii. Welwyn Roman Baths 
iv. Collections management and interpretation 
v. Exhibitions, galleries and displays 
vi. School visit education programme 
vii. Special community activities and events programme 
viii. Preservation and presentation of local archaeology and history 
ix. Flour production and sale and sales of bread / other produce 

 
 
6. PERFORMANCE  

All the delegated powers relating to performance can also be exercised 
by the Head of Policy and Culture who may also delegate to a suitably 
qualified or experienced colleague such as the Policy and 
Communications Manager.  

6.1 To support the Council in developing and reviewing its published three year 
Business Plans and yearly Business Action Plans, including its agreed 
corporate priorities and supporting objectives to which all of its services 
contribute.  

6.2 To develop and manage an agreed performance management framework 
which integrates the Council’s corporate priorities and objectives with service 
planning activities and the budget setting process. 

6.3 To report on the accurate and timely collection of service performance data 
which enables the Council to monitor its progress against the published 
priorities and objectives for the borough.  

6.4 To integrate new quality, improvement and modernisation initiatives, as 
determined by the Council, into the agreed performance management 
framework. 

6.5 To participate in the Council’s corporate community engagement activities 
through the management and promotion of the established Borough Panel 
comprising local residents. 

Page 110



CORPORATE DIRECTOR  
(PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING AND GOVERNANCE) 

 
The Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance) is authorised:- 
 
To deputise for the Chief Executive as necessary. 
 
To undertake any function delegated to a Director/Head of Service provided it is 
within the law and within his/her capacity. 
 
To be responsible for the implementation of strategies, policies and plans relating to 
Law and Administration, Emergency Planning and Risk Management, Human 
Resources, Public Health and Protection, Hackney Carriage, Town Planning, 
Building Control, Planning and Estate Management, Economic Development, 
Landscape and Ecology Services. 
 
The Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance) is the 
nominated senior responsible officer for the purposes of the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 2000 and is an Authorising Officer for the purpose of the 
use of covert intelligence under the Act. 
 
 
1. LAW AND ADMINISTRATION 

The Head of Law and Administration is authorised to act as the 
Council’s principal legal advisor and is authorised to instruct and 
retain Counsel, external Solicitors or other experts in legal proceedings 
and obtain advice in relation to any matter whenever this is considered 
to be in the interest of the Council, 

The Head of Law and Administration is the Monitoring Officer and will 
exercise all powers necessary to fulfil that statutory role pursuant to 
Sections 5 and 5A of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and 
is authorised:  

1.1 To receive complaints of alleged failure by Members to comply with the 
Code of Conduct determining whether a complaint merits formal 
investigation and to arrange such investigation, seeking resolution of 
complaints without formal investigation wherever practicable, with the 
discretion to refer decisions on investigation to the Standards Committee 
where the Monitoring Officer (and in the absence of the Monitoring Officer, 
the Deputy Monitoring Officer) feels that it is inappropriate for Officers to take 
the decision. 

1.2 To have the power to grant dispensations to Members, where they have a 
“disclosable pecuniary interest” (and in the absence of the Monitoring 
Officer, the Deputy Monitoring Officer) under Section 33 (2) (a), (b), (c), (d) 
and (e) of the Localism Act 2011, and that where the Monitoring Officer or 
Deputy Monitoring Officer consider it appropriate to refer the request to the 
Standards Committee for that body to decide whether to grant such 
dispensation. 

Appendix 8 

Page 111



1.3 To make changes to the Constitution where required in any relevant 
circumstances.  

1.4 To advise the Council on employment legislation, including where necessary 
attendance on behalf of the Council at Employment Tribunal proceedings. 

1.5 To authorise the institution or defence, appearance at, withdrawal or 
settlement of any legal proceeding and be responsible for its conduct in any 
civil or criminal proceedings provided any necessary Committee/Cabinet 
approvals have been obtained and in particular:- 

a) To negotiate and settle claims or disputes of any description including 
the payment of damages, compensation etc and legal costs for claims of 
less than £15,000 in consultation with the Head of Paid Service and 
Corporate Directors. 

b) To negotiate and settle claims or disputes of any description including 
the payment of damages, compensation etc and legal costs for claims 
from £15,000 and up to a limit of £50,000 in consultation with the Head 
of Paid Service and Corporate Directors and the Leader and Executive 
Member, Resources, subject to a report on the action taken being 
submitted to the next meeting of the Council. 

The following delegated powers in 1.6 to 1.18 can also be exercised by the 
Head of Law and Administration and Legal Services Manager who may also 
delegate to a suitably qualified or experienced officer. 

1.6 To authorise, issue and serve all Statutory Notices (including Requisitions for 
Information) under any enactment.  The Corporate Director (Public 
Protection, Planning and Governance) may authorise another officer to serve 
all such notices, once issued by him.  The Head of Law and Administration 
may exercise the power of another officer to authorise, issue and serve such 
notices when that officer is unable or unwilling to act. 

1.7 To take all steps incidental to completing or obtaining the confirmation of any 
Order or other statutory decrees made by the Council  

1.8 To sign and seal documents on behalf of the Council. 

1.9 To authorise the institution of legal proceedings in accordance with 
legislation and common law for the purpose of securing possession of land 
occupied by travellers. 

1.10 To give legal effect to all agreements, contracts or any other document 
requiring execution and completion by the Council provided any necessary 
Committee/Cabinet approvals have been obtained. 

1.11 To carry out on behalf of and in the name of the Council the acquisition and 
disposal of land including for the avoidance of doubt the sale of Council 
houses once terms have been agreed and any necessary 
Committee/Cabinet approvals have been obtained. 

1.12 To enter into agreements under statutory or other powers to ensure that the 
Council’s functions are fulfilled. 

Page 112



1.13 To maintain the Council’s legal documentation. 

1.14 To make street closure orders under section 21 of the Town Police Clauses 
Act 1847. 

1.15 To ensure compliance with the requirements specified in relevant Data 
Protection and Freedom of Information legislation. 

1.16 To be responsible, in conjunction with the Governance Services Manager for 
arranging the annual member induction, training and development 
programmes. 

1.17 To receive petitions and refer them to the appropriate Committee, in 
accordance with the Council’s Petition Scheme and reject those petitions 
which do not meet the scheme or which are considered to be vexatious, 
abusive or otherwise inappropriate. 

1.18 To be responsible, in conjunction with the Procurement Manager, for the co-
ordination of the procurement function throughout the Council to ensure 
compliance with relevant legislation and that best practice and value for 
money are achieved in procurement exercises and the development of 
appropriate strategies. 

 
2. HUMAN RESOURCES 

All the following delegated powers relating to Human Resources can 
also be exercised by the Human Resources Manager who may also 
delegate to a suitably qualified or experienced Officer. 

Responsible for the strategic management of Human Resources and overall 
responsibility for the Human Resources service area, including: 

2.1. Workforce development planning 

2.2. Policies and procedures for Corporate Management Team approval relating 
to all aspects of employment, and to undertake necessary consultation & 
negotiations with recognised Trade Unions. 

2.3. To implement nationally agreed pay awards for all employees. 

2.4. To negotiate and agree settlement agreements where the circumstances 
warrant it. 

2.5. Report on cases outside current policies to the Corporate Management 
Team for decision. 

2.6. To arrange a corporate learning & development programme. 

2.7. To ensure apprenticeship levy funding is maximised. 

Page 113



2.8. To negotiate and agree Occupational Health provision, an Employee 
Assistance Programme and other employee benefits as directed by 
Corporate Management Team. 

 
 
3. PUBLIC HEALTH AND PROTECTION, INCLUDING ENVIRONMENTAL 

HEALTH AND LICENSING 
 
The Head of Public Health and Protection and Licensing Team Leader are 
Authorising Officers for the purpose of the use of covert surveillance under 
the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000. 
 
The Head of Public Health and Protection is a member of the WHC 
Resilience Team and may take all necessary and appropriate action in 
response to a civil emergency or business continuity incidents, in 
accordance with the Council’s Emergency Plan or Business Continuity 
Plans. 
 
All the following delegated powers can also be exercised by the Head 
of Public Health and Protection who may also delegate to a suitably 
qualified or experienced Officer. 

 
3.1. To serve or authorise service of notices: 

a) Requiring the disclosure of interests in land.  

b) Requiring the abatement of statutory nuisances and prohibiting the 
occurrence or recurrence of statutory nuisances. 

 
3.2. To defer the service of abatement notices in respect of noise nuisance. 

3.3. To take action to ensure the restoration or continuation of the supply of 
water, gas or electricity to premises. 

3.4. To negotiate contracts in respect of pest control. 

3.5. To negotiate contracts for the performance of any environmental health 
function. 

3.6. To authorise the carrying out of works in default arising from actions taken in 
accordance with environmental health or other  legislation and to arrange for 
the recovery of costs. 

3.7. To request or respond to requests for mutual aid assistance for performance 
of any environmental health function. 

3.8. To appoint or authorise any registered veterinary surgeon or veterinary 
practitioner to carry out duties in connection with any food or animal related 
legislation or licence which it is the Council's remit to enforce. 

3.9. To make or authorise applications to the Magistrates Court for warrants 
authorising entry to premises or land. 

Page 114



3.10. To authorise the institution of legal proceedings in accordance with 
legislation falling within environmental health, public health, pest control and 
licensing duties and responsibilities and for the purpose of securing 
possession of land occupied by travellers. 

3.11. To authorise any suitably qualified or experienced person to act or to 
execute powers under any current Environmental Health, Public Health, 
sunbeds/radiological protection, Food Safety, European Community, 
Environmental Protection, Health and Safety, Infectious Disease, Pollution 
Control, Community Protection, Animal Welfare, Health Protection, hackney 
carriage, private hire, Licensing, Gambling and Housing legislation enforced 
or administered by the Council and to sign such authorisations. 

3.12. To authorise surveillance in connection with the gathering of evidence for 
environmental health or licensing offences. 

3.13. To take or authorise the taking of samples of air, land, water, food or other 
substances or materials and cause them to be tested or examined. 

3.14. To issue Simple Cautions for offences for which Public Health and Protection 
has enforcement responsibility (including licensing, hackney carriage and 
private hire). 

3.15. To authorise applications for anti- social behaviour orders in connection with 
legislation falling within the remit of environmental health and licensing. 

3.16. To appoint or authorise a General Medical Practitioner or other suitable 
person(s) to act on behalf of the Council or to advise the Council on matters 
relating to the removal to suitable premises of persons in need of care and 
attention. 

3.17. To be a Member of the Council’s Resilience team. 

3.18. To negotiate, agree or modify primary authority agreements having first 
discussed the matter with the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning 
and Governance) and relevant portfolio Holder. 

3.19. Upon application and in conjunction with the Risk and Resilience 
Manager and the Risk and Resilience Officer (unless they have made that 
decision) to review any decision in relation to stopping, imposing 
conditions or imposing restrictions on an event within the Borough on the 
grounds of health or safety. 

3.20. In pursuance of the Council’s duties in respect of pollution control:- 

To take action if it appears that waste has been deposited in or on any land 
in contravention of section 33(1) Environmental Protection Act 1990 and that 
in order to remove or prevent pollution of land, water or air or harm to human 
health it is necessary that the waste be forthwith removed or other steps 
taken to eliminate or reduce the consequences of the deposit or both and to 
take steps to recover the costs incurred by the Authority in doing so.  

a) To serve or authorise the service of notices: 

Page 115



i. Requiring the abatement of statutory nuisance and prohibiting or 
restricting the occurrence or recurrence of statutory nuisance. 

ii. In respect of the control of noise on building sites. 
iii. Requiring further information for the purpose of determining 

applications for authorisation of prescribed processes. 
iv. Requiring persons to furnish information concerning processes 

capable of causing pollution of the environment. 
v. Requiring information concerning furnaces and fuel consumed. 
vi. Requiring information concerning the emission of pollutants and 

other substances into the air from premises.  
vii. To remediate contaminated land. 
viii. To determine contaminated land. 
ix. To designate air quality management areas. 

b) To negotiate the handover of special sites to the environment agency. 

c) To determine conditions for the grant, variation, revocation or refusal of 
authorisations and permits to carry on prescribed processes. 

d) To serve or authorise the service of enforcement notices and prohibition 
notices for prescribed processes. 

e) To approve or reject applications for prior approval of furnace 
installations. 

f) To approve or reject applications for approval of chimney heights. 

g) To approve or reject applications for exemptions from the requirement to 
fit plant for arresting grit and dust. 

h) To determine applications for prior consent in respect of measures to 
minimise noise on construction sites. 

i) To register or to refuse the registration of intruder alarms.  To designate 
or withdraw alarm notification areas. 

j) To issue or authorise the issue of fixed penalty notices for failure to 
notify key holder details and to arrange for the collection of receipts from 
such fixed penalty notices. 

k) To issue or authorise the issue of fixed penalty notices for noise from 
licensed premises or domestic premises and to arrange for the collection 
of the fixed penalty receipts from such notices. 

l) Authorised person for the purposes of s108 and 109 of the Environment 
Act 1995 

m) To pursue legal action against occupiers of premises for dark smoke 
emitted from chimney stacks and dark smoke emitted from industrial or 
trade premises. 

n) For the purpose of determining whether any provision of the pollution 
control enactments in the case of that authority is being, or has been, 
complied with; of exercising or performing one or more of the pollution 
control functions of that authority; or of determining whether and, if so, 
how such a function should be exercised or performed any or all of the 
powers below:  

Page 116



i. to enter at any reasonable time (or, in an emergency, at any time 
and, if need be, by force) any premises which he has reason to 
believe it is necessary for him to enter;  

ii. on entering any premises by virtue of paragraph (a) above, to take 
with him 

 any other person duly authorised by the enforcing authority 
and, if the authorised person has reasonable cause to 
apprehend any serious obstruction in the execution of his 
duty, a constable; and  

 any equipment or materials required for any purpose for 
which the power of entry is being exercised;  

iii. to make such examination and investigation as may in any 
circumstances be necessary;  

iv. as regards any premises which he has power to enter, to direct 
that those premises or any part of them, or anything in them, shall 
be left undisturbed (whether generally or in particular respects) for 
so long as is reasonably necessary for the purpose of any 
examination or investigation under paragraph (iii) above;  

o) to take such measurements and photographs and make such recordings 
as he considers necessary for the purpose of any examination or 
investigation under paragraph (iii) above;  

p) to take samples, or cause samples to be taken, of any articles or 
substances found in or on any premises which he has power to enter, 
and of the air, water or land in, on, or in the vicinity of, the premises;  

q) in the case of any article or substance found in or on any premises which 
he has power to enter, being an article or substance which appears to 
him to have caused or to be likely to cause pollution of the environment 
or harm to human health, to cause it to be dismantled or subjected to 
any process or test (but not so as to damage or destroy it, unless that is 
necessary);  

r) in the case of any such article or substance as is mentioned in 
paragraph (q) above, to take possession of it and detain it for so long as 
is necessary for all or any of the following purposes, namely  

i. to examine it, or cause it to be examined, and to do, or cause to 
be done, to it anything which he has power to do under that 
paragraph;  

ii. to ensure that it is not tampered with before examination of it is 
completed;  

iii. to ensure that it is available for use as evidence in any 
proceedings for an offence under the pollution control enactments 
in the case of the enforcing authority under whose authorisation 
he acts or in any other proceedings relating to a variation notice, 
enforcement notice or prohibition notice under those enactments;  

s) to require any person whom he has reasonable cause to believe to be 
able to give any information relevant to any examination or investigation 
under paragraph (iii) above to answer (in the absence of persons other 
than a person nominated by that person to be present and any persons 
whom the authorised person may allow to be present) such questions as 

Page 117



the authorised person thinks fit to ask and to sign a declaration of the 
truth of his answers;  

t) to require the production of, or where the information is recorded in 
computerised form, the furnishing of extracts from, any records  

i. which are required to be kept under the pollution control 
enactments for the enforcing authority under whose authorisation 
he acts, or  

ii. which it is necessary for him to see for the purposes of an 
examination or investigation under paragraph (iii) above,  

and to inspect and take copies of, or of any entry in, the records; 

u) to require any person to afford him such facilities and assistance with 
respect to any matters or things within that person’s control or in relation 
to which that person has responsibilities as are necessary to enable the 
authorised person to exercise any of the powers conferred on him by 
this section;  

v) any other power for:- 
i. a purpose falling within any paragraph of subsection (i) above, or  
ii. any such purpose as is mentioned in subsection (ii) above,  

which is conferred by Regulations made by the Secretary of State. 

in the case of any article or substance found by him on any premises 
which he has power to enter, and having reasonable cause to believe 
that, in the circumstances in which it is found the article or substance is 
a cause of imminent danger of serious pollution of the environment or 
serious harm to human health, seize it and cause it to be rendered 
harmless (whether by destruction or otherwise).  

w) To appoint suitable persons as authorised persons under Section 108 of 
the Environment Act 1995. 

x) To issue or authorise the issue of community protection notices. 

y) To be an Authorised person for the purpose of part 4 chapter 1 and 
sections 47, 52 and 53 of the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing 
Act  2014. 

z) To authorise or designate persons for the purpose of part 4 chapter 1 
and sections 47 and 53 of the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing 
Act  2014. 

aa) To issue or authorise the issue of a written warning prior to issuing a 
community protection notice. 

bb) To take or authorise the taking of remedial action where a person has 
failed to comply with a community protection notice. 

cc) To serve or authorise the service of a notice to a person who has failed 
to comply with a community protection notice and notices setting out 
works and costs. 

dd) To authorise the institution of proceedings for failure to comply with a 
community protection notice. 

ee) To issue or authorise the issue of a fixed penalty notice to anyone 
believed to have committed an offence under section 48 of the Anti-
social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014. 

Page 118



ff) To issue or authorise a closure notice under section 76 of the Anti-social 
Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 to cancel or vary such notices 
and to make or authorise the making of an application to a court for a 
closure order. 

gg) To serve written warnings for failure to comply with a Section 46 
requirement where that failure has caused or was likely to cause a 
nuisance and to require the payment of appropriate fixed penalty 
sums. 

3.21. In pursuance of the Council’s duties in respect of food protection:- 

a) To serve notices in respect of food appearing to fail to comply with food 
safety requirements or appearing likely to cause food poisoning or 
disease. 

b) To take necessary steps to deal with food which appears to be unsafe. 

c) To serve improvement notices in respect of food premises. 

d) To serve hygiene improvement notices. 

e) To serve emergency prohibition notices and to make application for 
emergency prohibition orders in respect of food premises. 

f) To serve hygiene emergency prohibition notices and to make application 
for hygiene emergency prohibition orders in respect of food premises. 

g) To issue certificates ceasing the effect of emergency prohibition notices, 
emergency prohibition orders, hygiene prohibition notices and hygiene 
prohibition orders. 

h) To register food premises. 

i) To approve food establishments under product specific legislation and to 
modify or withdraw approvals. 

j) To detain consignments of food not of animal origin and offer options for 
rejection, re-export, destruction or alternative use for unsound or 
unwholesome goods including those which fail to satisfy the food safety 
requirements. 

k) To enforce Local Authority controls inland for animal products. 

l) To inspect, seize, detain and dispose of meat suspected of containing 
specified risk material. 

m) To serve remedial action notices. 

n) To serve detention notices. 

o) To certify food as unsafe where a premises within which it is found fails 
to meet any of the food hygiene requirements. 

p) To approve establishments to remove Specified Risk Material (Bovine 
Vertebral Column) in animals 24 to 30 months old in butchers shops. 

q) To issue or sign food export certificates. 

r) To sign national food hygiene rating scheme certificates. 

s) To apply to a Court for a hygiene prohibition order. 

Page 119



3.22. In pursuance of the Council’s duties and functions except in its 
capacity as an employer in respect of health and safety at work:- 

a) To serve improvement notices. 

b) To serve prohibition notices. 

c) To grant exemptions to welfare provisions in offices and shops. 

d) To agree the transfer or assignment of enforcement responsibility for 
health and safety enforcement of premises to and from the Health and 
Safety Executive. 

e) To appoint suitably qualified persons as Inspectors. 

f) To authorise persons to accompany Inspectors. 

g) To exercise all or any of the powers of Inspectors. 

h) To deal with the causes of imminent danger. 

i) To disclose health and safety information. 

j) To institute proceedings. 

k) To prosecute. 

l) To exercise powers in connection with the control of pesticides. 

m) To accept the handover of an incident scene from the Police. 

n) To enter into flexible warranting arrangements with the Health and 
Safety Executive. 

3.23. In pursuance of the Council’s duties in respect of public health:- 

a) To serve or authorise the service of notices:- 
i. For the cleansing and disinfecting of premises and the disinfecting 

or destruction of articles. 
ii. In respect of filthy or verminous premises. 
iii. In respect of insufficient, blocked, defective or leaking drains, 

sewers, cesspools and septic tanks. 
iv. Requiring the provision of satisfactory drainage to buildings. 
v. Requiring the provision of closets and sanitary conveniences. 
vi. Requiring the putting into a satisfactory condition of defective 

closets. 
vii. In respect of improving a private water supply and requiring the 

provision of water supply to a premises.   
viii. For the carrying out of works to remedy unwholesome or 

insufficient water supplies. 
ix. For the removal of accumulations of rubbish and noxious matter. 
x. Requiring the provision of dustbins. 
xi. Requiring steps to be taken to destroy rats and mice or otherwise 

keep land free from rats and mice. 
xii. To give notice of intention to carry out block treatments for 

rodents. 
xiii. To issue or authorise the issue of litter clearing notices on the 

owner or occupiers of land and to authorise work in default, 
prosecution or receipt of a fixed penalty payment for default of 
such a notice. 

Page 120



xiv. The disinfestations of verminous articles offered for sale. 
xv. In conjunction and consultation with an officer from the County 

Council Social Services to direct that a person in need of care is 
removed to a hospital or institution. 

xvi. To control communicable, infectious disease, parasites and pests. 

b) To authorise applications for orders to close or restrict the use of 
polluted water supplies. 

c) To arrange for the unblocking and cleansing of drains and private 
sewers where alternative courses of action are likely to result in a higher 
cost to the Council. 

d) To make arrangements for the disposal of dead bodies where no other 
suitable arrangements are being made. 

e) To issue licences in respect of moveable dwellings. 

f) To set fees for pest control treatments. 

g) To authorise applications for orders for the removal, detention and 
cleansing of verminous persons. 

h) To make arrangements to secure the removal to suitable premises of 
persons in need of care and attention. 

i) To represent the Environmental Health interests of the Council at any 
Science and Technical Advice Cell (STAC), Joint Health Advisory Cell 
(JHAC), Health Advisory Team, Outbreak Control Team, Command 
Team or Incident Management Team. 

j) To respond to a consultation from the statutory water undertaker 
regarding their proposal to obtain a short-term authorised departure from 
the relevant prescribed concentration or value or other recognised 
standard. 

k) To issue or authorise the issue of notices to persons who smoke in a 
smoke-free place. 

l) To issue or authorise the issue of notices for remedying the failure to 
display no smoking signs in a smoke-free premise, place or vehicle. 

m) Serve notice requiring a parent to keep a child away from school.  

n) Serve notice upon a head teacher (or their deputy) requiring them to 
provide details of the names, addresses and contact numbers for all the 
pupils or a group of pupils.  

o) Disinfect or decontaminate or cause to be disinfected or decontaminated 
a thing when requested to do so by the owner of a thing.  

p) Disinfect or decontaminate or cause to be disinfected or decontaminated 
a thing upon request of a person with custody or control of that thing.  

q) Disinfect or decontaminate or cause to be disinfected or decontaminated 
a premises on request of the owner.  

r) Disinfect or decontaminate or cause to be disinfected or decontaminated 
a premises on request of a tenant.  

Page 121



s) Refuse to disinfect or decontaminate or cause to be disinfected or 
decontaminated a thing or premises.  

t) Serve notice on any person or group of persons to request that the 
person or group of persons do, or refrain from doing, anything for the 
purpose of preventing, protecting against, controlling or providing a 
public health response to the incidence or spread of infection or 
contamination which presents or could present significant harm to 
human health.  

u) Serve notice prohibiting contact with dead bodies.  

v) Serve notice to restrict access to dead bodies.  

w) Relocate or cause to be relocated a dead body to a place where it is 
considered the risk of the dead body infecting or contaminating people is 
reduced or removed.  

x) Apply to a justice of the peace for an order under part 2A of the Public 
Health (Control of Disease) Act 1984 as amended.  

y) Enter a premises at all reasonable hours, other than any part of a 
premises used as a private dwelling, in order to find out if a part 2A 
order has been breached or find out if action should be taken in relation 
to an order or take action in relation to an order or generally for the 
performance of local authority functions in relation to an order.  

z) To take or authorise the taking of works for the purpose of preventing 
entry where a building is not secured against unauthorised entry or 
where land is likely to become a danger to public health. 

 
aa) To deal with any rubbish which is in the open air and which is seriously 

detrimental to the amenities of the neighbourhood, including service of 
notice, issue of fixed penalty notice, collection of fixed penalty receipts, 
authorisation of work in default and prosecution. 

bb) To require the removal of material from a demolished building.  

cc) To appoint authorised officers in connection with the regulation of 
sunbeds. 

dd) To make such purchases and secure the provision of such services as 
considered necessary for the purpose of the proper exercise of functions 
under the Sunbeds (Regulation) Act 2010. 

ee) To enter any premises (other than domestic premises) where there is 
reason to believe that a sunbed business is being carried on. 

ff) To carry out on any premises (other than domestic premises) where 
there is reason to believe that a sunbed business is being carried on 
such inspections as the officer considers necessary for the purpose of 
the proper exercise of the officer's functions under the Sunbeds 
(Regulation) Act 2010. 

gg) Where considered necessary for that purpose, to require the production 
of any book, document or record (in whatever form it is held) and inspect 
it, and take copies of or extracts from it (in connection with the regulation 
of sunbeds). 

Page 122



hh) To take possession of any book, document or record which is on the 
premises (in whatever form it is held) and retain it for as long as the 
officer considers necessary for that purpose; (in connection with the 
regulation of sunbeds).  

ii) To require any person to give such information, or afford such facilities 
and assistance, as the officer considers necessary for that purpose (in 
connection with the regulation of sunbeds).  

jj) To remove or cause to be removed from any land in the open air any 
rubbish (including rubble, waste, paper, crockery and metal) which is 
seriously detrimental to the amenity of the neighbourhood. 

kk) to serve a notice under section 9 of the Health Act 2006 relating to 
smoke free England controls.  

ll) To deal with unoccupied buildings which are not effectively secured or 
are likely to be a danger to public health, including the service of notice 
or undertaking immediate works to prevent a danger to public health. 

mm) To determine if a failure to comply with a requirement imposed upon a 
householder in relation to receptacles for household waste has caused 
or is or was likely to cause a nuisance or has been or is or was likely to 
be detrimental to any amenities of the locality. 

nn) To detain a horse which is in any public place within the area of the 
authority where there are reasonable grounds for believing that the 
horse is there without lawful authority and if the land is lawfully 
occupied by a person, there are reasonable grounds for believing that 
person would give their consent to the detention of the horse. 

oo) To give notice to the officer in charge of a police station and (where 
the owner of a horse is known) extending the period for which a horse 
may be detained. 

pp) To take ownership of a horse on behalf of the Council at the expiration 
of the detention period and in conjunction with the relevant portfolio 
holder to dispose of it by selling it, arranging for it to be destroyed or in 
any other way; the Council retaining liability for any damage caused to 
the horse by failure to treat it with reasonable care and supply it with 
adequate food and water whilst so detained. 

qq) To be an authorised person for the purposes of section 23 and 25 of the 
Psychoactive substances Act 2016. 

rr) In connection with psychoactive substances to give a prohibition notice 
to a person where it is reasonably believed that the person is carrying on 
or is likely to carry on a prohibited activity and there is reasonable belief 
that it is necessary and proportionate to give a prohibition notice for the 
purpose of preventing the person from carrying on any prohibited 
activity. 

ss) In connection with psychoactive substances to give a premises notice to 
a person who owns, leases, occupies, controls or operates a premises 
where it is reasonably believed that a prohibited activity is being or likely 
to be carried on at that particular premises and that it is reasonably 
believed it is necessary and proportionate to give the premise notice for 

Page 123



the purpose of preventing and prohibited activity from being carried on at 
any premises owned, leased, occupied, controlled or operated by that 
person. 

tt) In connection with psychoactive substances to apply to a Court for a 
prohibition order. 

uu) In connection with psychoactive substances to apply to a Court for a 
premises order. 

vv) In connection with psychoactive substances to apply to a Court for the 
reimbursement of costs incurred for the purposes of clearing, securing 
or maintaining a premises in respect of which a prohibition is in effect. 

3.24. In respect of public health partnership working, health and wellbeing 
and health improvements:- 

a) To facilitate the Council’s partnership working with the National Health 
Service and other organisations, co-ordinate the Council’s response to 
NHS Public Health England and other initiatives and support the 
promotion of the Council’s role in health improvement by focusing 
attention on the prevention of ill health in respect of public health 
partnership working, health and wellbeing and health improvement. 

b) In connection with flood risk management, having first consulted with the 
Environment Agency and Lead Local Flood Authority to authorise the 
carrying out of flood risk management work to ordinary  watercourses if 
it is considered the work is desirable having regard to the local flood risk 
management strategy for the area and the purpose of the work is to 
manage a flood risk in the authority’s area from an ordinary watercourse 
including a lake, pond or other area of water which flows into an ordinary 
watercourse. 

3.25. In pursuance of the Council’s duties in respect of local licensing:- 

a) To grant, renew, vary or transfer licences for the use of premises for the 
sale by retail of alcohol, the supply of alcohol by or on behalf of a club 
to, or to the order of, a member of the club, the provision of regulated 
entertainment, and the provision of late night refreshment where no 
representations have been made. 

b) To issue, renew, vary, refuse suspend or revoke licences in respect of 
selling animals as pets, providing or arranging for the provision of 
boarding for cats or dogs, hiring out horses, breeding of dogs, keeping 
or training animals for exhibition, animal boarding establishments, pet 
shops and dog breeders. 

c) To grant, renew, refuse, revoke or vary licences for the keeping of 
dangerous wild animals. 

d) To grant, renew, vary, revoke or refuse licences or consents for street 
trading. 

e) To register or refuse to register persons and premises for acupuncture, 
tattooing, semi permanent skin colouring, cosmetic piercing, ear piercing 
and electrolysis. 

f) To grant, renew, refuse or revoke gaming machine permits. 

Page 124



g) To set fees for licences, registrations and consents.  

h) To determine and amend conditions for licences registrations and 
consents.  

i) To authorise the service of notices for the provision, cleaning and 
availability of sanitary accommodation at entertainments, exhibitions or 
sporting events, at places used for the sale of food and drink and at 
betting offices. 

j) To deal with the approval or refusal of applications for licences/permits 
in relation to house-to-house and street collections. 

k) To grant a personal licence for selling alcohol if no representation has 
been made. 

l) To approve a provisional statement if no representation has been made. 

m) Except if a representation has been made by the Police, to approve a 
variation to a designated personal licence holder. 

n) To remove a person as a designated premises supervisor, upon their 
request. 

o) To approve applications for interim authorities if no Police representation 
has been made. 

p) To decide if a request for a licence review is irrelevant, frivolous, 
repetitious or vexatious. 

q) To object to a licence application when the Authority is a consultee and 
not the lead authority. 

r) To deal with the approval or refusal of applications for registration of 
societies and the issue or refusal of permits for amusements with prizes 
at commercial entertainments for the purposes of the Gambling Act. 

s) To respond to Temporary Event Notices. 

t) To approve new applications for the use of up to five amusement with 
prizes machines and to approve applications for transfers and renewals 
of existing amusement with prizes machines. 

u) With the approval of the relevant Executive Member to set fees under 
the Gambling Act 2005. 

v) To approve applications to grant, vary transfer licence to enable 
gambling, where no representations have been received or where 
representations have been withdrawn. 

w) To approve an application for a provisional statement under the 
Gambling Act 2005 where no representations have been received or 
where representations have been withdrawn. 

x) To approve an application for club gaming or club machine permits 
where no representations have been received or where representations 
have been withdrawn. 

y) To approve applications for permits under the Gambling Act 2005. 

z) To issue a cancellation of licensed premise gaming machine permits. 

Page 125



aa) To consider and respond to a temporary use notice in connection with 
the Gambling Act 2005. 

bb) To designate persons as an “authorised person” for the purpose of part 
15 of the Gambling Act 2005. 

cc) To be an inspector for the purposes of section 51 of the Animal Welfare 
Act 2006. 

dd) To inspect premises to check compliance with the conditions of a licence 
or registration relating to animal welfare or regulations which implement 
a community obligation. 

ee) In connection with the welfare of animals, to serve improvement notices 
in relation to an animal’s needs.  

ff) To take, or arrange to be taken, appropriate immediate steps to alleviate 
a protected animal’s suffering.  

gg) To enter premises for the purposes of searching for a protected animal 
and for the purpose of exercising any powers under section 10, 18, 19, 
25, 26, 27, 28, 29 and 30 of the Animal Welfare Act 2006. 

hh) Enforcement powers under “The Animal Welfare (licensing of Activities 
Involving Animals) (England) Regulations 2018. 

ii) To require the production of records kept pursuant to an animal welfare 
licence.  

jj) To carry out an inspection to check compliance with regulations 
concerning animals bred or for farming.  

kk) To stop, detain and search a vehicle for the purpose of searching for a 
protected animal where accompanied by a constable in uniform.  

ll) To suspend premises licences and club premises certificates for non-
payment of annual fees. 

mm) To issue licences in relation to scrap metal. 

nn) To agree minor variations. 

oo) To approve applications of all types under the Scrap Metal Dealers Act 
2013 under delegated authority in the case of applications which are 
uncontested and/or where enquiries with relevant consultees do not 
reveal any relevant offences or other cause for concern and to use all 
local authority enforcement powers provided by the Act and to further 
delegate these powers to other suitable Council Officers. 

pp) To determine if the Council should exercise its powers as a responsible 
authority for the purposes of the Licensing Act 2003; and if appropriate 
to exercise those powers and to put in place arrangements to ensure 
that there is adequate separation of functions when carrying out those 
powers. 

qq) To apply to a residential property tribunal when a fee for a caravan site 
licence has become overdue for an order requiring the licence holder to 
pay the amount due by a specified date. 

rr) To apply to a tribunal for an order revoking a caravan site licence. 

Page 126



ss) To determine fees for caravan site licences. 

tt) To issue compliance notices in circumstances where an occupier is 
failing or has failed to comply with a condition attached to a caravan site 
licence. 

uu) To revoke a compliance notice. 

vv) To vary a compliance notice by extending the period within which steps 
must be taken. 

ww) To exercise initiative to determine whether a compliance notice should 
be revoked or varied. 

xx) To apply to a court for an order revoking a caravan site licence. 

yy) To apply to a court to make an order specifying the date on which the 
revocation of a caravan site licence takes effect. 

zz) To serve a demand which sets out the expenses which are sought to be 
recovered from an occupier of land in connection with a compliance 
notice. 

aaa) To take steps required by a compliance notice and to take such further 
action as considered appropriate for ensuring condition(s) specified in 
the compliance notice are complied with. 

bbb) To serve notice setting out the mandatory matters needed to give 
notice that the local authority will be taking steps required by a 
compliance notice or such further action as considered appropriate for 
ensuring condition(s) specified in the compliance notice are complied 
with. 

ccc) To authorise persons other than an officer of the local authority to take 
action on behalf of the authority to take steps required by a compliance 
notice and to take such further action as considered appropriate for 
ensuring condition(s) specified in the compliance notice are complied 
with. 

ddd) To exercise powers to take emergency action in connection with 
licensed caravan sites. 

eee) To serve notice setting out the mandatory matters prior to taking 
emergency action. 

fff) To apply for a warrant to enter caravan sites. 

ggg) To authorise persons other than an officer of the local authority to take 
emergency action on behalf of the authority in connection with licensed 
caravan sites. 

hhh) To serve notice within the period of 7 days beginning with the date 
when the emergency action is to start which sets out the mandatory 
matters relating to the nature of the imminent risk of serious harm, the 
nature of the emergency action and other prescribed matters. 

iii) To impose a charge on the recipient of emergency action to recover the 
costs incurred in taking emergency action by service of a demand for 
expenses. 

jjj) To grant, transfer and vary licences for caravan sites. 

Page 127



kkk) To alter conditions on site licences for caravan sites. 

lll) To determine applications for the grant, renewal, transfer or variation of 
licences unless established policy states or the Corporate Director 
(Public Protection, Planning and Governance) or the Head of Public 
Health and Protection consider it is more appropriate for the 
determination to be made by Members. 

mmm) To give notice to the Secretary of State that an applicant for a 
personal licence has relevant immigration or foreign offences or has 
refused to pay an immigration penalty. 

nnn) To consider an immigration Objections Notice and its appropriateness 
to the prevention of illegal working in licensed premises and having 
consulted with the relevant Portfolio Holder, to reject the licence 
application if it is considered to do so, having regard to the notice. 

 
3.26. Infectious Disease 

In accordance with the environmental health legislation falling within the 
duties and responsibilities of the Council and in accordance with Council 
Policy and Responsibility for Functions:- 

The Proper Officer for the Council in respect of matters relating to the control 
and spread of infectious disease and contamination shall be any physician 
working as a consultant in public health medicine or communicable disease 
control and employed by Public Health England including those providing on 
call cover for this team from other geographical areas and the Director of 
Public Health and any consultant in public health nominated by him who are 
authorised and empowered to:- 

a) Execute all powers in relation to the notification and control of infectious 
disease. 

b) Issue Pasteurisation Orders. 

c) Sign notices requiring the cleansing of a filthy or verminous person. 

d) To keep a child with infectious disease or contamination off school.  

e) To formally request co-operation to protect public health.  

f) To undertake or arrange for the disinfection/decontamination of 
premises or articles.  

g) To limit contact with the body of a person who has died from infectious 
disease or contamination.   

 

 
4. EMERGENCY PLANNING AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

All the following delegated powers relating to Emergency Planning and 
Risk Management can also be exercised by the Head of Public 
Protection and Risk and Resilience Manager who may also delegate to 
a suitably qualified, empowered and experienced Officer 

Page 128



4.1. To be a member of the Council Resilience Team and take all necessary and 
appropriate action in response to a civil emergency or business continuity 
incidents, in accordance with the Council’s Emergency Plan or Business 
Continuity Plans. 

4.2. To be responsible for the functions and duties of the Council in accordance 
with the Civil Contingencies Act 2004, including: 

a) The duty to co-operate with other organisations engaged in response 
within the local resilience area 

b) The duty to share information with other responders 

c) The duty to carry out risk assessments and co-operate with other 
agencies in this 

d) Maintaining emergency plans 

e) Maintaining business continuity plans 

f) The duty to warn and inform the public 

g) Advice and assistance to businesses and the voluntary sector in respect 
of business continuity management 

4.3. To provide corporate support in respect of resilience including the training of 
employees and testing, validation and exercising of plans. 

4.4. To ensure representation of the Council’s interests within meetings of the 
Local Resilience Forum or groups/sub-groups thereof. 

4.5. To advise the Council as duty holder under the Health and Safety at Work 
Act 1974 and subordinate legislation and guidance. 

4.6. To maintain an adequate and effective process for risk management. 

4.7. To enter at all reasonable times onto any Council premises or land to carry 
out any safety related investigation, inspection, assessment or review, 
requesting such records and explanation as may be necessary for these 
purposes, and to authorise other Officers in this regard. 

4.8. To require the immediate suspension of any activity where it is believed in 
good faith that a breach of health and safety law and regulation has occurred 
or is likely to occur, or where it is believed that there is imminent danger to 
the health, safety and wellbeing of any persons and to authorise other 
Officers in this regard. 

4.9. To attend and represent or authorise another Officer to attend and represent 
the interests of, and make decisions on behalf of, Welwyn Hatfield Borough 
Council at any of the below which may be set up either in response to any 
incident or in order to plan for any identified threat or hazard: 

a) Command Team 

b) Incident Management Team 

c) Multi-agency meeting  

Page 129



These duties may include (but are not limited to) the following: 

 Activate the Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Emergency Plan 

 Initiate and approve the deployment of Council employees, 
contractors and partner organisations in support of the response 

 Designate a rest/reception centre and deploy staff 

 Request appropriate support from Hertfordshire County Council, 
including (but not limited to) voluntary sector, social care services 
and passenger transport services 

 Receive requests for support required from Welwyn Hatfield 
Borough Council 

 Recommend that the Chief Executive requests mutual aid from 
other local authorities 

 Receive all relevant communications and documentation related 
to the incident. 

 Attending or facilitating post incident debriefing.  

4.10. To ensure a plan is prepared and updated in connection with the Prevent 
agenda. 

4.11. Ensure that training and data gathering are carried out in respect of Prevent 

 
 
5. HACKNEY CARRIAGES 

The following delegated powers in 5.1 to 5.3 relating to hackney 
carriage and private hire licences and legislation can also be exercised 
by the Head of Public Health and Protection and Hackney Carriage 
Officer who may also delegate to a suitably qualified or experienced 
Officer. 

5.1 To grant, renew or refuse hackney carriage/private hire vehicle, driver or 
operator licences unless the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning 
and Governance) or Head of Public Health and Protection considers it more 
prudent and or appropriate for the application to be dealt with by the 
Hackney Carriage Committee. 

5.2 To carry out investigations into alleged contraventions of hackney carriage 
and private hire legislation, policy, conditions or byelaws and to take 
appropriate action including the suspension or revocation of any hackney 
carriage or private hire licence granted by the Council or to 
prosecute/institute proceedings for offences.  Where the Corporate Director 
(Public Protection, Planning and Governance) or Head of Public Health and 
Protection considers that it is not prudent and/or appropriate to exercise this 
delegated power the alleged contravention shall be referred to the Hackney 
Carriage Committee for determination. 

5.3 Having first informed the Executive Member, has the power to serve notice 
to suspend or revoke any licence in the interest of public safety and must 
report such action to the first meeting of the relevant Committee following the 
taking of such action. 

Page 130



5.4 To grant, renew or refuse hackney carriage/private hire vehicle, driver or 
operator licences unless the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning 
and Governance) or Head of Public Health and Protection considers it more 
prudent and or appropriate for the application to be dealt with by the 
Hackney Carriage Committee 

5.5 In respect of hackney carriage/private hire vehicle, driver or operator 
licences subject to immigration control, to specify a period with the licence 
that it will remain in force in accordance with the leave period. 

 
 
6. Planning 

All of the following delegated powers relating to planning can also be 
exercised by the Head of Planning, who may also delegate to other 
suitable qualified and/or experienced officers in accordance with an 
agreed Scheme of Delegation: 

6.1. To approve and refuse all types of applications submitted under the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 and other planning and relevant legislation. 

6.2. To determine the appropriate fee for planning and other applications. 

6.3. To decide whether to register an application based on the information 
submitted by the applicant and the Council’s validation checklist. 

6.4. To decline to determine an application under Section 70A, 70B or 70C of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

6.5. To agree minor and non-material amendments to previously approved 
applications. 

6.6. To deal with prior notifications and prior approvals under the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 
(as amended). 

6.7. To apply conditions to secure controls over development and deal with the 
discharge of planning conditions under Section 70(1)(a), 72 and 73 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

6.8. To enter into, vary, revoke and discharge obligations to secure financial 
contributions and/or works for the benefit of the community under Section 
106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

6.9. To agree the Council’s response to a screening opinion under Parts 2 and 3 
of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) 
Regulations 2017. 

6.10. To agree the Council’s response to a scoping opinion under Part 4 of the 
Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) 
Regulations 2017 or Section 13 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2011. 

Page 131



6.11. To grant permission-in-principle for sites on the Part 2 Brownfield Register 
under the Town and Country Planning (Brownfield Land Register) 
Regulations 2017 and Part 2 of the Town and Country Planning (Permission 
in Principle) Order 2017. 

6.12. To respond to consultations concerning policy formulation proposals by 
government departments, statutory bodies, local authorities, etc, in 
consultation with the relevant Executive Member, unless it is prudent that the 
consultation should be considered by members of the relevant committee. 

6.13. To respond to consultations concerning development proposals by statutory 
bodies, local authorities, government departments, the Crown, etc, in 
consultation with the relevant Executive Member, unless it is prudent that the 
consultation should be considered by members of the relevant committee. 

6.14. To approve the designation of a Neighbourhood Planning Area where it 
matches the local town or parish council boundary under Regulation 5 of the 
Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012.  [Cabinet must 
approve the designation of Neighbourhood Planning Area which does not 
match the town or parish council boundary]. 

6.15. To decide whether the Council’s case at a planning appeal should be by way 
of written representations, informal hearing or public inquiry and to agree the 
nature and extent of the case to be presented. 

6.16. To enter any land for the purpose of surveying it in connection with the 
functions of the Council as the local planning authority under Section 324 of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

6.17. To decide whether to take enforcement action and what level of enforcement 
action to take in accordance with the Council’s Corporate Enforcement Plan 
and Planning Enforcement Plan. 

6.18. To serve notices to obtain information as to interests in land under Section 
330 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 16 of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. 

6.19. To serve Planning Contravention Notices under Section 171C of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990. 

6.20. To serve, vary and withdraw enforcement notices against suspected 
breaches of planning control under Section 172 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 and to execute and secure the costs of works required by 
such notices under Section 178 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

6.21. To serve, vary and withdraw listed building enforcement notices against 
suspected breaches of planning control under Section 38 of the Planning 
(Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and to execute and 
secure the costs of works required by such notices under Section 42 of the 
Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

6.22. To serve, vary and withdraw Breach of Condition Notices under Section 
187A of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990. 

Page 132



6.23. To serve Building Preservation Notices under Section 3 of the Planning 
(Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

6.24. To serve Stop Notices under Section 183 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 and Temporary Stop Notices under Section 171E of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. 

6.25. To serve Tree Replacement Notices under Section 207 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 and to execute and secure the costs of works 
required by such notices under Section 209 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 

6.26. To serve Repairs Notices under Section 48 of the Planning (Listed Building 
and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and Urgent Works Notices under Section 
54 of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and to 
execute and secure the costs of works required by such notices under 
Section 55 of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990. 

6.27. To require the discontinuance of advertisements under Section 220 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and to remove or obliterate 
unauthorised placards, posters and advertisements under Section 225 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

6.28. To serve, vary and withdraw notices to require the proper maintenance of 
land under Section 215 of the Town and Country Planning Act and to 
execute and secure costs of works required by such notices under Section 
219 of the Town and Country Planning Act. 

6.29. To issue advance written warnings and Community Protection Notices on 
individuals or bodies whose conduct is having a detrimental effect on the 
quality of life of those in the locality and is unreasonable and to take action 
where there is a failure to comply with a Notice under Part 4 Chapter 1 of the 
Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014. 

6.30. To apply for Planning Enforcement Orders for deliberately concealed 
unauthorised development under Section 171BA, 171BB and 171BC of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

6.31. To apply for court injunctions to restrain any apprehended or actual breach 
of planning control under Section 187B of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990. 

6.32. To progress prosecution action where enforcement notices have not been 
complied with under Section 179 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990. 

6.33. To serve a Certificate of Appropriate Alternative Development where land is 
proposed to be acquired by the local authority under Section 65 of the 
Planning and Compensation Act 1991. 

Page 133



6.34. To make, vary and revoke Tree Preservation Orders under Section 198 of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Provisional Tree Preservation 
Orders under Section 201 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990. 

6.35. To make minor amendments to planning conditions and Section 106 legal 
agreements prior to issuing a decision notice, where the decision has been 
made by Development Management Committee, but it is not necessary for 
the item to return to Development Management Committee. 

6.36. To refer to the Development Management Committee applications to revoke 
or modify hazardous substances consents as defined under the Planning 
(Hazardous Substances) Act 1990 for referral to the appropriate Secretary of 
State. 

6.37. Applications will be presented to Development Management Committee 
where: 

a) The application does not accord with the provisions of the development 
plan or other planning policy guidance or supplementary planning 
guidance (unless material considerations indicate that the provisions of 
the development plan no longer apply) but the proposal is recommended 
for approval. 

b) One of the following has occurred within the specified consultation 
period and (a) it has been accepted by the Head of Planning or 
Development Management Service Manager and (b) the subsequent 
officer recommendation goes against the comment of support/objection: 

 A comment of support or objection and an associated call-in 
request has been made by a member of the Borough Council 

 A major objection has been received from a local town or parish 
council 

 A major objection has been received from an adjoining local 
authority 

 An objection has been received from a consultee listed in 
Schedule 4 of the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 

c) The application is a major development and the Borough Council is the 
applicant and/or has an interest in the land/property which is the subject 
of the application. 

d) A Member of the Borough Council, the Chief Executive, a Corporate 
Director, a Head of Service or a member of staff in the planning service 
is the applicant and/or has an interest in the land/property which is the 
subject of the application. 

e) The Head of Planning considers it prudent for the application to be 
considered by Development Management Committee. 

 

6.38. Building Control 

a) It should be noted that statutory building control functions have been 
transferred to Three Rivers District Council and non-statutory building 

Page 134



control functions have been passed to Hertfordshire Building Control 
Ltd, to administer on behalf of Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council, in 
accordance with a Services Agreement and Inter-Authority Agreement.   

b) These bodies now administer building control functions on behalf of 
Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council in accordance with the Building Act 
1984 and Building Regulations 2010. 

Other Functions 

6.39. To make technical amendments to the Planning Scheme of Delegation to 
reflect changes to the planning system and planning legislation. 

6.40. To administer the Management Scheme for Welwyn Garden City created 
under the Leasehold Reform Act 1967 for the purpose of “maintaining and 
enhancing amenities and values in Welwyn Garden City and with due regard 
to the convenience and welfare of persons residing, working and carrying on 
business there.”  This includes deciding whether to register an application, 
determining the appropriate fee, approving and refusing applications, 
discharging conditions, resolving breaches and taking enforcement action 
against breaches.   

6.41. Any EMS applications where a Member of the Borough Council, the Chief 
Executive, a Corporate Director, a Head of Service or a member of staff in 
the planning service is the applicant and/or has an interest in the 
land/property which is the subject of the application will be determined by a 
panel of officers. 

6.42. To manage trees and woodlands as set out in the Council’s Trees and 
Woodlands Strategy. 

6.43. To manage woodlands and open spaces as set out in the Council’s 
Woodland and Open Space Management Plans. 

6.44. To manage allotments as set out in the Council’s Allotment Policy. 

6.45. To take action in relation to horses on woodland and open space owned and 
managed by the Council in accordance with Section 7 of the Control of 
Horses Act 2015. 

6.46. To deal with notices in respect of temporary markets under Section 37 of the 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982. 

6.47. To take action under the provisions of Section 23 and Section 24 of the 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (power to deal with 
dangerous trees) in appropriate cases. 

6.48. To grant licences, issue notices and authorise the removal and 
reinstatement for the planting of trees, shrubs, etc in highways under the 
Highways Act 1980. 

6.49. To apply for an enforcement order against unlawful works on registered 
common land under Section 41 of the Commons Act 2006.   

Page 135



6.50. To protect unclaimed registered common land and unclaimed town or village 
greens against unlawful interference under Section 45(2)(a) of the Commons 
Act 2006. 

6.51. To institute proceedings for offences in respect of unclaimed land under 
Section 45(2)(b) of the Commons Act 2006. 

6.52. To determine the Council’s response to high hedge applications under Part 8 
of the Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003, to authorise powers of entry for the 
purposes of high hedge complaints and appeals under Section 74 of the 
Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003 and to serve High Hedges Remedial Notices 
and authorise prosecutions under Section 77 of the Anti-Social Behaviour 
Act 2003. 

6.53. To take action against dangerous trees under Section 23 and 24 of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. 

6.54. To grant licences, issue notices and authorise the removal and 
reinstatement for the planting of trees, shrubs, etc in highways under the 
Highways Act 1980. 

6.55. To serve notices in respect of street naming and numbering under Section 
64 and Section 65 of the Town Improvement Clauses Act 1847. 

6.56. To apply for enforcement orders against unlawful works on registered 
common land under Section 41 of the Commons Act 2006, to protect 
unclaimed registered common land and unclaimed town/village greens 
against unlawful interference under Section 45(2)(a) of the Commons Act 
2006 and to institute proceedings for offences in respect of unclaimed land 
under Section 45(2)(b) of the Commons Act 2006. 

 

Page 136



CORPORATE DIRECTOR (HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES) 

 
Deputises for the Chief Executive as necessary. 
 
To be responsible for the implementation of strategies policies and plans relating to 
strategic housing services, housing needs, private sector housing, housing 
development, partnerships, community services, community planning, community 
safety, community grants, housing (landlord) operations, repairs and asset 
management relating to the Council’s housing stock. 
 
 
1. STRATEGIC COMMUNITY AND HOUSING SERVICES  
 

All the following delegated powers relating to Strategic Community and 
Housing Services can also be exercised by the Head of Community and 
Housing Strategy who may also delegate to a suitably qualified or 
experienced Officers. 

1.1. To be responsible for the development and implementation of strategies, 
policies and plans relating to strategic housing services. 

1.2. To develop the Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy and 
associated strategies and work in partnership with internal and external 
stakeholders to ensure its effective implementation.  This includes working in 
partnership with Registered Providers to ensure the best housing offer to 
people in housing need. 

1.3. To make arrangements for the selection of Registered Providers for 
development projects. 

1.4. To arrange for applications for planning consent in connection with 
development projects and other housing initiatives. 

1.5. To plan and implement the Council’s Affordable Housing Programme. 

1.6. To agree the appropriate tenure, mix and property types on S106 sites with 
developers and associated consultants. 

1.7. To agree on appropriate grant funding to Registered Providers on affordable 
housing sites. 

1.8. To agree arrangements in working with private developers to deliver 
affordable homes. 

1.9. To discharge the Council’s statutory functions in relation to preventing and 
managing homelessness and in ensuring the Borough’s housing needs 
register is managed in accordance with the Council’s Allocations Policy. 

1.10. To ensure that private sector housing meets the required standard and take 
enforcement action where required. 

Appendix 8 

Page 137



1.11. To maintain community partnerships and develop new ones with the aim of 
promoting involvement among the community and local business, better 
health and youth engagement. 

1.12. To ensure that this council undertakes its mandatory duty to act as a 
“responsible authority” on the borough’s Community Safety Partnership 
(CSP), in order to plan and deliver measures to tackle crime, anti-social 
behaviour, substance misuse, to reduce offending and promote assurances 
to the public whilst working together with other statutory and non-statutory 
organisations 

1.13. To administer the Local Strategic Partnership and sub groups including the 
Community Inclusion Partnership and Welwyn Hatfield 11-19 Group. 

1.14. To coordinate, review and update the borough’s Youth Strategy on an 
annual basis. 

1.15. To manage the Borough’s Sports Facilities Strategy Steering Group and 
ensure the development and revision of the borough Sports Facility Strategy 
on an annual basis. 

1.16. To work in partnership with key stakeholders to develop initiatives and 
events that improve the vibrancy and footfall within the town centre. 

1.17. To administer and provide advice on the council’s grant application process, 
including its annual grants, small community grants and the Queens Jubilee 
grants. 

1.18. Working where necessary with the Head of Housing Operations:- 

a) Consider reviews of decisions to exclude applicants from the Housing 
Needs Register in accordance with relevant legislation. 

b) Set up local letting schemes in accordance with Council policy. 

c) Agree the lease of units to external partner agencies for special 
schemes up to a maximum of ten units for any one scheme. 

d) Agree nomination rights to Council and registered social landlord 
properties for partner agencies for use as move on. 

e) Approve special allocations schemes in accordance with the Council’s 
hard to let strategy, in order to meet housing need, or otherwise in 
accordance with Council policy. 

f) To approve the Annual Lettings Plan and any revisions to the Annual 
Lettings Plan. 

g) To agree prioritisation of properties to specific groups, to ensure the 
lettings targets set out in the Annual Lettings Plan are met. 

h) Revise and change priority of housing for applicants accepted as 
Homeless as necessary to ensure homelessness duties are managed 
effectively alongside duties to waiting list and transfer applicants.  

Page 138



i) Agree the necessary arrangements to ensure that wherever possible, in 
times of high demand from homeless households, Council and 
Registered Provider properties are used to free up temporary 
accommodation to prevent the use of bed and breakfast and to ensure 
that any such arrangements are regularly reviewed and monitored. 

j) Make decisions where the interpretation of Housing Policy, including the 
Allocations Policy is disputed. 

1.19. In pursuance of the Council’s duties in respect of private sector housing:- 

a) To sign orders, notices, approvals, licences and Civil Penalties. Make 
applications for Rent Repayment Orders and Banning Orders. 
Authorised in accordance with Council policy and Responsibility for 
Functions. 

b) To authorise any suitably qualified or experienced person to act or to 
execute powers under any current licensing and housing legislation 
enforced or administered by the Council and to sign such authorisations. 

c) To authorise the carrying out of works in default arising from actions 
taken in accordance with housing legislation and to arrange for the 
recovery of costs. 

d) To serve or authorise the service of notices: 

 Requiring the execution of works of repair to rectify hazards the 
occupiers and visitors of dwellings  

 Requiring the abatement of overcrowding of dwellings. 

 Of intention to cleanse premises of vermin before demolition. 

 Requiring any information reasonably required to exercise 
statutory functions. 

 Proposing the grant, refusal to grant, variation, refusal of variation, 
revocation, refusal or revocation of a licence for a house in 
multiple occupation. 

 Proposing to make a Final Management Order.  

 Proposing to make a Final Management Order with modifications 

 Proposing to vary, refuse, revoke or refusing to revoke an Interim 
or Final Management Order. 

 To make or propose to make any other relevant Order or 
application or take any necessary action in pursuance of the 
Council’s licensing and enforcement responsibilities as set out 
within housing legislation. 

e) To determine applications for all classes of home improvement grants 
and/or loans and applications for Disabled Facilities Grants. 

f) In connection with houses which have been assessed under the Housing 
Health and Safety Rating System to serve or authorise the service of the 
following notices and orders: 

 Improvement Notices 

 Prohibition Orders 

 Hazard Awareness Notices 

 Emergency Prohibition Orders 

Page 139



 Demolition Orders 
 

g) In connection with houses which have been assessed under the Housing 
Health and Safety Rating System to authorise the taking of Emergency 
Remedial Action or the making of a Slum Clearance Declaration. 

h) To issue notices and make Orders in respect of houses in multiple 
occupation to deal with overcrowding, means of escape from fire and 
living conditions or any other relevant issue. 

i) To serve a Notice of Intention to register or licence houses in multiple 
occupation. 

j) Apply for a banning order against a person or corporate body who has 
been convicted of a banning order offence.  

 To consider representations made in accordance with a notice 
proposing the application of a banning order 

 Require a person or corporate body to provide specified 
information for the purpose of enabling the authority to decide 
whether to apply for a banning order against that person or 
corporate body. 

 
k) Make entries and maintain records accordingly to the Government’s 

Rogue Landlords Database  

l) Make Applications for Rent Repayment Orders against persons who 
have committed relevant offences. 

 To consider representations made in accordance with a notice 
proposing the application of a Rent Repayment Order 

m) To Serve a Notice imposing a financial penalty on a person if satisfied, 
beyond reasonable doubt, that the person's conduct amounts to a 
relevant housing offence in respect of premises in England 

 To consider representations made in accordance with a notice 
proposing the imposition of a financial penalty. 

n) To make, serve, enforce and execute Closing Orders and Demolition 
Orders in respect of unfit dwelling houses and unfit houses in multiple 
occupation. 

o) In connection with mandatory, additional and selective licensing of 
houses in multiple occupation to: 

 Grant, refuse, revoke or vary a licence 

 Authorise the taking of legal action for non-compliance with 
licence conditions or for operating without the required licence 

 To make Interim Management Orders 

 To consider representations regarding the making of Final or 
Interim Management Orders 

 To make Final Management Orders 

 To consider representations made in accordance with a notice 
proposing the grant, refusal to grant, variation, refusal of variation, 
revocation, refusal of revocation of a licence for a house in 
multiple occupation. 

Page 140



 
p) In respect of empty dwellings to make Interim and Final Empty Dwelling 

Management Orders. 

q) To serve or authorise the service of Overcrowding Notices for houses in 
multiple occupation that do not require a licence. 

r) To accept or reject proposals for the reconstruction of condemned 
houses. 

s) To substitute Closing Orders for Demolition Orders and Demolition 
Orders for Closing Orders. 

t) To determine Closing Orders. 

u) To serve notice of the time and place at which the making of an order in 
respect of a building will be considered. 

v) To determine home loss and disturbance payments, and compensation 
payments in respect of Closing and Demolition Orders. 

w) To authorise the institution of legal proceedings in accordance with 
housing legislation enforced or administered by the Council. 

x) To authorise the issue of simple cautions for offences for which Housing 
and Community has enforcement responsibility. 

 
 
2. HOUSING OPERATIONS   

All the following delegated powers relating to performance can also be 
exercised by the Head of Housing Operations who may also delegate to 
a suitably qualified or experienced Officer. 

2.1. To ensure the provision of excellent housing and support services to the 
council’s tenants and leaseholders which meet current and future needs of 
households. 

2.2. To ensure services meet the standards as set out in the housing service’s 
performance management framework, published service standards and any 
relevant regulatory standards as set by central Government. 

2.3. To create and promote a culture of continuous improvement throughout the 
housing service and ensure effective partnership working to deliver the best 
outcomes for tenants and leaseholders. 

2.4. To ensure mechanisms are in place to allow the Tenant and Leaseholder 
Scrutiny Panel and other tenant representatives to have opportunity to 
scrutinise and review housing services, making recommendations on service 
improvement. 

2.5. To ensure that council housing and neighbourhoods are safe and well-
managed. 

2.6. To authorise the institution of legal proceedings for council housing related 
tenancy breaches. 

Page 141



2.7. Maximise rental and other types of income collected by the housing service.  
This includes rent, service charges, communal facilities charge, other fees 
and charges, former tenant arrears and other debts including re-charges for 
repairs. 

2.8. To ensure that tenancies are managed in accordance with legislative 
requirements and council policies.  In fulfilling this function the following 
powers are delegated: 

a) Preparation and service of the following Notices and proceeding where 
necessary with court action and evictions from residential properties: 

 Notices of Seeking Possession  

 Notices to Quit 

b) Represent the council at court for standard rent arrears possession 
cases and other tenancy breach court hearings as agreed with the Head 
of Law and Administration 

c) Approving applications and the administration of tenancy and rent 
account related matters, i.e. to sub-let properties, temporary absence, 
rent refunds, etc. 

d) Approving mutual exchanges and the vesting, assignment or creation of 
new tenancies, following the tenant’s death or in the event of relationship 
breakdown in accordance with statutory rights and good housing 
management. 

e) Writing off irrecoverable council housing related debts in accordance 
with the council’s financial regulations and policy 

2.9. To ensure the provision of high quality and relevant housing and other 
support services to older people and people with specialist support needs. 
This includes the community bus service and shop mobility. 

2.10. To process applications made under the Right to Buy (RTB) scheme.  Sale 
of housing under Right to Buy including the assessment of eligibility and 
calculation of discounts. Make decisions where the interpretations and 
implementation of the Statutory Right to Buy Scheme is required. 

2.11. To process deeds of variations for leaseholders. 

2.12. To carry out leaseholder consultation under the statutory requirements. 

2.13. To determine service charges payable by leaseholders. 

2.14. In pursuance of the Council’s duties in respect of community safety and the 
effective management of anti-social behaviour across the borough: 

a) To authorise any suitably qualified or experienced person to act or to 
execute powers under any anti-social behaviour, crime and disorder and 
housing legislation enforced or administered by the Council and to sign 
such authorisations. 

Page 142



b) To authorise or designate persons for the purpose of Part 1, and Part 4 
chapters 1, 2 and  3 of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 
2014 

c) To authorise any suitably qualified or experienced person to make 
applications for injunctions in connection with anti-social behaviour, 
crime and disorder and housing legislation. 

d) To authorise any suitably qualified or experienced person to make 
applications for public space protection orders in connection with anti-
social behaviour, crime and disorder and housing legislation. 

e) To authorise any suitably qualified or experienced person to make 
applications for closure of premises associated with disorder in 
connection with anti-social behaviour, crime and disorder and housing 
legislation. 

f) To issue or authorise the issue of community protection notices. 

g) To issue or authorise the issue of a written warning prior to issuing a 
community protection notice. 

 
 
3. PROPERTY SERVICES (HOUSING) 

All the following delegated powers relating to performance can also be 
exercised by the Head of Property Services (Housing) as appropriate 
who may also delegate to a suitably qualified or experienced Officer. 

3.1. To develop and implement the Asset Management Strategy for Council 
housing in the borough. 

3.2. To ensure that the Borough’s housing stock is well-maintained in accordance 
with the Asset Management Strategy.  

3.3. To deliver a high quality and cost effective responsive repairs service for 
council dwellings and Housing Revenue Account garages which reflect 
Council policy and demonstrates excellent customer services. 

3.4. To keep in good repair land, pathways and roads which fall under the 
management of the housing service. 

3.5. To place contracts subject to compliance with Contract Procedure Rules and 
Council policy. 

3.6. To effectively manage contracts for the repair and maintenance of Council 
homes, including gas safety checks, maintenance and installation and all 
mechanical & electrical and Compliance contracts are in place to meet 
statutory and regulatory requirements. 

3.7. To ensure that the highest standards are achieved in meeting all health and 
safety requirements in relation to the maintenance of Council homes.   

Page 143



3.8. To authorise the payment of compensation in accordance with the agreed 
compensation policy. 

3.9. Dealing with tenant and leaseholder requests for improvements inside and 
outside Council dwellings subject to building regulations, planning consents 
and other restrictions. 

3.10. Community Services Day Centres. 

3.11. Community Development. 

3.12. Liaison with Voluntary Agencies. 

 

4. WELWYN HATFIELD TENANT AND LEASEHOLDER SCRUTINY PANEL 
(THE PANEL) 

4.1 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council are committed to ensuring council tenants 
and leaseholders have opportunities to be involved and shape the housing 
service. 

4.2 To ensure this commitment is upheld and opportunites to be involved are 
available, the council supports the formation of the Welwyn Hatfield Tenant 
and Leaseholder Scrutiny Panel (‘The Panel’). 

4.3 The Panel forms an integral part of the governance and co-regulation 
structure of Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council through effective links with the 
Cabinet Housing Panel and the operational teams within the Housing and 
Community Teams. 

4.4 The Panel will have its own ‘Terms of Reference’ which will be developed in 
partnership with officers within the housing service and will be finalised and 
signed off by the Panel. 

4.5 The council and The Panel commit to adhere to the approved terms of 
reference to ensure the function, role and deliverables of both the council 
and The Panel is clear and delivers positive outcomes for council tenants 
and leaseholders in the borough. 

4.6 The council will support The Panel by providing:  

a) A tailored training programme for panel members so that they can 
maximise their contribution and benefit from personal and professional 
development. 

b) One to one support for individual panel members where necessary to 
enable them to maximise their potential. 

c) Reasonable costs and expenses for their work as panel members. This 
may include, but not limited to, travel to and from meetings, childcare 
costs, etc. 

 

Page 144



 
Summary of Constitutional Amendments 
 
General Formatting changes have been incorporated across the documents which include 
renumbering of paragraphs. 
 
Wording has been updated as part of general modernisation.  Much of this is of a minor 
nature and refers to administrative procedures.  More significant changes are highlighted in 
the table below:- 
 
Responsibility for Executive Functions 
 

Page(s)  

68-69 List of Executive Functions updated and streamlined as part of the 
modernisation of the Constitution 

70-72 Membership and Ratios to be determined by the Leader as and when 
required to take account of changes to political proportionality (in 
accordance with regulations and avoid the need to update this part of the 
Constitution every year) 

71 Whitley Committee deleted as it no longer meets and is not needed 

72 Consideration of enforcement and further action under the Scheme to be 
added to the Welwyn Garden City Estate Management Panel 

 
MEMBERS OF THE CABINET 
 
List deleted as it is published elsewhere and does not need to be included in the Constitution. 
 
Access to Information Procedures Rules 
 

Page  

181 4  NOTICES OF MEETINGS 
 
Electronic notice is given on the Council’s website and printed notice will no 
longer be displayed on the noticeboards outside the Council Offices 

185 The meaning of Key Decisions has been updated 

 
Cabinet Procedure Rules 
 
Cabinet Procedure Rules have been streamlined 
 

Page  

200 Cabinet Members exercising individual delegated powers has been added in 

 
Code of Conduct for Member 
 

Page  

274 A reference to #ONETEAM values and behaviours has been added 

Appendix 9 

Page 145



 
Gifts and Hospitality 
 

Page  

276 The value of gifts to be notified by Members Is reduced from £100 to £50 

 
Social Media Protocol 
 

Page  

276 Reference is made to the new Social Media Protocol prepared by an 
external consultant which is submitted for approval 

 
Motions with Financial Implications 
 
Revised wording has been agreed 
 
Contract Procedure Rules 
 
Further revisions may be required to these rules. The rules have been amended to allow 
execution of contracts by electronic signatures between the parties. 
 
The latest EU Threshold figures have been added to replace the existing thresholds. 
 
In response to the current Covid-19 pandemic, up to and including 7 May 2021, to give 
authority to the Head of Law and Administration to take any decision(s), in relation to 
execution of contracts and other legal documentation, as is necessary to secure the 
uninterrupted continuation of the day-to-day business of the Council. 
 
Officer Responsibility for Functions  
 
General updating to ensure that these are clear and in line with current practices. 
 

Page 146



CABINET 

FORWARD PLAN 
PUBLISHED 28 CLEAR DAYS IN ADVANCE OF WHEN 

THE DECISION WILL BE TAKEN 

COMMITTEE MEMBERS CAN PUT ITEMS FROM THE 

FORWARD PLAN FORWARD FOR CONSIDERATION FOR 

SCRUTINY 
EOSC SOSC ROSC 

T&FG T&FG T&FG 
COMMITTEE APPOINTS SUB-COMMITTEE TO CARRY OUT 

SCRUTINY, OUTCOME REPORTED DIRECTLY TO CABINET  

CABINET 

CABINET CABINET CABINET CABINET 

FORWARD PLAN 

OSC 

T&FG 

CABINET 

CABINET CABINET CABINET 

CALL-IN FOR ITEMS ON THE FORWARD PLAN - CURRENT AND PROPOSED ARRANGEMENTS 

PROPOSED 

ARRANGEMENTS 

CURRENT 

ARRANGEMENTS 

Appendix 10 

P
age 147



DECISION NOTICE PUBLISHED WITHIN 3 WORKING DAYS OF DECISION 

DECISIONS INVOLVING EXPENDITURE OVER £100,000 CAN BE CALLED IN 

WITHIN 4 WORKINGS DAYS OF THE DECISION PUBLICATION. 

THIS REQUIRES AT LEAST 1/4 OF THE MEMBERS OF THE 

COMMITTEE 

A MEETING OF THE COMMITTEE IS CONVENED WITHIN 3 

WORKING DAYS OR THE ITEM SUBJECT TO CALL-IN IS PLACED ON THE 

AGENDA OF NEXT MEETING (WHICHEVER CAN BE ACHIEVED EARLIEST) 

EOSC SOSC ROSC 

CABINET 
AFTER CONSIDERATION OF THE MATTER, THE ITEM CAN BE 

REFERRED BACK TO CABINET FOR RECONSIDERATION, 

SPECIFYING THE REASONS FOR DOING SO 

CABINET 

DECISION NOTICE 

OSC 

CABINET 

CABINET 

CALL-IN FOR CABINET DECISIONS - CURRENT AND PROPOSED ARRANGEMENTS 

PROPOSED 

ARRANGEMENTS 

CURRENT 

ARRANGEMENTS 

P
age 148



 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 

(Note: The Overview and Scrutiny Committee is authorised to 
appoint up to five non-voting co-optees at any time to assist 
it in the performance of its functions). 

 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
(Constitution: 13 Members) 
(ratio 6:4:3) 
 
 

M. Birleson  

J. Caliskan 

L. Chesterman 

M. Cowan 

B. Fitzsimon 

G. Hayes 

M. Holloway 

R. Lass 

D. Richardson 

P. Smith 

S. Thusu 

S. Wrenn (C) 

P. Zukowskyj 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

Co-opted Members:- 

Tenants’ Panel Representatives 

To be appointed 

Appendix 11 

Page 149



 
STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
 
(Constitution: 6 Members comprising 5 Borough Council Members (to include 
1 Executive Member and 1 non-voting Co-Opted Local Councils Association 
representative) 
(ratio 2:2:1) 
 

L. Brandon 

A. Chesterman 

G. Michaelides 

T. Kingsbury (C) 

P. Zukowskyj 

 

 

 

Representative of the Welwyn Hatfield Association of Local Councils 

B.Morris 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

Page 150



CONSTITUTION REVIEW GROUP 
 
(Constitution: 7 Members) 
(ratio 3:2:2) 
 

M. Cowan 

G. Hayes 

T. Kingsbury (C) 

F. Marsh 

F. Thomson (VC) 

K. Thorpe 

S. Wrenn 

 
 
  

Page 151



CLIMATE CHANGE SUB-GROUP  
 
(Constitution: 7 Members) 
(ratio 3:2:2) 
 

E. Boulton 

M. Holloway (C) 

H. Quenet 

D. Richardson 

JP. Skoczylas 

J. Weston 

S. Wrenn 

 
 

Page 152



APPENDIX 12

May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May

Saturday 1 1

Sunday 2 1 2

Monday 1 3 2 1 1 3

Tuesday 2 4 1 3 1 2 2 CHP 4

Wednesday 3 1 5 2 4 2 3 3 5

Thursday 4 2 Licensing CPPP 6 3 1 5 3 4 4 1 6

Friday 1 5 3 7 4 2 6 4 1 5 5 2 7

Saturday 2 6 4 8 5 3 7 5 2 6 6 3 8

Sunday 3 7 5 9 6 4 8 6 3 7 7 4 9

Monday 4 8 6 10 7 5 9 7 4 8 8 5 10

Tuesday 5 9 HCC CHP 7 11 8 6 10 8 5 9 9 6 11

Wednesday 6 10 8 12 9 7 11 9 6 10 10 7 12

Thursday 7 11 9 13 10 8 12 EMAP 10 7 11 11 8 13

Friday 8 12 10 14 11 9 13 11 8 12 12 9 14

Saturday 9 13 11 15 12 10 14 12 9 13 13 10 15

Sunday 10 14 12 16 13 11 15 13 10 14 14 11 16

Monday 11 15 13 17 14 12 16 14 11 15 15 12 17

Tuesday 12 16 14 18 15 13 17 15 12 16 16 13 18

Wednesday 13 17 15 19 16 14 18 16 13 17 17 14 19

Thursday 14 18 16 20 17 15 19 17 14 18 18 15 20

Friday 15 19 17 21 18 16 20 18 15 19 19 16 21

Saturday 16 20 18 22 19 17 21 19 16 20 20 17 22

Sunday 17 21 19 23 20 18 22 20 17 21 21 18 23

Monday 18 22 20 MD Council 24 21 19 23 21 18 22 22 19 24

Tuesday 19 23 21 25 22 20 24 22 19 23 23 20 25

Wednesday 20 24 22 26 23 21 25 23 20 24 Licensing MDSG 24 21 26

Thursday 21 25 23 27 24 22 26 24 21 25 25 22 27

Friday 22 26 24 28 25 23 27 25 22 26 26 23 28

Saturday 23 27 25 29 26 24 28 26 23 27 27 24 29

Sunday 24 28 26 30 27 25 29 27 24 28 28 25 30

Monday 25 29 27 31 28 26 30 28 25 29 26 31

Tuesday 26 30 28 29 27 29 26 30 27

Wednesday 27 29 30 28 30 27 31 28

Thursday 28 30 29 31 28 29

Friday 29 31 30 29 30

Saturday 30 31 30

Sunday 31 31

Council Council 7.30pm DMC Development Management Committee 7.30pm

Cabinet Cabinet 7.30pm Standards Standards Committee 7.30pm Conferences

CHP Cabinet Housing Panel 7.30pm Audit Audit Committee 7..30pm

CPPP Cabinet Planning and Parking Panel 7.30pm HCC Hackney Carriage Committee 7.30pm LGA 30 June - 2 July

CWCP Campus West Cabinet Panel 6.00pm Licensing Licensing and Regulated Entertainment Committee 2.30pm Liberal Democrat 26 - 29 September

EMAP Estates Management Appeals Panel 7.30pm MDSG Member Development Steering Group 7.00pm Labour 19 - 23 September

OSC Overview and Scrutiny Committee 7.30pm BTP Borough, Town and Parish Meeting 6.30pm Conservative 4 - 7 October

Grants Grants Board 6.30pm Highways Highways Liaison Meeting 7.30pm

GPB General Procurement Board 6.30pm MD Member Development (Subjects to be advised) 7.00pm School Holidays

MD

Audit

Cabinet (5pm)

EMAP

CPPPDMC CPPP

MDSG

Bank Holiday

Grants

GPB

Bank Holiday

GPB

Bank Holiday Audit Standards Bank HolidayMD

EMAP

Highways

MDSG Licensing Council

GPB

Council

Bank Holiday

GPBMD HCC DMC

HCC

Council

Cabinet

Standards

CHPCHP

OSC

DMC HCC

Cabinet

DMC

EMAP BTP

Annual Council 

Special Cabinet Special Council

MD

CPPP CPPP

CHP

DMC

Cabinet

CPPP

MD

Cabinet

CPPP DMC

BTP Bank HolidayMD

Cabinet

MDDMC

Bank Holiday

ELECTION

MD Standards

DMC

Cabinet

MD

DMC

EMAPCouncil (6.30pm)

Bank Holiday

Cabinet

DMC

Cabinet

Highways

EMAP CWCP

GPB

CPPP

OSC

CPPP

2020

CWCP

Standards

CHP

GPB

DMC DMC

2021

HCC

Grants

OSC MDSGGrants

Cabinet CabinetCabinet

Audit

OSC

Audit

HCC

Bank HolidayCouncil

Bank Holiday

CWCPCWCP

OSC

DMC

28/04/20Classification: Unrestricted

P
age 153



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Virtual Committee Meeting Procedure Rules 

 
Under ‘The Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility 

of Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panel Meetings (England and Wales) 

Regulations 2020’ these procedure rules will apply to virtual committee meetings 

held by the council and are effective between 4th April 2020 and 7th May 2021. 

 

1. The council’s adopted standing orders will continue to apply to committee meetings 

but are modified by these rules to facilitate virtual meetings.  

 

2. A council meeting may take place for conducting virtual meetings at no specific 

location. All council meetings will be conducted using the Zoom application. 

 

3. The Agenda will be published as usual – five working days before the meeting takes 

place. Members will be notified by email and are able to view the Agenda online. 

Members will not be provided with hard copies of committee meeting papers. 

 

4. Members must use their Council email address when participating in meetings and 

will receive a Zoom meeting ID and password before the meeting. This will give them 

access to the meeting online.  

 

5. Virtual meetings will be hosted by the Governance Services team or A/V technicians 

with the Chairperson of the meeting given co-host abilities.  

 

6. The usual quorum requirements for committee meetings will still apply to remote 

meetings.   

 

7. The Chairperson will open the discussion by confirming the Members and Officers 

present at the meeting. 

 

8. Members of the public who are permitted and wish to speak will be invited to submit 

a video (maximum length three minutes) which will be played during the meeting. 

Alternatively, a written statement (to a maximum length of three minutes when read 

out) can be submitted which will be read out at the meeting. Submissions are to be 

received by the Governance Services Manager by either telephone or e-mail and by 

no later than 5pm on the day before the meeting. 

 

9. The Governance Services Manager reserves the absolute right to refuse accepting 

any video or statement that is considered inappropriate.  

 

This includes matters: 

 

(a) that the council have no responsibility for; 

 

(b) that do not affect or have relevance to the borough; 

 

(c) that are defamatory, frivolous or offensive; 

 

Appendix 13 

Page 155



(d) that are part of an issue that has previously been considered by a meeting of 

the council in the past six months to which there has been no material change 

of circumstances; 

 

(e) that would require disclosure or discussion of a confidential or exempt matter. 

 

Members of the public who would still prefer to speak at the Zoom meeting will be 

given a Zoom meeting ID and password. They will be held in a virtual ‘waiting room’ 

until it is their turn to speak. Once they have done so, they will have to leave the 

meeting. The length of time that the member of the public will have to wait in the 

‘waiting room’ depends on the length of time it takes for other items to be dealt with 

on the agenda so cannot be certain. 

 

The Chairperson has the absolute discretion to remove members of the public from 

the discussion if they are interrupting the meeting, try to engage in the discussion or 

are abusive having been warned about their behaviour.  

 

10. Members who wish to submit a question can do so by email to the Governance 

Services Manager by no later than 12.00 noon, five clear working days before the 

meeting. The council’s standing orders that apply to questions by members under 

the Council Procedure Rules will continue to apply. 

 

11. All members of the council have the right to attend both the public and private 

sessions of a committee meeting providing they do not have a conflict of interest in 

any of the matters being considered. 

 

12. If a member, who is not a member of a committee, wishes to attend that committee 

including any private session, they should contact the Governance Services 

Manager by 5pm the day before the meeting to indicate their wish to do so, for the 

necessary arrangements to be made for them to be included in the Zoom meeting.  

 

13. Members should make the Governance Services Manager aware of any conflicts of 

interest, pecuniary interests or non-pecuniary interests in advance of the meeting 

wherever possible to assist the management of the meeting. Where a Member will 

have to leave that part of the meeting due to their declaration of an interest, the 

Governance Services Manager will arrange for them to move to the virtual ‘waiting 

room’.  

 

14. The Governance Services Manager will arrange for them to receive a Zoom meeting 

ID and password before the meeting. This will give them access to the meeting 

online.  

 

15. The Chairperson’s direction and ruling at the meeting shall be final and not open to 

discussion. 

 

16. Members should show respect to each other, and any other individual attending the 

meeting, and to not talk over someone who is already speaking. Members are asked 

Page 156



to keep their microphone on mute until they are invited to speak to help maintain the 

audio quality of the meeting.  

 

17. The Chairperson will go through the Agenda in the usual way and members should 

take their ‘cue’ from the Chairperson as to when they can speak.  

 

18. Minutes-the Chairperson will ask the Members if they agree with the minutes of the 

last meeting and if they agree, it will be noted by Governance Services. The hard 

copies of minutes can be signed by the Chairperson as soon as is reasonably 

practicable or alternatively, electronic signatures can be arranged after the meeting. 

 

19. Members are asked to ‘arrive’ to the virtual meeting at least 15 minutes before the 

meeting time called on the agenda, so that the meeting host can check names on 

screens and make any other checks. Governance Services will make a note of all 

attendees.   

 

20. In the event of any connection failures, the Chairperson should determine if the 

meeting is still quorate. If the meeting still is, then it will go on as usual. If there is no 

quorum, the Chairperson will specify how long the meeting is adjourned for. It is 

expected that adjournments should be for no more than ten to fifteen minutes to 

enable the connection to be re-established. 

 

21. For smaller meetings, members who wish to speak should raise their hands visually. 

The Chairperson will call out the name of the next speaker and they should then 

speak. For larger meetings, members can either raise their hand or use the ‘raise 

hand’ function within Zoom. 

 

22. Speakers will be allowed to speak in the order indicated. No member should speak 

unless given permission to do so. 

 

23. When the Mayor/Chairperson speaks during a debate, any member speaking at the 

time must stop speaking and allow the Mayor/ Chairperson to be heard. The host of 

the meeting will be able to mute other participants’ mics. 

 

24. Voting will be managed by the Chairperson by asking members for a show of hands. 

Members will vote FOR, AGAINST or ABSTAIN. If necessary, the Chairperson will 

take an individual roll call for each member of the committee to confirm their vote. 

The voting results will be documented by Governance Services. In the event of 

equality of votes, the Chairperson has a casting vote in line with the normal rules. 

 

25. All meetings will be live streamed and recorded for members of the public to access 

via the Council’s website. Minutes will be published on the council’s website as 

usual. 

 

26. It is advisable for members and officers participating in virtual meetings to present 

themselves in appropriate attire. Good lighting is recommended to help enable faces 

to be seen clearly. Members are also advised to choose a plain, neutral background 

Page 157



such as a plain wall or door behind them. Members need to be careful to make sure 

confidential papers or information are not seen during the meeting. 

 

Page 158



- 1 - 

Part I 
Main author: Nick Long/Joanna Harding  
Executive Member: Cllr Fiona Thomson 
All Wards 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
SPECIAL COUNCIL 6 MAY 2020 
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING 
AND GOVERNANCE) 

CLIMATE CHANGE UPDATE 

1 Executive Summary 

1.1 This report updates members on the work undertaken since Full Council agreed 
a motion to declare a “climate emergency”. A copy of the motion is in appendix A. 
This update report was originally to be provided to Full Council in November 
2019, however that was not possible owing to rescheduling of the municipal 
timetable in response to the snap General Election in December 2019. This 
report has therefore been brought up to date since that time.  

2 Recommendation(s) 

2.1 For members to note the work to date, and to agree that further updates should 
be provided to Council as work progresses.   

3 Explanation 

3.1 Like many local authorities, and in view of the international position regarding 
climate change, Full Council debated the issue and as a result agreed the motion 
in appendix A.  

3.2 Since agreeing this motion the work detailed in this report has taken place to help 
carry into effect the motion. Climate change is in itself a complex geopolitical 
issue and in order for the council to stand the best chance of success both in 
reducing its own carbon footprint and acting as a leader and advocate for others, 
it will be necessary to involve parties both internal and external to the council 
over a significant timescale.  

3.3 A number of actions have been taken in order to support the Climate Emergency 
motion and these are detailed below in 3.4 - 3.20 

3.4 Join other councils in declaring a Climate Emergency; The council declared 
a climate emergency on 19 June 2019. The resolution in appendix A refers.  

3.5 Write to the Secretary of State - A letter was sent on 19 August 2019, copy in 
appendix B. 

3.6 Set up a cross party climate change sub group reporting to EOSC with the 
aim of bringing a report and action plan to reduce carbon emissions to net 
zero by 2030 (or some later date) with regular reporting to EOSC - A cross 
party group has been set up working with the terms of reference in appendix C. 
The group is supported by specialist officers from a number of service areas and 
has met several times. The minutes of these meetings are in appendix D. 

 

Page 159

Agenda Item 7



- 2 - 

3.7 Climate Change Strategy - The council has previously undertaken work in 
connection with climate change including a “green audit” (1990) and a climate 
change strategy and action plan (2010-13). The group has reviewed progress on 
the council’s previously adopted climate change action plan and noted that the 
majority of actions have been completed.  

3.8 Preparatory work has now started for preparing a new strategy and action plan 
and the group has noted how the council has three roles which should be 
reflected in the new strategy: 

a)  as an enabler (for example where our policies may actively                  
encourage and facilitate response to climate change)   

b)      as a consumer (for example where we buy or use resources) 

c)      as a partner (where we can work with others)  

 

3.9 Carbon Footprint - Work is underway on identifying and analysing the data to 
ensure a baseline carbon footprint for the council is available, against which any 
further reductions in carbon and emissions can be measured. This will be 
reported to the member group.   

3.10 Council’s policies - how policies and our related decisions and actions affect 
our contribution to climate change, including procurement policies. The cross 
party climate change group received a presentation from the Procurement 
Manager on 23 October looking at potential options and opportunities to further 
build climate change into the procurement process.  

3.11 The standard report template for all reports includes a “climate change 
implications section” so that members can be appraised of and consider the 
climate change implications of particular proposals.  

3.12 Develop planning policies to harmonise with the aims of the Climate 
Emergency so that development is as far as practicable, in support of the 
initiative. Work is underway to scope out potential options, opportunities and 
challenges for example including the Welwyn Garden City Estate Management 
Scheme. A member workshop has taken place to help members understand the 
current challenges, identity potential alternatives while continuing to protect the 
town and respond to future challenges such as climate change. 

3.13 Ask officers to investigate the most appropriate training for Members and        
officers about how to promote carbon neutral policies for consideration 
by Council -Suitable training is being researched and this will assist members 
in shaping our revised strategy and action plan. This training will be offered 
through the member development programme. Additionally, the Portfolio Holder 
has attended a national briefing session in London and an event for Members at 
Warwick university.     

3.14 Continue to work with partners across the district, county and wide region   
to deliver widespread carbon reductions and to attempt to encourage 
public support for the aims of the Climate Emergency - The Council is a 
member of the Hertfordshire Environmental Forum and discussions regarding 
climate change are taking place at all levels, including at the Chief Executive’s 
Co-ordinating group, which our Chief Executive currently chairs.  

 

Page 160



- 3 - 

3.15 The Portfolio Holder and Director have been invited the inaugural meeting of the 
Hertfordshire Climate Change and Sustainability Partnership. This strategic 
level partnership will be looking at how the climate emergency can be 
responded to across Hertfordshire as a whole. It will provide a mechanism for 
data collection (to establish a countywide baseline), collation and monitoring - 
allowing for the sharing of best practice; the establishment of joint initiatives and 
the securing of funding for countywide projects. The creation of this partnership 
has been supported by both the Hertfordshire Leaders Group and the 
Hertfordshire Chief Executive Group and at the inaugural meeting the remit of 
the Partnership, the Terms of reference, membership and future work 
programme will be discussed.  

3.16 An officer group has been set up, comprising officers from each of our 9 service 
areas, with aim of providing a climate emergency “champion” in each service 
team and to help shape policies and potential actions.  

3.17 ESOC has received a report regarding the role, value and importance of council   
trees in mitigating and offsetting carbon emissions. The report has identified 
that the carbon sequestrated by trees annually is 237 tonnes from our street 
tress and 2147 tonnes for our woodlands. In terms of a monetary value this 
equates to an annual figure of £585,716. 

3.18 Work has commenced on stakeholder mapping to identify which groups need to 
be involved in developing our updated strategy and action plan. A number of 
groups have approached the council directly and it is intended to explore ways 
of making sure all relevant groups can have input into the development of our 
strategy and action plan.  

3.19 At the annual budget setting, Council also agreed a climate change reserve of 
£100k to be used to help respond to the climate emergency.  

3.20 Set up a £50K fund from general fund balance to provide grants to 
support local organisations to improve their carbon footprint, the criteria 
to be established by the Climate Change Group to be recommended to 
Cabinet for approval” The climate change group has considered options and 
developed a set of access and awarding criteria for such a scheme.    

3.21 Following discussions the Climate change group has also developed a list of 
potential areas for the council to explore as part of the climate emergency, 
these are:  

 Small grants scheme 

 Procurement  

 Flat recycling (separate reports have been already made)  

 Greener utilities  

 Modification of policies to enable and promote greener alternatives 

 Carbon offset through council tree stock (separate reports have been 
made) 

 Staff travel plans (linked to the planning consent for Campus East) 

 Use of electric vehicles (progress reports have been made to Corporate 
Management Team)  

Page 161



- 4 - 

3.22   Additionally, Members of the climate change group have identified some 
“checklists” from Friends of the Earth which the climate change group intend to 
work through to ascertain other areas of potential focus.   

 

 

3.23 Members have also received clarification on the distinction between adaptation 
and mitigation and the council’s role in responding to climate change.  

4 Legal Implication(s) 

4.1 There a number of pieces of legislation dealing with climate change and the UK 
government has made a commitment for the UK to become carbon neutral by 
2050 

5 Financial Implication(s) 

5.1 Council has agreed a budget of £50k to fund climate change grants and a climate 
change reserve of £100k to be used to help respond to the climate emergency.   

6 Risk Management Implications 

6.1 The risks related to this proposal are failing to recognise and respond to climate 
change in a proportionate way. The work carried out since declaring a climate 
emergency helps to mitigate this risk.  

7 Security and Terrorism Implication(s) 

7.1 None directly arising from this report 

8 Procurement Implication(s) 

8.1 None directly arising from this report  

 

9 Climate Change Implication(s) 

9.1 This report updates members on the work the council has undertaken since 
declaring a climate emergency. The council can through its activities have a role 
in both adaptation and mitigation to climate change 

10 Human Resources Implication(s) 

10.1 There is no dedicated officer resource for climate change as climate change work 
is undertaken by a number of employees in various service teams. For some 
employees responding to climate change is part of their day to day work.   

11 Health and Wellbeing Implication(s) 

Page 162



- 5 - 

11.1 The links between climate change and health are well documented for example 
in the report from the Health Protection Agency1 

12 Communication and Engagement Implication(s) 

12.1 As part of the climate change policy a communications and engagement plan will 
be prepared to ensure relevant stakeholders, including members, partners and 
the public can be involved in helping to shape the council’s climate change 
strategy and action plan 

 

 

 

13 Link to Corporate Priorities 

The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priority “our 
environment”  

14 Equality and Diversity 

14.1  Equality and diversity implications will be identified and considered as part of the 
development of the climate change strategy and action plan  

 
 
 
Name of authors Nick Long 01707 357401 
Title Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and 

Governance)  
 Joanna Harding, Head of Public Health and Protection 
 
Date February 2020  
 
 
 
 

                                                           
1
   

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/371103/Health_Effects_of_Climat

e_Change_in_the_UK_2012_V13_with_cover_accessible.pdf 

Page 163



This page is intentionally left blank



Final 

NOTICE OF MOTION 

“Council notes that: 

 

a) the recent 2018 Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) report states that we have just 

12 years to act on climate change if global temperature rises are to be kept within the recommended 

1.5 degrees Celsius; 

 

b) It should be noted that the government has announced a target for net zero emissions of 

greenhouse gas by 2050 for the UK. 

c) all governments (national, regional and local) have a duty to limit the negative impacts on climate 

breakdown, and the governments that recognise this should not wait for their national governments 

to change their policies. UK county, district, city, town and parish councils need to commit to 

aggressive reduction targets and carbon neutrality as quickly as possible; 

d) districts are well placed to lead the world in reducing carbon emissions, as their responsibility for 

planning policies opens up a range of sustainable transport, buildings and energy opportunities; 

In light of the above, the Council therefore agrees to: 
 

e) Join other councils in declaring a Climate Emergency; 
 

f) Ask the Leader to write to the Secretary of State requesting that they provide the necessary powers 

and resources to make local action on climate change easier; 

g) Request that, in light of the IPCC report, a cross-party Climatic Change Group as a sub-group of 

EOSC is set up, which together with officers reviews the council’s Climate Change Policy with the 

aim of bringing a report to Council in autumn of 2019, after consideration by Overview and Scrutiny. 

The review should include an action plan to reduce carbon emissions with a target for net zero 

carbon emissions by 2030, or a justification for a later date if the review finds this unachievable, and 

proposals for regular reporting to Overview and Scrutiny Committee of the progress with the plan; 

h) Ask officers to ensure that, as the Council’s policies are routinely reviewed, specific consideration is 

given to how policies and our related decisions and actions, affect our contribution to climate 

change, and where necessary, update these policies to reduce our impact wherever possible; this 

will include a review of the Council’s procurement policies with an aspiration to increase the weight 

when scoring in the tender process – bids from businesses who display clear commitment to 

reducing their own carbon footprint. 
 

i) Develop planning policies to harmonise with the aims of the Climate Emergency so that 

development is as far as practicable, in support of the initiative. 

j) Ask officers to investigate the most appropriate training for Members and officers about how to 

promote carbon neutral policies for consideration by Council; 

k) Continue to work with partners across the district, county and wide region to deliver widespread 

carbon reductions and to attempt to encourage public support for the aims of the Climate 

Emergency. 

l) Set up a £50K fund from general fund balance to provide grants to support local organisations to 

improve their carbon footprint, the criteria to be established by the Climatic Change Group to be 

recommended to Cabinet for approval” 

Page 165



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
 
 
 
 
 
The Rt Hon Robert Jenrick MP 
Secretary of State for MHCLG 
2 Marsham Street 
Westminster  
London  SW1P 4DF 
 
 
Dear Secretary of State 
 
Climate change is an incredibly important issue for all of us in this country and something I know as a 
government you take extremely seriously. 
 
Like other local authorities across the country, at our Extraordinary Council meeting in June of this 
year, a motion was passed unanimously cross party to declare a climate emergency and develop an 
action plan to reduce carbon emissions with a target for net zero carbon emissions by 2030.  We also 
included a ring fenced grant pot to support local organisations to improve their carbon footprint. 
 
Another part of the motion also specifically asked that I, as the Leader of the Council, write to you 
requesting that you look to provide the necessary powers and resources to make local action on 
climate change easier. 
 
We are committed to achieving the ambition of our motion, for the good of our communities now and 
in the future and will work with partners in the area and the region to deliver widespread carbon 
reductions.  However, we do believe we need the government’s support. With the timing of the recently 
announced one year spending review, we hope that this may be considered now, as well as over the 
medium term, so that  we can all work together to tackle the climate change for our communities. 
 
I look forward to hearing from you. 
 
Most respectfully   
 

 
Cllr Tony Kingsbury  
Leader of the Council 
 
CC: Grant Shapps MP 
 

Councillor Tony Kingsbury 
 

Leader of the Council  
Welwyn West Ward 

 

19 August 2019 
Telephone: 07540 608844 

Email: tony.kingsbury@welhat.gov.uk 
 

Page 167

mailto:tony.kingsbury@welhat.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

Appendix C 

 

 

 

 

Draft terms of reference for Climate Change Sub-group 

To receive information to assist members understand the effects of climate change 
and council’s role in adaption to and mitigation from those effects  

To review and update the council’s climate change policy  

To produce an action plan with the aim of reducing the council’s carbon emissions, 
with a target for net-zero carbon emissions by 2030   

To set and recommend to cabinet the criteria for grants to be awarded to local 
organisations to improve their carbon footprint   

To regularly report to EOSC and Council on progress, including a report to Council in 
Autumn 2019   

 

 

 

Page 169



This page is intentionally left blank



Part I 
Main author: Rob Bridge and Nick Long 
Leader: Cllr Tony Kingsbury 
All Wards 

 

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
COUNCIL 6 MAY 2020 
REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

WELWYN HATFIELD COUNCIL RESPONSE TO COVID-19 PANDEMIC 

1 Executive Summary 

1.1 This report provides Council with an update on the activities undertaken in 
response to the Covid-19 pandemic. This serious situation is continuously 
evolving and as such this report is a snapshot in time. The council is a Category 
1 responder for the purposes of the Civil Contingencies Act meaning the council 
has a duty to work with partners to plan for and recover from emergencies, and 
also to keep critical services going. Full Council will note from the report that in 
response to this emergency all services and teams, and both officers and 
members, have pulled together to provide a true #OneTeam response to this 
unprecedented situation.  

2 Recommendation(s) 

2.1 That members note the content of the report, the impacts of the pandemic on 
the council’s operations and the work undertaken to date.  

3 Explanation 

3.1 The Covid-19 pandemic is an international health emergency and has seen an 
unprecedented global response. In the UK, a Level 4 Health Emergency has 
been declared, and within Hertfordshire major incident response plans have 
been triggered. This has resulted in councillors and officers rapidly reprioritising 
workloads and activities in order to respond to this emergency. A significant 
amount of work has been undertaken by officers, including critical front line 
staff, to continue and adapt service delivery in response to emerging national 
guidance. Alongside this, officers have prioritised work to ensure the most 
vulnerable in our communities are supported, and that residents and 
businesses are able to access the help available to them.  

3.2 As the borough’s elected representatives, councillors have also been essential 
in ensuring the council is able to continue to deliver its critical services and to 
support multi-agency partners and the community. The council continues to 
operate during this emergency period and key decisions continue to be made 
by councillors, including under the emergency decision-making provisions 
contained within the Constitution. 

3.3 The Leader meets weekly with other Hertfordshire Leaders to share information 
and help coordinate work across the county. The Leader is also one of four 
Hertfordshire Leaders who are part of the Community Reassurance Cell which 
aims to provide leadership and reassurance in the coming months.  

Page 171

Agenda Item 8



3.4 Cabinet members are meeting regularly, sharing information and addressing 
issues as they arise, and they are in ongoing contact with senior officers to 
ensure a coordinated and timely response is being made by the council. 

3.5 The Covid-19 pandemic has impacted on all council services, and the borough’s 
communities and businesses. The sections below highlight effects on Our 
Priorities and Objectives.  

 

3.6 Our Community 

3.6.1 Safe Communities  

Officers are representing the council on various Hertfordshire wide Covid-19 
related groups which feed back into the wider Local Resilience Forum 
structures. This goes all the way up to the Hertfordshire Strategic Coordinating 
Group (SCG) of which the Chief Executive and Corporate Director (Public 
Protection, Planning and Governance) are members. Various teams have daily 
liaison with the police and other key partners around any particular issues of 
concern. 

We are carrying out community reassurance and issuing reminders that key 
services such as domestic abuse services, hate crime, Herts Help support are 
available – both on and offline. The Community Safety Partnership continues 
to safeguard our vulnerable young people through Positive Pathways and SOS. 

The Risk & Resilience Manager and Health & Safety Officer have assisted and 
supported all teams across the Council; dealing with many different scenarios 
to ensure they can operate and deliver the services they need to in a safe 
manner.  

Hertfordshire Building Control are currently providing a full service to the 
council, residents, professional agents and builders: prioritising dangerous 
structures incidents and maintain the out-of-hours service. 

Planning Enforcement officers are continuing to log and investigate breaches 
wherever possible, issuing enforcement notices where relevant. Officers are not 
visiting all complaint sites, but will do site visits in cases where it sounds 
dangerous or especially harmful. 

Safeguarding issues and referrals are being co-ordinated remotely. 

The council understands this is a difficult time for many people and there is a 
dedicated section on our website providing information on support for people 
struggling to pay council tax/other bills at:  
www.welhat.gov.uk/coronavirus/financial-help  

The Council Tax team is also working with our software supplier to administer 
the Council Tax Hardship Fund, where up to £150 will be paid to the working 

Page 172

http://www.welhat.gov.uk/coronavirus/financial-help


age council tax support claimants’ council tax account. This is set to benefit 
over 3,800 people 

3.6.2 Public Health 

Work has been reprioritised to ensure delivery of the business-critical services. 
Much of the regular statutory work, such as the licensing functions, health and 
safety duties as an employer and food safety interventions remain in place and 
are required to be delivered by the council. General complaints are still being 
received, some of which require urgent responses and we are providing a 
response to health and safety enforcement interventions on a risk based 
response. Over the past few weeks, there has been an increase in the number 
of requests for service in respect of nuisance issues, such as loud music and 
bonfires. Due to the social distancing requirements it is not possible for the team 
to deliver the out of hours’ noise service (“Operation Reprise”) and unfortunately 
this has been suspended during the outbreak.  

Environmental Health officers are now authorised officers under The Health 
Protection (Coronavirus, Business Closure) (England) Regulations 2020 and 
are working to ensure that all requirements of the legislation are complied with. 
Complaints continue to be received from members of the public, Councillors 
and employees who are working in businesses that have remained open and 
are concerned about issues such as social distancing requirements and PPE. 
The officers undertake the most appropriate action depending on what 
circumstances are found during their investigation. A daily reporting of 
intervention amongst our businesses is required by the Office for Product Safety 
and Standards.  

The Food Standards Agency have asked us to suspend routine inspection of 
food businesses, but urgent reactive work to address potentially serious public 
health risk relating to food is still being undertaken. This includes following up 
on food incidents, investigating outbreaks and exploring any intelligence of 
change in food business activities that suggest a potential public health or 
animal health risk. Proactive checks are still required of food businesses with 
Food Hygiene Ratings of 0, 1 or 2 to verify if they are continuing to trade and 
have started to operate delivery services or have introduced new processes to 
enable them to diversify their menu, such as introducing ready to eat 
meals/food, or are supplying vulnerable groups.  

SDK, the council’s pest control contractor, is still operating as full a service as 
possible and are still providing the treatment for many pests.  

We are reviewing current guidance on Public Health Burials as well as looking 
at increasing burial space: this includes the removal of columbarium columns 
at the Lawn Cemetery. 

3.6.3 Sport & Leisure 

On 20 March 2020, the Prime Minister announced that all leisure facilities must 
be closed and as a result, GLL (‘Better’) has closed all of their sport and leisure 
sites in the borough with the exception of public access to the four parks and 
playing fields they manage for the council.  

Based on government advice, all play areas and skate parks also had to be 
closed. Signage at play areas has been erected and where possible gates 
padlocked. Regular social media messages urge people not to use these 
facilities, particularly when fair weather is forecast. 

Page 173



The Splashlands project is moving at pace and the contractors are working on 
site, wearing the appropriate personal protective equipment and following social 
distancing guidelines. 

We have produced frequently asked questions for local sports clubs and 
art/culture groups to support them with any queries they may have around 
funding and their future etc. We are engaging with the community over social 
media about ways they can get active at home and stay healthy/exercise.  

Continuing our work with secondary and primary schools and partners we are 
delivering sessions in person or virtually; collating resources for schools to 
share with students. 

The Youth Council is meeting virtually and is working with partners to get key 
messages to young people over the coming weeks, especially during Easter 
holidays when young people are not expected to be home schooled. The next 
online edition of the Heads Up magazine is planned for early April.  

3.6.4 Art & Culture 

All services at Campus West, Mill Green and the Roman Baths closed to the 
public on 18 March 2020. Staff remained on site completing a number of duties 
until the government updated the essential worker/stay at home advice on 23 
March 2020. Some staff have now been redeployed into other suitable roles as 
needed. Managers are going in to the building on rotation to check on all kit and 
equipment, utility supplies, security of the premises, etc. Preparations have 
been made for the use of Roller City under Operation Sustain. 

We have recommenced our milling operations at Mill Green; with flour available 
for pre-order from 21 April 2020. Customer collection is being managed 
carefully to ensure appropriate social distancing measures are in place. 

3.7 Our Environment 

3.7.1 Clean streets, Waste & Recycling 

The availability of refuse crews was a major challenge to our contractors 
throughout March and April. The high level of staff absence due to sickness or 
self-isolation meant that additional agency workers had to be recruited to work 
on our contract. This was further compounded by the fact the overall tonnage 
of waste and recycling collected from kerbside has increased since the 
lockdown as more people are staying at home. Extra collection rounds had to 
be deployed even though the resources for doing the normal rounds were 
already limited. It is important to note that all refuse, recycling and clinical waste 
collections were sustained throughout this period. Unfortunately, the council 
had to make the difficult decision to suspend garden waste collections for a 
temporary period in order to prioritise our most critical collection service. The 
service will be restarting from 6 May 2020. Based on a waste survey completed 
by over 200 local authorities nationally, about 38% had suspended garden 
waste service by end of March 2020. 

It should also be noted that the new streetscene, waste and recycling contract 
with Urbaser started on 28 March 2020, taking over from Serco. The 
mobilisation of waste, recycling and cleansing is a major undertaking in normal 
times which is, to say the least, made more exacting with the lock down. The 
change-over has gone remarkably well and demonstrates the efforts and 
preparations that all parties have made during the 12 month mobilisation period.  

  

Page 174



3.7.2 Green Spaces 

Continental Landscape Ltd also started the grounds maintenance contract on 
28 March 2020. The Grounds Maintenance crews were initially redeployed to 
support the refuse collection service. The grounds maintenance service has 
since resumed. 

Our tree contractors have been stood down for day-to-day assessments, but 
carry out visits and work where a tree appears to be dangerous. We have 
permanently locked the gates to Northaw Great Wood car park at the request 
of the police. Other woods and open spaces remain open, as well as allotments, 
with plot holders expected to observe social distancing rules. 

3.7.3 Parking 

The council has followed the government guidance to offer free car parking to 
all NHS workers and social care staff during the Covid-19 pandemic since 25 
March 2020. Given that we are not able to easily identify which cars belong to 
key workers (and that a number of NHS workers have contacted the council to 
voice concerns about leaving any form of ID on the dashboard), we suspended 
parking charges in all of our car parks from 31 March 2020. 

Recognising that the instruction to stay at home means more people need to 
park where there are resident permit schemes in place we made a decision not 
to enforce resident permit/voucher schemes and single yellow lines until further 
notice. Parking enforcement is focussing on safety concerns such as 
dangerous parking on double yellow lines or blocking paths where restrictions 
are in place. 

3.8 Our Housing 

3.8.1 Quality Landlord 

We are continuing to contact vulnerable tenants to ensure they have the 
necessary support provision in place to sustain their tenancy; officers are 
providing telephone support as appropriate. 

Case management is ongoing for all anti-social behaviour case types with 
officers largely working from home. High level cases are managed on a risk 
based approach, only carrying out visits or driving by for the most extreme 
cases. Where appropriate, we are referring residents to report through 101. The 
team are working with the police and other council teams to tackle ongoing 
social/public gatherings in communal areas/gardens.  

Rent collection, arrears management and leaseholder services continue and 
we are actively supporting tenants who are having trouble paying their rent due 
to the current crisis. 

New lettings continue where there is urgent housing need, including for moving 
households in temporary accommodation.  

Right to buy applications are still being processed, but the service has been 
amended to remove face to face interaction.  

Sheltered scheme management staff are working from home except for 
carrying out fire alarm testing and health and safety checks. 

The out of hours control centre is fully operational and responding where 
community alarms are activated, arranging emergency repairs and other 
emergency council services out of hours. 

The Community Bus and Shop Mobility services have been suspended. 

Page 175



3.8.2 Housing Need 

The Jim McDonald centre is being used as a temporary homeless shelter run 
by Resolve to provide safe and suitable space for those who are homeless and 
need to self-isolate.  

Approaches to the homeless team have increased by 25% and, at the same 
time, have responded to the directive from government to ‘bring everyone in’, 
which has seen many people who were previously sofa surfing or at risk of 
rough sleeping provided with hotel accommodation. Block bookings at several 
hotels have been made to cope with the increased demand across the service 
and the council is delivering food packages to these families. 

We are continuing to decant Inspira House and are bringing Burfield Close 
(former sheltered scheme) into use as temporary accommodation. The plans to 
decant tenants from Queensway House has largely been paused. 

Allocations for all housing are being prioritised to homeless households and 
those in the highest need (Band A). 

3.8.3 Affordable Homes 

We continue working behind the scenes to progress new housing 
developments. This includes bringing forward planning applications and open 
market purchases. 

3.8.4 Housing Quality 

Private Sector Housing routine inspections are paused, but the team are 
available for any emergency or urgent calls and prosecution cases are ongoing.  

Disabled Facilities Grant work has mainly been suspended, although each case 
has been assessed on its particular circumstances. 

Mears are keeping the responsive repairs service going despite only having 
50% staff. Empty homes are having works carried out where needed, for urgent 
re-housing cases. Planned and major work (i.e. kitchens/bathrooms/roofs) are 
currently on hold. 

Programmed installation of new gas heating systems are on hold, unless to 
replace a faulty system. Annual gas safety checks are continuing and only four 
cases are currently overdue. This may change going forward as there is 
sometimes difficulty in gaining access due to self-isolation and this is also 
dependent on workforce availability linked to sickness/self-isolation.  

3.9 Our Economy 

3.9.1 Sustainable Growth 

The Inspector has cancelled the Local Plan hearing sessions scheduled for May 
2020, but policy officers are still gathering evidence and submitting statements. 
The inspector has asked for new dates to be scheduled for July 2020. These 
are intended to debate village sites in the submitted plan and any other village 
sites that might be selected for submission based on officer advice and 
responses to the current consultation document. Full Council will wish to note 
that the deadline for public consultation has been extended to 1 May 2020. 

The Housing Development team continue to work on their projects, including 
progressing with schemes due to be submitted to Planning.  

Construction at Chequersfield, a site of 30 flats, has been suspended. The 
plans for a start on site at Minster House have been delayed, although work 
continues on matters such as design work. 

Page 176



3.9.2 Investment & Regeneration 

Planning officers are no longer carrying out site visits due to social distancing. 
They are continuing to determine applications, using photos where possible, 
however being cautious where they can’t make a full and proper judgement. In 
such cases officers will seek an extension of time with the applicant/agent. 
Planning has a 6-8 week time-lag, so at the moment officers are determining 
items that were submitted earlier in the year. Over time it will become hard to 
determine newer items, but that will probably be matched by a reduction in 
planning applications being submitted. Anything that has been called-in for 
Development Management Committee will be dealt with via virtual meetings in 
accordance with the new regulations.  

None of the Hatfield Town Centre Regeneration schemes have been impacted 
by the lockdown and design team meetings are continuing to take place to 
continue to move the projects at pace as these would act as catalyst to stimulate 
economic recovery once lockdown measures are lifted.  

The work on the Welwyn Garden City Town Centre North development is also 
ongoing and it is expected that a meeting will be arranged with the Cross Party 
Project Board once the lockdown measures are lifted or, if they continue, a 
virtual meeting will be organised. 

3.9.3 Neighbourhood and Town Centres 

Economic Development officers continue to liaise with businesses, retailers, 
district colleagues, WGC BID, town centre managers and others to signpost 
available help, offer support and gather information.  

Our Business Matters website provides a wealth of information for businesses 
of all sizes to access help and support, including guidance on Government 
loans and funding, who is eligible and how to secure them. The team send out 
regular newsletters to businesses and are working with county colleagues to 
carry out a business survey.  

Officers are in regular contact with business support bodies to understand how 
businesses are coping and what issues are affecting them. The Head of 
Planning is part of the county’s Economic Resilience Cell (reporting into the 
Recovery Coordination Group) which is looking at both immediate and longer-
term actions to help businesses and high streets. This cell will be looking at the 
LEP Local Industrial Strategy, Herts Growth Board growth proposition to 
Government and other tools such as local plan policies, development sites, 
strategies for employment areas, town centre management and funding 
streams to assist economic recovery. 

3.9.4 Business Friendly 

The Hackney Carriage team continue to operate as many taxi drivers are 
classed as essential workers because they are transporting key workers to and 
from their workplaces. The team are responding to complaints and liaising with 
other agencies to ensure the safety of the vehicles, drivers and the general 
public, including key workers who rely upon taxis for transport. 

The Licensing team are aware of the current difficulties faced by many 
businesses and as such are taking a pragmatic and flexible approach, while 
ensuring the licensing objectives are safeguarded. The majority of licenced 
premises are now closed but annual licence renewals still need to be dealt with 
in the statutory time frame. Animal welfare issues require urgent responses and 
we receive regular updates from the RSPCA to assist us in deciding on the 

Page 177

https://www.inwelwynhatfieldbusinessmatters.org.uk/


most appropriate course of action. In the event that premises are found to be 
breaching licensing conditions, arrangements will be put in place to hold 
hearings of the licensing committee using remote access technology. 

The Business Rates team have been working to tight deadlines to apply 
business rates relief to ratepayer accounts. The council has successfully 
administered over £17m in rate relief for local businesses, including a 12-month 
business rate holiday for all retail, hospitality and leisure businesses and a £5k 
business rates discount for pubs with a rateable value below £100,000.  

Since funding was received from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and 
Local Government (MHCLG) on 1 April 2020 for Business Grants to small 
businesses, retail, hospitality and the leisure sector, the business rates team 
has been working hard to identify the eligible businesses from our system. As 
some of the qualifying businesses may not pay business rates due to full relief 
granted, it was necessary to obtain bank account details from these businesses 
and the design of an online form has allowed us to capture these. As of 27 April 
2020, we have issued £11.6m in grants to 846 businesses – equivalent to 76% 
of eligible businesses.  

Officers from different teams are working together and with other partners to 
get key messages and signposting information to businesses. We are 
continuing to support businesses with any questions they have and actively 
posting on social media the essential businesses that remain open.  

3.10 Our Council 

3.10.1 During this time of crisis, the democratic process is still being maintained and 
decisions are being made by officers and members with residents’ interests at 
heart.  

3.10.2 The Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of 
Local Authority and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) 
Regulations 2020 enable councils to hold remote committee meetings during 
the Covid-19 pandemic period. This is to ensure local authorities can conduct 
business during this current public health emergency. The Regulations are 
effective between 4 April 2020 and 7 May 2021.  

3.10.3 We successfully held our first virtual Cabinet on Tuesday 7 April 2020, three 
days after the new regulations came into force. The meeting was webcast to 
ensure accessibility by the public and press and went smoothly. As we were 
one of the first councils to hold a remote meeting, we were contacted by the 
East of England Local Government Association (EELGA) to be a case study on 
how we did it. The case study has now been published and has received a great 
deal of national interest, enhancing the profile of Welwyn Hatfield. Following 
this, a meeting of the Development Management Committee was held which 
also went well. 

3.10.4 The report Council is considering tonight on proposed changes to the council’s 
Constitution are requesting the adoption of additional standing orders for 
remote meetings. 

3.10.5 The Elections team are implementing a new software update, so the 
postponement of the elections has allowed the team to progress this update in 
a less time pressured manner. 

3.10.6 Value for Money 

We are carefully tracking the financial impacts of Covid-19 for the Council. 
Further information is in section 5 of this report. 

Page 178



3.10.7 Equality & Fairness 

We are providing information and working with partners as set out in the section 
in section 14 of this report.  

3.10.8 Customer First 

Reception has been closed since the start of the lockdown, but the contact 
centre is still operating and responding to email and phone queries. 

The 24 hour control centre service provision has been reviewed. A rationalised 
rota has been implemented to build capacity in case of staff shortages. This 
ensures the team is best placed to be able to continue to deliver emergency 
lifeline and other council services. 

The corporate communications team has focussed on three priorities in its 
response to the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic: 
 

 Sharing and amplifying public health and other messages from the 
government. 

 Updating residents and businesses on service delivery, and the 
support available to them 

 Maintaining an effective flow of internal communication to staff and 
members 

There has been a significant amount of proactive communication activity across 
all available channels to ensure that staff, members,  residents and businesses 
are informed of any changes to our services in light of updated government 
guidance. 

A multi-channel communications campaign is being delivered to highlight the 
support available and encourage people to ask for help if they need it, either for 
themselves or for someone else. The supporting video has been highlighted by 
the Local Government Association as an example of best practice in resident 
communications, and they have expressed an interest in using the wider 
campaign as a case study. 

3.10.9 Employer of Choice 

As soon as the lockdown measures were announced on the evening of 23 
March 2020, the council had to react quickly to start deploying staff to work from 
home wherever possible. The council had already put arrangements in place to 
ensure that staff could access their email accounts remotely. Additional staff 
were issued with laptops, and changes were made to the IT infrastructure to 
sustain over 300 staff that had to log in remotely. Microsoft Teams software has 
been rolled out to over 250 staff. This enables improved communication within 
teams as well as giving staff the ability to attend and host external virtual 
meetings.  

The Risk & Resilience team have facilitated the immediate revision of risk 
assessments across the council, providing support and guidance to staff and 
managers as required. As a responsible employer we have ensured managers 
have been given advice and guidance to assist their teams in adapting to new 
ways of working and we have shared information with the entire workforce on 
a daily basis to make sure key messages are disseminated to all staff.  

  

Page 179



4 Legal Implication(s) 

4.1 The council is a Category 1 responder for the purposes of the Civil 
Contingencies Act 2004 meaning the council has a duty to work with partners 
to plan for and recover from emergencies, and also to keep critical services 
going. 

4.2 The Coronavirus Act 2020 (the Act) was made on 25 March 2020 to make 
statutory provision in respect of coronavirus and connected purposes. The Act 
confers a range of new powers to enable public authorities and other 
organisations to respond to issues associated with the pandemic.  

4.3 The council is finding ways to ensure it can continue to meet its legal obligations 
and duties balanced against the requirement to work in different ways during 
the pandemic emergency period - as can be seen in the commentary for each 
service area. 

4.4 In response to the pandemic, there have been many changes in legislation over 
a short period of time and relevant council teams have put in place systems and 
processes to respond to these. The council, for example is responsible for the 
enforcement of the business closure regulations and also retains powers under 
existing health protection legislation to support the response. Meetings have 
taken place across the county with relevant colleagues to ensure consistency 
of approach and proportionate application of this legislation  

4.5 It should also be noted that under these new regulations, there will be no 
requirement for councils to hold an Annual Council Meeting during this period 
and all current councillor appointments will therefore continue until the next 
annual meeting, unless the council chooses to change these.  

4.6 All local government elections have been postponed until the ordinary day for 
election in 2021. A councillor who would ordinarily retire on the fourth day after 
the ordinary day of election in 2020, will instead retire on the fourth day after 
the ordinary day of election in 2021 and that councillor's term of office is 
extended accordingly. Councillors will be elected in May 2021 for a three year 
term. 

5 Financial Implication(s) 

5.1 On 19 March 2020, £1.6bn emergency funding was announced by the 
government to help local authorities respond to the Covid-19 pandemic. 
Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council only received £51k, which is nowhere enough 
to sustain the financial pressures faced by the council.  

5.2 Since then, we have been working with Society of District Treasurers and in 
particular we have provided evidence where we are facing a significant drop in 
income but the cost base has not experienced the same level of reduction. 
There is an LGA campaign asking government to provide more funding for the 
local government sector. The Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and 
Local Government announced on 18 April 2020 a further £1.6bn package for 
local government sector; the council’s share of the funding is £1.23m. 

5.3 It is estimated that the financial impact of Covid-19 to the council is in the region 
of £7m. The council is suffering from loss of income from car parking, Campus 
West, and other fees and charges. At the same time, we are faced with 
additional costs from ensuring key services, including homelessness 

Page 180



prevention, are maintained. Our leisure provider has also approached the 
council for financial assistance as they indicated that without their local 
government clients’ support, their cash reserves will be fully depleted in May. 
The funding will not be enough to offset the full impact of our budget pressures 
and we will continue to make our case and contribute to the lobbying of Society 
of District Treasurers.  

5.4 A briefing note was circulated to Group Leaders and Group Finance Lead 
members detailing the financial pressures that the council is facing and the 
Cross Party Finance meetings are taking place regularly to keep all political 
groups informed about the council’s financial position. 

6 Risk Management Implications 

6.1 A strategic risk is now in place covering the impacts of Covid-19. This is 
assessed as highly likely to have major impacts, including finance and local 
economy, community wellbeing and effects on services, staff and corporate 
projects, and hence the achievement of some corporate objectives. Managers 
are also addressing Covid-19 impacts within their operational risk registers. 
Moving forward there are opportunities to integrate some of the changes to 
working methods into the wider modernisation and transformation agenda the 
council has in place. 

7 Security and Terrorism Implication(s) 

7.1 There are no direct implications.  

8 Procurement Implication(s) 

8.1 Supplier support has been introduced in accordance with Cabinet Office 
guidelines which includes revising some contracts to an open book basis. 

8.2 We are now paying suppliers on immediate term to help their cash flow. 

8.3 We are also working with construction partners to agree extension of times and 
delay of some projects. 

8.4 Specialist PPE is being sourced. 

8.5 Emergency changes have been made to our Contract Procedure Rules to 
enable contracts to be completed without staff having to be in the office 

9 Climate Change Implication(s) 

9.1 The social distancing requirements of the response to the pandemic have 
resulted in the majority of our staff working remotely, as well as the reduction in 
front line contact with our residents. This has resulted in fewer vehicles being 
used for work related tasks and a subsequent drop in work-related vehicle 
emissions. 

9.2 Whilst it could be argued that the reduction in staff attending the offices has led 
to a reduction in energy use at the offices, we must also bear in mind the 
potential increase in usage in homes.  

9.3 Work is underway to record carbon savings arising from the pandemic response 
in order to feed in to and influence our Climate Change Strategy. 

Page 181



10 Human Resources Implication(s) 

10.1 The majority of employees have been able to continue working throughout the 
emergency. Where some services have closed we have tried to redeploy staff 
to other critical services. A few employees have had to self-isolate during the 
last few weeks, either through age or illness. 

10.2 The council is considering, where appropriate, to furlough staff in line with the 
government’s guidelines.  

11 Health and Wellbeing Implication(s) 

11.1 Home working may have positive benefits, but we are also aware of the 
negative issues that can result from remote working such as being away from 
colleagues, adopting a different routine and the feeling of isolation.  

11.2 The challenge to many of the teams is one of communication and ensuring that 
all staff members are able to communicate regularly in meaningful ways. 

11.3 For many of the service areas, critical frontline services are still being delivered 
to our communities. For others, new responsibilities have been introduced as 
part of the National Coronavirus Plan. It is essential that we continue to fulfill 
our duty of care in respect of our employees, contractors and members of the 
public and as such new risk assessments, new control measures and new 
systems of work have been implemented. 

12 Communication and Engagement Implication(s) 

12.1 The corporate communications team are coordinating all Covid-19 
communication activity across the council. They are also linked in to a multi-
agency communications cell which feeds into the Strategic Coordinating Group 
(and its associated groups and cells) to ensure countywide consistency of 
messaging. Regular updates are published on the council website and social 
media, reinforcing public health messages and providing service updates, and 
press releases have been issued regarding major service changes. The current 
communications campaign, including leaflets to every home in the borough and 
a video (which features officers and councillors) is directing residents to the 
support available.  

13 Link to Corporate Priorities 

13.1 The subject of this report is linked to all the council’s priorities 

14 Equality and Diversity 

14.1 As set out in the report, critical services and provision for vulnerable people are 
in operation and information on how to access help is widely available, in a 
range of media, at borough, county and national level. 

14.2 On the basis that the changes to other ‘business as usual’ operations are 
currently temporary and in response to a national public health emergency, 
Equality Impact Assessments have not been completed for each of these 
changes made. Where future government regulations require changes to be 
more long term, this approach will be re-considered.  

Page 182



 
 

Rob Bridge, Chief Executive 
 

Nick Long, Corporate Director, Public Protection, Planning and Governance  
 

Ka Ng, Corporate Director, Resources, Environment and Cultural Services 
 

Simone Chinman Russell, Corporate Director, Housing and Communities 
 

April 2020  

Page 183



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4a Food Safety Service Plan 2020/21
	4b Health and Safety Service Plan 2020/21
	4b1 - HSE statement-commitment-local-authority-and-hse

	5a Health and Wellbeing Strategy
	5a1 - Health and Wellbeing Strategy for Welwyn Hatfield Borough
	5a2 - HWB Action Plan 2020 Appendix 2

	6 REVIEW OF THE COUNCIL'S CONSTITUTION
	6.1 - FINAL CRG Minutes 5 March 2020
	6.2 - Cabinet Functions
	6.3 - Cabinet Procedure Rules
	6.4 -Code of Conduct
	6.4a Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council  Social Media Draft Protocol 25th of October 2019
	6.5 - Executive Member Decision Notice
	6.6 CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULESCoronavirus- clean
	6.6a Contract Procedure Rules - schedule of changes - April 2020
	6.7 - Access to Information Proceudre Rules
	6.8.1 - Resources, Environment & Culture
	6.8.2 - Public Protection, Planning and Governance
	6.8.3 - Housing and Communities
	6.9 - ConstitutionAmendments
	6.10 - CALL-IN ARRANGEMENTS
	6.11 Appointments to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee
	6.12 Amended timetable of council meetings for Municipal Year 202021
	6.13 Virtual Council Meeting Procedure Rules 23.4.2020

	7 CLIMATE CHANGE UPDATE
	7a - Appendix A - motion
	7b - Appendix B - Letter to SoS
	7c - Appendix C CC Sub group TOR

	8 WELWYN HATFIELD COUNCIL RESPONSE TO COVID-19 PANDEMIC

